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CERTAIN DEFINITIONS

All references in this Annual Report on Form 10ekthe “Company,” “Commercial Vehicle Group,” “CVG;ive,” “us,” and “our” refel
to Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. and its consdhdasubsidiaries (unless the context otherwiseiresju

FORWARD-LOOKING INFORMATION

This Annual Report on Form 10-K contains forwdmdking statements within the meaning of Sectiok 21 the Securities Exchange ,
of 1934, as amended. For this purpose, any statsncentained herein that are not statements obrigsd fact, including without limitatiol
certain statements under “ltem 1 — Business” amehnil7 — Managemers’Discussion and Analysis of Financial Conditiol &esults ¢
Operations”and located elsewhere herein regarding industryoakit financial covenant compliance, anticipatedeet of acquisition
production of new products, plans for capital expiemes and our results of operations or finang@ition and liquidity, may be deemed tc
forward-looking statements. Without limiting therégoing, the words “believes,” “anticipates,” “pfah“expects,”and similar expressions i
intended to identify forward-looking statementseTimportant factors discussed in “Iltem 1A — Riskteas,”among others, could cause ac
results to differ materially from those indicateg forwardiooking statements made herein and presented edsevily management from tii
to time. Such forward-looking statements represeammagemens current expectations and are inherently uncertairestors are warned tl
actual results may differ from managemsrgXpectations. Additionally, various economic andpetitive factors could cause actual resul
differ materially from those discussed in such farddooking statements, including, but not limited tactors which are outside our cont
such as risks relating to (i) general economic wsitess conditions affecting the markets in which serve; (ii) our ability to develop
successfully introduce new products; (iii) riskss@sated with conducting business in foreign cdestrand currencies; (iv) increa:
competition in the heavy-duty truck, constructionmediumeduty agriculture market; (v) our failure to comgledr successfully integre
additional strategic acquisitions; (vi) the impaétchanges in governmental regulations on our custe or on our business; (vii) the los:
business from a major customer or the discontionaif particular commercial vehicle platforms; {vour ability to obtain future financing d
to changes in the lending markets or our finang@dition and (ix) our ability to comply with thenfincial covenants in our revolving cre
facility. All subsequent written and oral forwalabking statements attributable to us or persotia@on our behalf are expressly qualifies
their entirety by such cautionary statements.
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PART |

Item 1. Business
C omMPANY O VERVIEW

Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. is a Delaware (USAyporation. We were formed as a privathgld company in August 2000. \
became a publicly held company in 2004. The Comgany its subsidiaries) is a leading supplier édfilarange of cab related products
systems for the global commercial vehicle market/uding the medium-and heavy-duty truck (“MD/HDUEK”) market, the mediuranc
heavy-construction vehicle market, and the militaoys, agriculture, specialty transportation, monitndustrial equipment and ofac
recreational markets.

The Company has manufacturing operations in theedrstates, Mexico, United Kingdom, Czech Repulblikraine, China, India ai
Australia. Our products are primarily sold in NoAmerica, Europe, and the Asia/Pacific region.

Our products include seats and seating systemat§ggetrim systems and components (“Trim&ab structures, sleeper boxes, t
panels and structural components; mirrors, wip&ig @ontrols; and electronic wire harness and passkémblies specifically designed
applications in commercial vehicles.

We are differentiated from automotive industry digyp by our ability to manufacture low volume, tarmized products on a sequen
basis to meet the requirements of our customersb&lleve our products are used by a majority of Meeth American MD/HD Truck ar
certain leading global construction and agricultarginal equipment manufacturers (“OEMsWhich we believe creates an opportunit
cross-sell our products.

Our Long-Term Strategy

In September 2014, we concluded our léagn strategic planning process known as CVG 2@0G 2020 is a roadmap by prodt
geographic region, and end market to guide resoalfoeation and other decision making to achieve 2020 goals. The overarching goa
CVG 2020 is to deliver top quartile total shareleoldeturn. To that end, we evaluated our opporusitgrow organically by end market.
currently believe we have approximately 5% markedrs of the addressable global truck, bus, cort8tru@nd agriculture end marke
Accordingly, we believe we have significant oppoity to grow organically in our end markets. We leaéed our product portfolio in t
context of this organic market growth opportunibdaur ability to win in the marketplace. Our cpreducts are seats, trim and wire harne
and our complementary products include structusgsers, mirrors and office seats. We expect toizeaome geographic diversification @
the planned period toward the Adtacific region. We also expect to realize some mevadtket diversification more weighted toward
agriculture market, and to a lesser extent thetoactson market. We intend to allocate resourcessistent with our strategic plan; and r
specifically, consistent with our core and complatagy product portfolio, geographic region and endrket diversification objectives. .
such, we expect to increase our capital spendingeasivest in our facilities, sales opportunitieperational excellence initiatives and o
activities.

Although our longterm strategic plan is an organic growth plan, vt @ensider opportunistic acquisitions to supplerneur produc
portfolio, and to enhance our ability to serve ocustomers in our geographic end markets.

S EGMENTS

The Company’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODM our President and Chief Executive Officertie fourth quarter of 2014,
management established two reportable segment&lthal Truck and Bus Segment (“GTB Segment”) dredGlobal Construction and
Agriculture Segment (“GCA Segment”). This is colsig with
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how the CODM manages the business. Each of thgseestts consists of a humber of manufacturing tasli Generally, the facilities in the
GTB Segment manufacture and sell seats and sestitgms (“Seats”), trim systems and componentEngjpnirrors, structures and other
products into the MD / HD Truck and bus marketsn&ally, the facilities in the GCA Segment manufiaetand sell wire harnesses, Seats an
other products into the construction and agriceltmarkets. Both segments participate in the aftde@daCertain of our manufacturing faciliti
manufacture and sell products through both of egments. Each manufacturing facility that selldpiads through both segments is reflected
in the financial results of the segment that hasgiteatest amount of sales from that manufactdaaitjty. Our segments are more specifically
described below.

The GTB Segment manufactures and sells the follgwioducts:

e Seats; Trim; sleeper boxes; and cab structuresgtstal components and body panels. These produetsold primarily to tf
MD/HD Truck markets in North Americi

e Seats to the truck and bus markets in Asia Paaifet Europe

* Mirrors and wiper systems to the truck, bus, adira, construction, rail, and military marketsNiorth America;
» Trim to the recreational and specialty vehicle neaik North America; an

» Aftermarket seats and components in North Ame

The GCA Segment manufactures and sells the follgywioducts:

» Electronic wire harness assemblies and Seats fustieation, agricultural, industrial, automotivedamining industries in Nor
America, Europe and Asia Pacif

» Aftermarket seats and components in Europe and Pasidfic;
» Office seating in Europe and Asia Paci
e Seats to the truck and bus markets in Asia Paa&iftc Europe; an
*  Wiper systems to the construction and agricultuagket in Europe
See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Finanate®ents under ItemHinancial Statements and Supplementary Dfatafinancia

information restated by segment for each of thedtyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2@l2diimy information on sales and as
by geographic area.

G LoBAL T RUCK AND B USS EGMENT O VERVIEW
Global Truck and Bus Segment Products
Set forth below is a brief description of our prottumanufactured in the GTB Segment and their egiidins:

Seats and Seating Systems We design, engineer and produce Seats for NIDTrucks, and bus applications. For the most man
Seats are fullyassembled and ready for installation when theydatieered to the OEM. We offer a wide range of se¢hht include mechanic
and air suspension seats, static seats, bus sehisilitary seats. As a result of our product desagd product technology, we believe we ¢
leader in designing seats with convenience andre@thsafety features. Our Seats are designed tevach high level of operator comfort
adding a wide range of manual and power featurels as lumbar supports, cushion and back bolstadsleay and thigh supports. Our Seat:
built to meet customer requirements in low voluraed produced in numerous feature combinations o fa fullrange product line with
wide level of price points. We also manufactureftarket seats, and parts and components.

Trim Systems and Components  We design, engineer and produce Trim for MD/RDcks, and recreational and specialty vel
applications. Our Trim is used mostly for interaabs of commercial vehicles as well as exterior poments for commercial recreational
specialty vehicles. Our Trim products are
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designed to provide a comfortable and durable imte@long with a variety of functional and safegafures for the vehicle occupant. The \
variety of features that can be selected makes @&raomplex and highly specialized product categ8st.forth below is a brief description
our principal products in the Trim category:

Trim Products. Our trim products include door panels and oihéerior trim panels. Specific components includayl or cloth-
covered appliqués, armrests, map pocket comparsnantl soundeducing insulation ranging from a traditional euwtd sew approach tc
contemporary molded styling theme.

Instrument Panels. We produce and assemble instrument panelsémabe integrated with the rest of the interiontThe instrumel
panel is a complex system of coverings and foaastigl and metal parts designed to house varioupaoneants and act as a safety device fo
vehicle occupant.

Headliners/Wall Panels. Headliners and wall panels consist of a sabstand a finished interior layer made of fabriosl athe
materials. While headliners and wall panels arémortant contributor to interior aesthetics, tlago provide insulation from road noise
can serve as carriers for a variety of other corept®) such as visors, overhead consoles, grabdwgratlat hooks, electrical wiring, speak
lighting and other electronic and electrical praduc

Storage Systems Our modular storage units and custom cahjre® designed to improve comfort and optimize sgac the operatc
These storage systems are designed to be integvédtethe interior trim.

Floor Covering Systems. We have an extensive and comprehensive piartédl floor covering systems and dash insulatorarp@
flooring systems generally consist of tufted or +vamwven carpet with a thermoplastic backcoating. fdarpeted flooring systems, u
primarily in commercial and fleet vehicles, offerproved wear and maintenance characteristics.

Sleeper Bunks. We offer a wide array of design choices fop@mpand lower sleeper bunks for heavy trucks. Alte of our sleep
bunks can be integrated to match the rest of ttegian trim.

Grab Handles and Armrests Our grab handles and armrests are designddeagineered with specific attention to aesthe
ergonomics and strength.

Privacy Curtains ~ We produce privacy curtains for use in sleeabs.

Plastics Decorating and Finishing We offer customers a wide variety of ceffective finishes in paint, ultra violet, hard tiog anc
customized industrial hydrographic films, paintdasther interior and exterior finishes (simulatggpearance of wood grain, carbon fil
brushed metal, marbles, camouflage and custonrpslte

Cab Structures, Sleeper Boxes, Body Panels and Sttural Components . We design, engineer and produce complete
structures, sleeper boxes, body panels and stalatomponents for MD/HD Trucks. Set forth belowaisrief description of our princif
products in this category:

Cab Structures. We design, manufacture and assemble compddteteuctures. Our cab structures, which are maturied from bot
steel and aluminum, are delivered fully assembteti@imed for paint.

Sleeper Boxes. We design, manufacture and assemble sleepershihat can be part of the overall cab structurestandalon
assemblies depending on the customer application.

Bumper Fascias and Fender Liners. We design and manufacture durable, lightweligimper fascias and fender liners.

3
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Body Panels and Structural Components.We produce a wide range of both steel and ialum large exterior body panels
structural components for use in production of smbctures and sleeper boxes.

Mirrors, Wipers and Controls. We design, engineer and produce a varietyiobns, wipers and controls used in commercial gkesi
Set forth below is a brief description of our pipad products in this category:

Mirrors . We offer a range of round, rectangular, mntat and heated mirrors and related hardware, divedubrackets, braces and ¢
bars. We have introduced both road and outside destyre devices that can be mounted on the cabratesl into the mirror face and
vehicle’s dashboard through our RoadWdtth  familproducts.

Windshield Wiper Systems. We offer application-specific windshield wipgrstems and individual windshield wiper components

Controls.  We offer a range of controls and control syt for window lifts, door locks and electric switgroducts.

Global Truck and Bus Segment Raw Materials and Slipfs
A description of the principal raw materials wdiné in our GTB Segment’s principal product categsiis set forth below:

» Seats and Seating Systems The principal raw materials used in our S@atkide steel, aluminum, resbased products and fo.
related products and are generally readily availapld obtained from multiple suppliers under vaisupply agreements. Leatl
vinyl, fabric and certain components are also pasek from multiple supplier

e Trim Systems and Components The principal raw materials used in our Tanme resin and chemical products, foam, vinyl
fabric which are formed and assembled into endymtsd These raw materials are obtained from meltplppliers

e Cab Structures, Sleeper Boxes, Body Panels andt8tall Components The principal raw materials used in our cahctures
sleeper boxes, body panels and structural compsraatsteel and aluminum, the majority of whichpuechase in sheets. Th
raw materials are generally readily available abimed from several supplie

e Mirrors, Wipers and Controls.  The principal raw materials used to manufactour mirrors, wipers and controls are s
stainless steel and rubber, which are generalldilseavailable and obtained from multiple supplie¥e also purchase sub-
assembled products such as motors for our wipéesygsand mirrors

Global Truck and Bus Segment Customers and Marketin

The following is a summary of the GTB Segmsrsignificant revenues (figures are shown as aegpéage of total GTB Segment rever
by end market based on final destination custormedsmarkets for each of the three years ended Desredi:

2014 2013 2012
Medium and Heavy Duty Truck OEMs 66% 65% 71%
Aftermarket and OE Servic 20 21 19
Bus OEMs 6 6 4
Construction OEM: 2 2 2
Other _ 6 _ 6 _ 4
Total 10C% 10C% 10C%
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Our principal customers include A.B. Volvo, Daimiecks, PACCAR and Navistar, which consist of enbined total of 81%, 80% a
86% of GTB Segment revenue for the years endedeee31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Weebelive are a successful lotegsr
supplier because of our comprehensive productintfer leading brand names and product innovation.

Our European and Asian operations collectively Gbuated approximately 5%, 5% and 2% of the GTB Segt’s revenues for the ye:
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respsactivel

Global Truck and Bus Industry

Commercial Vehicle Supply Market Overview. Commercial vehicles are used in a wide vargtend markets, including local &
long-haul commercial trucking, bus, constructionninmg, agricultural, military, industrial, municihaoff-road recreation and specialty veh
markets. The commercial vehicle supply industry ganerally be separated into two categories: (Es¢a OEMSs, in which products are
in relatively large quantities directly for use ®EMs in new commercial and construction vehiclest @) aftermarket sales, in which prodi
are sold as replacements in varying quantitiesvtide range of original equipment service organdizet, wholesalers, retailers and installer.
the OEM market, suppliers are generally divided itiers — “Tier 1" suppliers (similar to our company) that provide darcts directly t
OEMs, and “Tier 2" and “Tier 3" suppliers, that Ispfoducts principally to other suppliers for intatjon into those suppliergwn produc
offerings.

Our largest end market, the North American comnaércuick industry, is supplied by medium- and heduyy commercial vehic
suppliers, as well as automotive suppliers. Themergial vehicle supplier industry is fragmented @odhprised of several large compa
and many smaller companies. In addition, the coroimkevehicle supplier industry is characterizedrbiatively low production volumes a
can have considerable barriers to entry, includirgfollowing:, (1) specific technical and manufaatg requirements, (2) high transition ct
to shift production to new suppliers, (3) justtime delivery requirements and (4) strong brand exaecognition. Foreign competition
growing with the globalization of the world economy

Although OEM demand for our products is directlyretated with new vehicle production, suppliereliks can grow by increasing s:
through the cross selling and bundling of produftigher penetrating existing customebsisinesses, gaining new customers, expandin
new geographic markets, developing new contentuinpsoducts to meet changing customer needs anddogasing aftermarket sales.
believe that companies with a global presence, ramhdh technology, engineering and manufacturing sumport capabilities, such as
company, are well positioned to take advantagbede opportunities.

The market for our products in Asia Pacific remaghatively flat in the short term, with the exceptiof India as explained below. He:i
duty truck production in China was flat from 20182014, and based on a variety of market sourcebeleve that production will be do
approximately 5% in 2015. In India, 2014 was a lgmgjing year for the truck market, and we beliéhat the Indian heavy duty truck build v
increase moderately in 2015. We also expect magfestth in Indias bus market in 2015. In Europe, we also beliea¢ 2015 heavy truc
production will increase moderately year over year.
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North American Commercial Truck Market.  Purchasers of commercial trucks include flgrtrators, owner operators, governme
agencies and industrial end users. Commercial le=higsed for local and lorgaul commercial trucking are generally classifigd gvos:
vehicle weight. Class 8 vehicles are trucks withsgrvehicle weight in excess of 33,000 Ibs. and<tathrough 7 vehicles are trucks with g
vehicle weight from 16,001 Ibs. to 33,000 Ibs. Thkowing table shows production levels of commataiehicles used for local and lohgu
commercial trucking from 2010 through 2014 in No#timerica:

2010 2011 2012 2013 2014
(Thousands of units)

Class 8 heavy truck 154 25t 27¢ 24t 297
Class -7 light and mediui-duty trucks 11€ 167 18S 15% 22¢
Total 27z 422 A6E 39 52t

Source’ACT N.A. Commercial Vehicle State of the Industan@ary 2015).
The following describes the major markets withia tommercial vehicle market in which the GTB Seghtempetes:

Class 8 Truck Market. The global Class 8 truck manufacturing marlsetoncentrated in three primary regions: North Aozt
Europe and Asia Pacific. The global Class 8 truekket is localized in nature due to the followirgtbrs: (1) the prohibitive costs of shipg
components from one region to another, (2) the Higgree of customization to meet the region-spedéimands of endsers and (3) the abil
to meet just-inime delivery requirements. According to ACT Resbkarfour companies represented approximately 98%arth Americal
Class 8 truck production in 2014. The percentagedass 8 production represented by Daimler, PACCAM. Volvo, and Navistar and we
approximately 36%, 28%, 20%, and 14%, respectivel?014. We supply products to all of these OEMs.

New Class 8 truck commercial vehicle demand hasfigslly been cyclical and is particularly sensitito economic factors that gene
a significant portion of the freight tonnage haubydcommercial vehicles.

The following table illustrates North American Ga&truck build for the years 2012 to 2019:

North American Class 8 Truck Build Rates
(In thousands)

3
ill
297
174 ZEH
265
:-H I | I
2013 2014 2015E

2006E 2017E 2018E 2019E

“E” — Estimated
Source ACT Commercial Vehicle OUTLOQ[kebruary 2015).



Table of Contents

We believe the following factors are currently dnty the North American Class 8 truck market:

Economic Conditions. The North American truck industry is directhfluenced by overall economic growth, consumer dpgnant
the ability of our customers to access capitalc&imuck OEMs supply the fleet lines of North Aneeritheir production levels generally me
the demand for freight. Generally, given the depece of North American shippers on trucking aseight alternative, general econo
conditions have been a primary indicator of futimeek builds.

Truck Replacement Cycle and Fleet Aging.The average age of total Class 8 trucks iscqimately 10.6 years in 2014. The avel
fleet age tends to run in cycles as freight comgmpiermit their truck fleets to age during periotifagging demand and then replenish tl
fleets during periods of increasing demand. Addgity, as truck fleets age, their maintenance cystically increase. Freight companies n
therefore continually evaluate the economics betwepair and replacement. The chart below illusgahe approximate average age of
U.S. Class 8 trucks:

Average Age of Total U.S. Class 8 Trucks
(In years)
10,

10.6 10.6 ]
10.5 10.5 10.5 10.5
I I I I ]

2012 2013 2014 2015E 2016E 201TE 2018E 2018E

“E” — Estimated
Source’ACT N.A. Commercial Vehicle OUTLO@Rebruary 2015).

Commercial Truck Aftermarket.  Demand for aftermarket products is driven by guality of OEM parts, the number of vehicle
operation, the average age of the vehicle fledticle usage and the average useful life of vetpelds. Aftermarket sales tend to be at a hi
margin. The recurring nature of aftermarket reverare be expected to provide some insulation tmteeall cyclical nature of the industry a
tends to provide a more stable stream of reverBrasd equity and the extent of a compangistribution network also contribute to the levt
aftermarket sales. The GTB Segment primarily s&lldNorth America. We believe CVG has a widely regiagd brand portfolio ar
participates in most retail sales channels inclgddmiginal Equipment Dealer networks and indepehdéstributors.
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G LoBAL C ONSTRUCTION AND A GRICULTURE SEGMENT O VERVIEW
Global Construction and Agriculture Segment Prodsct
Set forth below is a brief description of our prottumanufactured in the GCA Segment and their egiins:

Electronic Wire Harnesses and Panel Assemblies We produce a wide range of electronic wirenkases and electrical distribut
systems and related assemblies. Set forth belavbrgef description of our principal products imstbategory:

Electronic Wire Harnesses. We offer a broad range of complex electroniewarness assemblies that function as the primiactric
current carrying devices used to provide electricérconnections for gauges, lights, control fiows, power circuits, powertrain &
transmission sensors, emissions systems and déwtroaic applications on commercial vehicles. @ine harnesses are highly customize
fit specific end-user requirements. We providewire harnesses for a variety of commercial andeyagsr vehicles.

Panel Assemblies. We assemble large, integrated components asigfanel assemblies and cabinets that are installegly location
on a vehicle or unit of equipment and may be irgtgt with our wire harness assemblies. These coemp®mprovide the user control o
multiple operational functions and features.

Seats and Seating Systems. We design, engineer and produce Seats for @niah vehicle, construction and agriculture maské&to
the most part, our Seats are fullgsembled and ready for installation when theydatieered to the OEM. We offer a wide range of Seha
include mechanical and air suspension seats arid seats, as well as some seat frames. As a resuur product design and prod
technology, we believe we are a leader in desigegas with convenience and enhanced safety featOwe Seats are designed to achie
high level of operator comfort by adding a rangenafnual and power features such as lumbar suppoghjon and back bolsters, leg and t
supports, and . Our Seats are built to meet custoegeirements in low volumes and produced in nemefeature combinations to form a full-
range product line with a wide level of price psirtVe also manufacture seats, parts and compofoerite aftermarket.

Office Seating. = We also manufacture office seating products. @fice chair was developed as a result of oyreeience supplyir
seats for the heavy truck, agricultural and comsimn industries and is fully adjustable to achievdigh comfort level in work. Our offi
chairs are designed to suit many different officgi@nments, such as emergency services, call kgnceptions, studios, boardrooms
general office. Our office seats are ideally suftatheavy usage environments.

Wipers Systems. We design, engineer and produce a variety @fewsi used in commercial vehicles. We offer appbcespecific
windshield wiper systems and individual windshigfigper components

Global Construction and Agriculture Segment Raw Maials and Suppliers
A description of the principal raw materials weiné in GCA Segment’s principal product categoigeset forth below:

e Electronic Wire Harnesses and Panel Assemt.  The principal raw materials used to manufectwr electronic wire harnes
are wire and cable, connectors, terminals, switctatays and various covering techniques invohbngided yarn, braided copg
slit and nonslit conduit and foam molded via the reaction itiggt molding process. These raw materials are pethfrom multipl
suppliers and are generally readily availa

» Seats and Seating Systems The principal raw materials used in our sepiystems include steel, aluminum, resased produc
and foam related products and are generally readijlable and obtained from multiple suppliers emearious supply agreemei
Leather, vinyl, fabric and certain components dse purchased from multiple suppliers under suggyeements. Typically, o
supply agreements are for a term of at least oaeamd are terminable by us for breach or convenis

8
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* Wiper Systems The principal raw materials used to manuf&ctour wipers are steel, stainless steel and rubhbleich ar
generally readily available and obtained from npldtisuppliers. We also purchase sgsembled products such as motors fo
wiper systems

Global Construction and Agriculture Segment’s Custers and Marketing

The following is a summary of the GCA Segmensignificant revenues (figures are shown as aepéage of total GCA Segm
revenue) by end market based on final destinatistoeners and markets for each of the three yeaedehecember 31:

2014 2013 2012

Construction 52% 50% 56%
Aftermarket and OE Servic 14 15 15
Automotive 14 15 9
Truck 5 5 1
Agriculture 4 3 3
Military 4 5 7
Other 7 7 _ 9

Total 10C% 10C% 10C%

Our principal customers include Caterpillar andnJ@eere, which consist of a combined total of 332 and 35% of GCA Segmi
revenue for the years ended December 31, 2014, 2042012, respectively. We believe we are a sstddsngterm supplier because of «
comprehensive product offerings, and product intionaservices.

Our European and Asia Pacific operations collettieentributed approximately 58%, 63% and 63% of mvenues for the years en
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Global Construction and Agriculture Industries

Commercial Construction Vehicle Market. New vehicle demand in the global constructiguipment market generally follo
certain economic conditions around the world. Withie construction market, there are two classeson$truction equipment markets:
medium/heavy construction equipment market (weigtdwer 12 metric tons) and the light constructigmipment market (weighing below
metric tons). Our construction equipment productspimarily used in the mediuamd heavy construction equipment markets, withoavigg
emphasis on light and utility machines. The platferthat we generally participate in include: crar@svers, planers & profilers, doz
loaders, graders, haulers, tractors, excavatockhioas, trucks and compactors. Demand in the metaany construction equipment marke
typically related to the level of largecale infrastructure development projects such igeways, dams, harbors, hospitals, airports
industrial development as well as activity in thimimg, forestry and other raw material based indest According to a January 2015 repor
Millmark Associates, a publisher of industry markesearch, global production units in the constonctarket for the primary products
market such as pavers, dozers, excavators, gralétssteers, compactors and loaders experienceddest increase of 4% in 2014 and
expected to increase from approximately 1.6 millimits in 2015 to 1.9 million in 2019.

Purchasers of medium and heavy construction equipmelude construction companies, municipalitiesal governments, rental fle
owners, quarrying and mining companies and foregtigted industries. Purchasers of light constomcgquipment include contractors, re
fleet owners, landscapers, logistics companiesfarders. In the medium/heavy construction equipnmeatket, we primarily supply OED
with our wire harness and seating products.
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The market for our products in Europe and Asia fRacémain relatively flat with the exception of da. Chinas 2015 GDP grow
forecast has been maintained at approximately MimaCcontinues to accelerate infrastructure prejeaetued at approximately $1.1 trillion
2015. We believe China continues to be a key marketrr organic growth strategy, and that the Cégneuck, bus and agriculture equipn
markets will provide us with market penetration gmnowth opportunities in 2015 and beyond.

The chart below illustrates growth in the globahstuction market (in millions of units) for thegolucts we market from 2012 to 2019:

1.9 1.9
1.8
1.7
1.6
1.5
| | I I

2012 2013 2014 2015E 2016E 201TE 2018E 2018E

“E” — Estimated
SourceMillmark Global Equipment Productiofdanuary 2015) and Company estimates.

Agricultural Equipment Market. We market most of our products for small, mediand large agricultural equipment acro:
spectrum of machines including tractors, sprayeaiers, farm telehandler equipment and harvesBaiges and production of these vehicles
be influenced by rising or falling farm commaodityiges, land values, profitability and balance sHeslth of farms, and other factors suc
increased mechanization in emerging economies,usas for crop materials such as biofuels and déwtors. In the medium to longer tern
combination of factors create the need for morelpective agricultural equipment, such as: (1) popattegrowth, (2) an evolving sophisticat
of dietary habits, (3) constraints on arable land ather macroeconomic and demographic factors.

Military Equipment Market. We supply products for heavy- and medipayload tactical trucks that are used by varioulitary
customers. Military equipment will continue to beaatile end market and given current politicatlagjovernmental budgetary considerati
we do not anticipate it will improve significantily the near term.

O UR C ONSOLIDATED O PERATIONS
Competition

Within each of our principal product categories, @@enpete with a variety of independent supplieid with OEMs’ in-house operatior
primarily on the basis of price, breadth of prodofferings, product quality, technical expertiseyvelopment capability, product delivery i
product service. A summary of our estimated mapksition and primary competitors is set forth below

Seats and Seating SystemsWe believe we have a strong market positigppbiing Seats to the North American MD/HD Truck ket
Our primary competitors in the North American connoied vehicle market include Sears Manufacturingrany, Isringhausen, Grammer
and Seats, Inc., and our primary competitors inBhmpean and Asian Pacific commercial vehicle mgitkclude Grammer AG; Isringhaus
Rong Chang and Tiancheng (China); Harita and Pler(&éudia).
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Trim Systems and Components.We believe we have a strong position supplyiinign products to the North American MD/HD Trt
market. We face competition from a number of ddfercompetitors with respect to each of our trimtegn products and components.
primary competitors are ConMet, International Auttive Components, Superior, Blachford Ltd. and Magn

Cab Structures, Sleeper Boxes, Body Panels ancct8tall Components. We are a supplier of cab structural componeocas
structures, sleeper boxes and body panels to thith Manerican MD/HD Truck market. Our primary comipats are Magna, Internatior
Equipment Solutions (formerly Crenlo), Worthingtémdustries (formerly Angus Palm), McLaughlin Bodyr@pany and Defiance Me
Products.

Mirrors, Wipers and Controls. We are a supplier of wiper systems and mirtorthe North American MD/HD Truck market. We ¢
sell wiper systems to the construction and agticaltmarket in Europe. We face competition from aber of different competitors wi
respect to our products in this category. Our @pilccompetitors for mirrors are Hadley, Retraal aangMekra. Our principal competitors 1
wiper systems are Doga, Wexco, Trico and Valeo.

Electronic Wire Harnesses and Panel AssembliesWe supply a wide range of electronic wire legges and panel assemblies us
the global heavy equipment, commercial vehicleyii@auck and specialty and military vehicle markédsir primary competitors for electro
wire harnesses include large diversified supplgrsh as Delphi Automotive PLC, Leoni, Nexans SACP&roup, Stoneridge, St. Clair ¢
Fargo Assembly as well as many smaller indepentanpanies.

Manufacturing Processe
A description of the manufacturing processes w&atfor each of our principal product categorieseét forth below:

e Seats and Seating Systems Our Seats utilize a variety of manufacturiaghniques whereby foam and various other comps
along with fabric, vinyl or leather are affixedda underlying seat frame. We also manufacture asenable seat frame

e Trim Systems and Components Our Trim capabilities include injection maidi, lowpressure injection molding, ureth:
molding and foaming processes, compression moldiegyygauge thermoforming and vacuum forming as wellasous cutting
sewing, trimming and finishing methoc

e Cab Structures, Sleeper Boxes, Body Panels andt8tal Components We utilize a wide range of manufacturing msses t
produce the majority of the steel and aluminum siags used in our cab structures, sleeper boxedy panels and structu
components and a variety of both robotic and mamgddling techniques in the assembly of these prizduie addition, we ha
facilities with large capacity, fully automated Bat paint priming systems allowing us to provide ocustomers with a paimead)
cab product. Due to their high cost, full body@&at systems, such as ours, are rarely found @utsithe manufacturing operatic
of the major OEMs. We also have large press lineshvprovide us with the ihouse manufacturing flexibility for both alumin
and steel stampings delivered -in-time to our cab assembly plan

» Mirrors, Wipers and Control. ~ We manufacture our mirrors, wipers and cdstrilizing a variety of manufacturing proces
and techniques. Our mirrors, wipers and contradspimarily assembled, utilizing semutomatic work cells, electronically tes
and packagec

» Electronic Wire Harnesses and Panel Assemt. We utilize several manufacturing techniquegptoduce the majority of o
electronic wire harnesses and panel assembliesp@uesses, both manual and automated, are degigpedduce a wide range
wire harnesses and panel assemblies in short temees. Our wire harnesses and panel assemblidé®trelectronically and ha
tested.
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We have a broad array of processes to enable ose& our commercial vehicle OEM customess/ling and cost requirements. ~
vehicle cab is the most significant and appealispeat to the operator of the vehicle, and consafjueach commercial vehicle OEM }
unique requirements as to feel, appearance anarésat

The end markets for our products are highly spizeidland our customers frequently request modjiediucts in low volumes within |
expedited delivery timeframe. As a result, we priiyautilize flexible manufacturing cells at most our production facilities. Manufacturi
cells are clusters of individual manufacturing @tens and work stations. This provides flexibility allowing efficient changes to the num
of operations each operator performs. When comp@aréte more traditional, less flexible assembhelprocess, cell manufacturing allow:
to maintain our product output consistent with @EM customers’ requirements and reduce the levelvantory.

When an end-user buys a commercial vehicle, theusad will specify the seat and other features liat vehicle. Because our Seats
unique, our manufacturing facilities have signifit@omplexity which we manage by building in sequeeriWe build our Seats as orders
received, and the Seats are delivered to our cestsmack in the sequence in which vehicles come dbwrassembly line. We have systen
place that allow us to provide complete customiirgdrior kits in boxes that are delivered in sequenSequencing reduces our cos
production because it eliminates warehousing casts reduces waste and obsolescence, offsettingnargased labor costs. Several of
manufacturing facilities are strategically locategar our customersissembly plants, which facilitates this process mmimizes shippin
costs.

We employ just-irime manufacturing and system sourcing in our dpmra to meet customer requirements for fastevdets and t
minimize our need to carry significant inventorydés. We utilize material systems to manage inwgnkevels and, in certain locations,
have inventory delivered as often as two timesdagrfrom a nearby facility based on the previoug slarder. This eliminates the need to ¢
excess inventory at our facilities.

Within our cyclical industry, we strive to maintaa certain portion of temporary labor to improve aibility to flex our costs ar
throughput as required by customer demand. We baléms by engaging our core employees to assistaking our processes efficie
thereby improving our ability to realign capacityrohg fluctuating periods of increased or decreageatiuction levels to achieve time
delivery.

Seasonality

OEMSs’ production requirements can fluctuate as the denfanshew vehicles softens during the holiday seasionNorth Americe
Europe and Asia Pacific as OEM manufacturers gélgeriase their production facilities, reducing Wadays, at various times during the y
Our cost structure consists of a high percentageeéble costs that provides us with some flekipduring these periods.

Our Supply Agreements

Our supply agreements generally provide for fixegtipg but do not require us to purchase any spetifuantities. We have
experienced any significant shortages of raw maeand normally do not carry inventories of rawtenals or finished products in exces:
those reasonably required to meet production amgpisty schedules, as well as service requiremesisel, aluminum, petroleutmase:
products, copper, resin, foam, fabrics, wire angeweomponents comprise the most significant portibour raw material costs. We typice
purchase steel, copper and petrolebesed products at market prices that are fixed wamfting periods of time. Due to the volatility micing
over the last several years, we are using tooll ascmarket index pricing and competitive biddiagassist in reducing our overall cost.
continue to closely align our customer pricing andterial costs to minimize the impact of steel,pmpand petrochemical price fluctuatic
Certain component purchases and suppliers aret@irdxy our customers, so we generally will passubh directly to the customer any ¢
changes from these components. We do not believarevdependent on a single supplier or limited grafusuppliers for our raw materials.
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Our Customer Contracts

Our OEM customers generally source business to ursupnt to written contracts, purchase orders derofirm commitment
(“Commercial Arrangements’n terms of price, quality, technology and deliveAwarded business generally covers the supplyllofraa
portion of a customes’ production and service requirements for a pdaicproduct program rather than the supply of acsigequantity o
products. In general, these Commercial Arrangemenatgde that the customer can terminate them itlav@ot meet specified quality, deliv:
and cost requirements. Although these Commerciaarfgements may be terminated at any time by outomess (but not by us), st
terminations have been minimal and have not hadtenial impact on our results of operations. Ineffort to reduce our reliance on any
vehicle model, we produce products for a broadscsestion of both new and more established models.

Our contracts with our OEM customers may provide da annual prospective productivity cost reductidhese productivity ca
reductions are generally calculated on an annusiskes a percentage of the previous yeprrchases by each customer. The reduct
achieved through engineering changes, material medictions, logistics savings, reductions in pgokg cost and labor efficienci
Historically, most of these cost reductions haverbeffset by both internal reductions and through dssistance of our supply base, alth
no assurances can be given that we will be abdeh@ve such reductions in the future.

Our sales and marketing efforts with respect to Oflles are designed to create overall awarenessiroéngineering, design &
manufacturing capabilities and to enable us todbected by our OEM customers to supply productsiéw and redesigned models. Our ¢
and marketing staff work closely with our desigml @mgineering personnel to prepare the materiad f® bidding on new business, as we
to provide a consistent interface between us amckey customers. We have sales and marketing peesdocated in every major region
which we operate. From time to time, we particigatandustry trade shows and advertise in indugtriglications.

Our principal customers for our aftermarket satedude OEM dealers and independent wholesale ail iistributors. Our sales a
marketing efforts are focused on support of thesedistribution chains, as well as participatioriridustry trade shows and direct contact
major fleets.

Competitive Strengths of Our Products
Our competitive strengths include, but are nottiaito, the following:

Market Positions and Brands. We believe we have a strong market positigplting Seats and Trim products to the North Armem
MD/HD Truck market. We also believe we have a grorarket position as a global suppliers of mediwaly construction vehicle Seats.
strong position in the North American MD/HD Truckarket leads us to believe we have processes ire fitaclesign, manufacture ¢
introduce products that meet customers’ expectatinrthat market. Our major product brands inclé@B Seating™ , National Seating™
Bostrom Seatin@ , Sprague Devi€es , RoadWdtch atd3fiM, ComforTEK® |, FlameTEK™, and FinishTEK™.

Comprehensive Cab Product and Cab System Solutiong/e manufacture a broad base of products edilim the interior and tl
exterior of a commercial vehicle cab. We believe treadth of our product offerings provides us wétipotential opportunity for furth
customer penetration through cross-selling initegiand by bundling our products to provide congpdgtstem solutions.

End-User Focused Product Innovation. We believe that commercial vehicle OEMs foaus interior and exterior product des
features that better serve the vehicle operatorthetfore seek suppliers that can provide produaivation. In response, we have buil
engineering, and research and development orgamiziat assist OEMs in meeting those needs. We\religis helps us secure content on
as well as current platforms and models.
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Flexible Manufacturing Capabilities. Because commercial vehicle OEMs permit thast@mers to select from an extensive mer
cab options, our end users frequently request neadfroducts in low volumes within a limited timefe. We have a variable cost struc
and can leverage our flexible manufacturing cai#dslto provide low volume, customized productsrteet each customerstyling, cost ar
just-in-time delivery requirements. We manufacture or asderour products at facilities in North America,repe and in the Asia Paci
region.

Global Capabilities. Because many of our customers manufacturesatidheir products on a global basis, we believe have
competitive advantage through dedicated sales,neaging, manufacturing and assembly capabilitiesaoglobal basis. We have th
capabilities in North America, Europe and the A&ific region.

Relationships with Leading Customers and Major Nodimerican Fleets. Because of our comprehensive product offeritbganc
names and product features, we believe we aregtésm global supplier to many of the leading MD/HRu@k, construction and specie
commercial vehicle manufacturers such as PACCARer@#lar, Volvo/Mack, Navistar, Daimler Trucks, Be & Co., Oshkosh Corporatit
Komatsu and Eoda (which is part of the Volkswagen Group). Imiidn, through our sales and engineering teamsmamtain relationshi
with the major MD/HD Truck fleet organizations thkeat enddsers of our products such as Schneider Nationain&/, Walmart, FedEx and
Hunt.

Barriers to Entry.  Barriers to entry include investment and sfiie@ngineering requirements, transition costs @EMs to shif
production to new suppliers, just-in-time deliveeguirements and brand name recognition.

Proven Management Team. We believe that our management team has suladtalepth of knowledge and expertise in cril
operational areas and has demonstrated successlucimg costs, improving processes and expandimgnte through product, mark
geography and customer diversification.

Acquisitions

See Note 4 of our audited consolidated financiaeshents in Item 8 in this Annual Report on FormKLlfbr information on busine
combinations.

Research and Developme

Our research and development centers support dity &b offer superior quality and technologicalidvanced products to our custon
at competitive prices. We offer industrial engiriegy product design, specialized simulation andingsand evaluation services that
necessary in today’s global markets. With our resesi for acoustics, thermal efficiency, benchmaykimulti-axis durability, biomechanic
comfort, prototyping and process prove-out, wegiesomplete integrated solutions for the end-user.

We engage in global engineering, and research emel@pment activities that improve the reliabilipgrformance and cosffectivenes
of our existing products and support the designdmelopment and testing of new products for exiséind new applications.

Generally, we work with our customershgineering and development teams at the beginofirthe concept design process for |
components and assemblies and systems, or tleagiaeering processes for existing components asenablies, in order to lever:
production efficiency and quality. Due to the coegsive nature of our business, development tinegitisal, and these processes take |
well in advance of production. Our customers amginoously searching for advanced products whilénta@ing cost, quality and performait
deliverables.

Product development cycles are compressing evenyared we believe we are staffed with experiencgiheers and have equipment
technology to support early design involvement tbah result in products that meet or exceed théomes’s design and performar
requirements and is more efficient to manufactureaddition, our ability to support our productsdacustomers with extensive involvem
enhances our position for bidding on such busin&&swork aggressively to ensure that our quality delivery metrics distinguish us from
competitors by focusing on delivering our custometsgrated products that have superior contemyfod and safety.
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Research and development costs expensed for theegdad December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 totaleilion, $6.6 million an
$6.4 million, respectively.

Intellectual Property

Our principal intellectual property consists of guat and process technology, a limited number &. @dnd foreign patents, trade sec
trademarks and copyrights. Although our intelletraperty is important to our business operatiand in the aggregate constitutes a valt
asset, we do not believe that any single pateadetsecret, trademark or copyright, or group ofquat trade secrets, trademarks or copyrig
critical to the success of our business. Our policyo seek statutory protection for all signifitantellectual property embodied in pate
trademarks and copyrights. As we diversify and gliae our operations, we may encounter localizeg land practices that are not as strin
or enforceable as those in developed markets arsdrigk intellectual property infringement.

Our major products include CVG™, Sprague Devieedoto Mirror ® , RoadWatcl? KAB Seating™, National Seating™, Bostr
Seating® , Stratos™, ComforTEK , FlameTEK™, FiniskTE and Mayflower® .We believe that our products are valuable ant
increasing in value with the growth of our busindsst that our business is not dependent on suatiupts. We own U.S. federal traderr
registrations for several of our products.

Backlog

We do not generally obtain lortgem, firm purchase orders from our customers. &atbur customers typically place annual bla
purchase orders that do not obligate them to pseclaay specific or minimum amount of products frasnuntil a release is issued by
customer under the blanket purchase order. Releasédypically placed 30 to 90 days prior to regdidelivery and may be canceled at
time within agreed terms. We do not believe that lbacklog of expected product sales covered by fiumchase orders is a meanin
indicator of future sales since orders may be edeled or canceled.

Employees

As of December 31, 2014, we had approximately 6,88manent employees, of whom approximately 16%evealaried and tl
remainder hourly. As of December 31, 2014, apprexély 48% of the employees in our North Americaeragions were unionized, with 1
majority of union represented personnel based initde Approximately 63% of our employees of our &uean and Asia Pacific operati
were represented by shop steward committees. Weadidxperience any material strikes, lockouts orkvstoppages during 2014 and cons
our relationship with our employees to be satigfgctOn an aseeded basis during peak periods, contract andaemp employees a
utilized. During periods of weak demand, we resptmdeduced volumes through flexible schedulinglolughs and reductions in force
necessary.

Environmental Matters

We are subject to foreign, federal, state and l@va$ and regulations governing the protectiorhefénvironment and occupational he
and safety, including laws regulating air emissjonastewater discharges, and the generation, gtotandling, use and transportatiol
hazardous materials; the emission and discharp@zdrdous materials into the soil, ground or aid the health and safety of our colleag
We are also required to obtain permits from govesnmtal authorities for certain of our operations. ¥é@not assure you that we are, or |
been, in complete compliance with such environmertd safety laws, regulations and permits. If w@ate or fail to comply with these lav
regulations or permits, we could be fined or othsewsanctioned by regulators. In some instances$, adine or sanction could have a mat
adverse effect on us. We are also subject to laywesing liability for the cleanup of contaminatedmgerty. Under these laws, we could be
liable for costs and damages relating to contarnait our past or present facilities and at tigedty sites to which we sent waste contai
hazardous substances. The amount of such liabdiyd be material.
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Several of our facilities are certified as or arghie process of being certified as ISO 9001, 148004001 compliant (the internatio
environmental management standard) or are devegamilar environmental management systems. Althoug have made and will contir
to make capital expenditures to implement suchrenumental programs and comply with environmentguieements, we do not expect
make material capital expenditures for environmleotatrols in 2015. The environmental laws to whigh are subject have become n
stringent over time, and we could incur materiatsmr expenses in the future to comply with emnnental laws.

Certain of our operations generate hazardous sutetaand wastes. If a release of such substancesstes occurs at or from «
properties, or at or from any offsite disposal tama to which substances or wastes from our cureerformer operations were taken, c
contamination is discovered at any of our currerfoaner properties, we may be held liable for tiest of cleanup and for any other respi
by governmental authorities or private partiesgthgr with any associated fines, penalties or dasdg most jurisdictions, this liability wot
arise whether or not we had complied with environtaklaws governing the handling of hazardous surtsts or wastes.

Government Regulations

Although the products we manufacture and supplgotomercial vehicle OEMs are not subject to sigaificgovernment regulation, ¢
business is indirectly impacted by the extensiveegomental regulation applicable to commercial ehDEMs. These regulations prima
relate to emissions and noise standards imposedebiznvironmental Protection Agency, state regmjamencies, such as the California
Resources Board and other regulatory agencies artivenworld. Commercial vehicle OEMs are also stibje the National Traffic and Mot
Vehicle Safety Act and Federal Motor Vehicle Safétgndards promulgated by the National Highway fld&afety Administration. Chang
in emission standards and other proposed govermgulations could impact the demand for comna¢rethicles and, as a result, indire
impact our operations. For example, in 2011, thé ERd National Highway Traffic Safety Administraticadopted a program to red
greenhouse gas emissions and improve the fuelesftig of medium-and heawjuty vehicles. These standards will phase in wittraasin
stringency in each model year from 2014 to 2018 élmanges in EPA or CARB regulations can have graghon production volumes for n
vehicles and, as a result, indirectly impact ougrations. To the extent that current or future goreental regulation has a negative impac
the demand for commercial vehicles, our businésan€ial condition or results of operations coudddulversely affected.

A VAILABLE | NFORMATION

We maintain a website on the Internet at www.cvagrm. We make available free of charge through abysite, by way of a hyperlink
a third-party Securities Exchange Commission (Ski@y website, our Annual Reports on Form 10-Kagerly reports on Form 1Q; curren
reports on Form & and amendments to those reports electronicdéd for furnished pursuant to Section 13(a) or 16fdhe Exchange Act
1934. Such information is available as soon as sejgbrts are filed with the SEC. Additionally, ddode of Ethics may be accessed withir
Investor Relations section of our website. Inforimafound on our website is not part of this AnnRalport on Form 16 or any other repa
filed with the SEC.
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E XecuTIVE O FFICERS OF R EGISTRANT
The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to our executive officers as of Matéh 2015:

Name Age Principal Position(s)

Richard P. Lavin 62 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc

Patrick E. Miller 47 President of Global Truck and B

C. Timothy Trenary 58 Executive Vice President, and Chief Financial Gffi

Brent A. Walters 50 Senior Vice President, General Counsel, Chief Canpé Officer &
Secretary

The following biographies describe the businessdrpce of our executive officers:

Richard P. Lavirhas served as director since August 2013 and atdErg and Chief Executive Officer since May 20R8or to joining
us in May 2013, Mr. Lavin was the Group Presiddn€onstruction Industries and Growth Markets ate@aitlar Inc. from December 2007
December 2012. Mr. Lavin served as Vice Presideéptuman Resources for Caterpillar Inc. from 2002894 and served as its Vice Presi
of Operations for Asia Pacific Division from Julp@4 to December 2007. From 1984 to 2001, Mr. Laérved in a number of key leader:
roles at Caterpillar including Product Manager,etor of Corporate Human and Labor Relations, Direof Compensation and Benefits |
Attorney. Mr. Lavin has been a Director for USG amation since November 2009 and ITT CorporatiocesiMay 2013. Mr. Lavin served
a Director of US-China Business Council, the Urflia Business Council and the U.S. Korea Busi@ssncil. Mr. Lavin also was a meml|
of The Conference Board and the Chicago CounciGtobal Affairs. Mr. Lavin served on the Internatédmdvisory Council of Guanghi
School of Management at Peking University and seorethe Board of Trustees at Bradley University.

Patrick E. Miller has served as President of Global Truck and Busesfrugust 2013, and prior thereto served as ViesiBent an
General Manager of the Aftermarket division. Mr.llgti also served in roles for CVG as Senior Viceditent of Purchasing and Logist
Vice President of North American Operations, andeViPresident and General Manager of the Cab Stascfivision. Prior to joining tt
company in 2005, Mr. Miller held various leadershigsitions in operations, sales, and product ewrging for ArvinMeritor, Alcoa, and Hay
Lemmerz supplying component systems to the lightole and heavy duty truck OEMs.

C. Timothy Trenanhas served as the Executive Vice President andf Emancial Officer since October 2013. Mr. Trenasgrved &
Executive Vice President and Chief Financial OffioEProBuild Holdings LLC, a privately held Norfkmerican supplier of building materie
from 2010 to 2013. Prior to that, Mr. Trenary sehas Senior Vice President & Chief Financial Officd EMCON Technologies Holdin
Limited, a privately held global automotive partgpplier, from 2008 to 2010; and as Vice Presidert &hief Financial Officer of DUR
Automotive Systems, Inc., a publicly held globatamotive parts supplier, from 2007 to 2008. Mr.fagy is a Certified Public Account:
(registered status).

Brent A. Walterdias served as Senior Vice President, General Ch@tsef Compliance Officer and Secretary sincedbet 2013. Frol
2009 to 2013 he was Vice President, General Coutdeéf Compliance Officer and Secretary of Garddenver, Inc. (“GDI”).GDI is ¢
leading global manufacturer of highly engineereddpicts, primarily compressors, pumps and bloweesjdihed GDI from Caterpillar In
where he held a series of law positions with insirggresponsibility from 1996 to 2009. Prior tonjoig Caterpillar in 1996, Mr. Walters was
attorney at Hinshaw & Culbertson for 5 years anlliga 4 financial auditor for 2 years. Mr. Walterssha B.S. in accounting from Brad
University and J.D. from Southern lllinois UnivaysSchool of Law. Mr. Walters is a Certified Pubiccountant (not licensed).
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Item 1A.  Risk Factors
You should carefully consider the risks describelbW before making an investment decision. Thesenat the only risks we face.

If any of these risks and uncertainties were taabt occur, our business, financial condition esults of operations could be materi
adversely affected. In such case, the trading mii@r common stock could decline and you may kdker part of your investment.

» Our results of operations could be significantly adersely affected by a downturn in the U.S. and glall economy which naturally it
accompanied by related declines in infrastructure dvelopment and other construction projects.

Our results of operations are directly impactedcbgnges in the U.S. economy and global economidittons which are natural
accompanied by related declines in infrastructeneetbpment and other construction projects becaumseng other things:

» Demand for our heavy truck products is generallyethelent on the number of new heavy truck commeveiaicles manufactured
North America. Historically, the demand for heawyck commercial vehicles, and commercial vehictebdul freight tonnage h
significantly declined during periods of weaknasshie North American econom

» Demand for our construction products is also depahdn the overall vehicle demand for new commenradicles in the glob
construction equipment marki

» Demand in the MD/HD construction equipment markeétich is the market in which our products are prityaused, is typicall
related to the level of larc-scale infrastructure development proje

 Demand in the light construction equipment marketypically related to certain economic conditiagh as the level of hous
construction and other smallscale developments and projects. If we experiemec®gs of low demand for our products in
future, it could have a negative impact on our nexs, operating results and financial posit

» Our business in China is subject to aggressive corafition and is sensitive to economic and market calitions.

Growing our position in the Chinese market is a &esnponent of our global growth strategy. The comuaévehicle market in China
highly competitive, with competition from many dfet largest global manufacturers and numerous sntdl@estic manufacturers. As the !
of the Chinese market continues to increase, wieipate that additional competitors, both interoaél and domestic, will seek to enter
Chinese market and that existing market participamay act aggressively to increase their markateshiacreased competition may resul
price reductions, reduced margins and our inaktititgain or hold market share. In addition, ouribess in China is sensitive to economic
market conditions that drive sales volume in Chifiave are unable to maintain our position in thieirf@se market or if commercial vehi
sales in China decrease or do not continue toasereour business and financial results could liemally adversely affected.

» Our profitability could be adversely affected if the actual production volumes for our customer vehicles are significantly lower thai
expected.

We incur costs and make capital expenditures baped estimates of production volumes for our custaivehicles. While we attem
to establish a price for our components and systeatswill compensate for variances in productiatumes, if the actual production of th
vehicles is significantly less than anticipated; gross margin on these products would be adveedtdgted. We enter into agreements with
customers at the beginning of a given platfariife to supply products for that platform. Once @nter into such agreements, fulfillment ol
supply requirements is our obligation for the entiroduction life of the
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platform, with terms ranging from five to seven ggaand we have somewhat limited provisions to ieaie such contracts. We may beci
committed to supply products to our customers Hingeprices that are not sufficient to cover thieedt cost to produce such products.
cannot predict our customerdemands for our products. If customers represerdirgignificant amount of our revenues were to pase
materially lower volumes than expected, or if we anable to keep our commitment under the agreesmiéntould have a material adve
effect on our business, financial condition andiltsof operations.

* We could incur restructuring and impairment chargesas we continue to evaluate our portfolio of assetnd identify opportunities to
restructure our business in an effort to optimize ar cost structure.

As we continue to evaluate our manufacturing fdatpin order to improve our cost structure and reeexcess, underperforming,
assets that no longer fit our goals, we could imestructuring charges in order to close facilitgsch as, lease termination charges, seve
charges and impairment charges of leasehold imprewés and/or machinery and equipment.

Also, if we decide to close or consolidate fa@lti we may face execution risks which could adWerafect our ability to serve o
customers and could lead to loss of business aglyaaffecting our business, results of operatians fenancial condition.

« We may be unable to successfully implement our buséss strategy and, as a result, our businesses dithncial position and results
of operations could be materially and adversely affcted.

Our ability to achieve our business and financlgkotives is subject to a variety of factors, mafiyhich are beyond our control. |
example, we may not be successful in implementing sirategy if unforeseen factors emerge diminighine expected growth in 1t
commercial vehicle markets we supply, or we expegeincreased pressure on our margins. In addiienmay not succeed in integrai
strategic acquisitions, and our pursuit of addailostrategic acquisitions may lead to resource tcaimss, which could have a negative imj
on our ability to meet customerdemands, thereby adversely affecting our relatigssWith those customers. As a result of such lassiro
competitive factors, we may decide to alter or aiigimue aspects of our business strategy and megt adternative or additional strateg
Any failure to successfully implement our businssategy could adversely affect our business, tesiiloperations and growth potential.

 Volatility and cyclicality in the commercial vehicle market could adversely affect us

Our profitability depends in part on the varyingnddions in the commercial vehicle market. This kedris subject to considera
volatility as it moves in response to cycles in theerall business environment and is particuladpsitive to the industrial sector of
economy. Sales of commercial vehicles have hisdtlyibeen cyclical, with demand affected by sucbrenic factors as industrial producti
construction levels, demand for consumer durabtalgpinterest rates and fuel costs.

In addition, tightening of credit in financial mats may adversely affect the ability of our custmre obtain financing for significa
truck orders. For example, North American Class@&lpction in 2013 decreased approximately 12% diverprior year period. We can
provide any assurance as to the length or levitefecovery from the recent decline, and any &tlecline would have an adverse impac
our business and results of operations. Any exmtbevnturn could materially affect our business agslilts of operations. We also car
predict the industry will follow past cyclical paths that might include strong preorders in advasfceew emissions standards or decl
driven by post-EPA standards or economic conditi@sanges in these patterns may adversely affediuginess and results of operations.

19



Table of Contents

* We may be subject to product liability claims, reclis or warranty claims, which could be expensive, @nage our reputation anc
result in a diversion of management resources.

As a supplier of products and systems to commerahicle OEMs, we face an inherent business riskxglosure to product liabili
claims in the event that our products, or the emeipt into which our products are incorporated, aradfion and result in personal injury
death. Product liability claims could result inrgficant losses as a result of expenses incurreléfanding claims or the award of damages.

In addition, we may be required to participate@gralls involving systems or components sold byf sy prove to be defective, or
may voluntarily initiate a recall or make paymendtated to such claims as a result of various ittgusr business practices or the nee
maintain good customer relationships. Such a reaalild result in a diversion of management resairé¢hile we do maintain product liabil
insurance, we cannot assure you that it will bdicgaht to cover all product liability claims, thauch claims will not exceed our insura
coverage limits or that such insurance will condirto be available on commercially reasonable teifregt, all. Any product liability clair
brought against us could have a material advefsetain our results of operations.

» Our inability to compete effectively in the highly competitive commercial vehicle component supply ingstry could result in lower
prices for our products, loss of market share and educed gross margins, which could have an adverséfeet on our revenues an
operating results.

The commercial vehicle component supply industilyighly competitive. Some of our competitors arepanies that are larger and h
greater financial and other resources than we mi@ome cases, we compete with divisions of our Gdtlstomers. Our products prima
compete on the basis of price, breadth of prodfietings, product quality, technical expertise @eyelopment capability, product delivery .
product service. Increased competition may legatit®e reductions resulting in reduced gross margimsloss of market share.

Current and future competitors may make strategipi@itions or establish cooperative relationstapsong themselves or with othe
foresee the course of market development more atyrthan we do, develop products that are supésiour products, produce simi
products at lower cost than we can, or adapt maiekly to new technologies, industry or customeguieements. By doing so, they n
enhance their ability to meet the needs of ourceusts or potential future customers more competitivThese developments could limit
ability to obtain revenues from new customers oifinta#n existing revenues from our customer base. M&y not be able to comp
successfully against current and future compet#ois the failure to do so may have a material a#veffect on our business, operating re
and financial condition.

» Our customer base is concentrated and the loss ofifiness from a major customer or the discontinuatio of particular commercial
vehicle platforms could reduce our revenues.

Sales to A.B. Volvo, Daimler Truck, PACCAR and Gaiktar accounted for approximately 19%, 15%, 1286l 8%, respectively, of o
revenue in 2014, and our ten largest customersuated for approximately 77% of our revenue in 2@Even though we may be selected a:
supplier of a product by an OEM for a particulahicée, our OEM customers issue blanket purchasersrdvhich generally provide for f
supply of that customer’s annual requirementsHtat tehicle, rather than for a specific number wf products. If the OEM requirements a
less than estimated, the number of products wesdiat OEM will be accordingly reduced. In adaliti the OEM may terminate its purch
orders with us at any time. The loss of any oflatgest customers or the loss of significant bussrfeom any of these customers could he
material adverse effect on our business, finargabition and results of operations.
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» Volatility in the commercial vehicle market could result from manmade and natural disasters and otheglobal business disruptions

Volatility in the commercial vehicle market couldsult from manmade and natural disasters and gtbbal business disruptions. Si
catastrophic events may disrupt the commercialokelsupply chain and materially adversely affectbgl production levels in our indusi
The impact from disasters resulting in wisjgread destruction may not be immediately appateist.particularly difficult to assess the imp
of catastrophic losses on our suppliers and entbeess, who themselves may not fully understanditmgact of such events on tt
businesses. Accordingly, there is no assuranceresuits of operations will not be materially affsttas a result of the impact of fut
disasters.

» The agreement governing our revolving credit facity and the indenture governing our debt instrumentscontain covenants that ma
restrict our current and future operations, particularly our ability to respond to changes in our busness or to take certain actions.
we are unable to comply with these covenants, ourubiness, results of operations and liquidity coulde materially and adversel’
affected.

Our revolving credit facility requires us to maiintacertain financial ratios. Our revolving credécility and our other debt instrume
require us to comply with various operational atideo covenants. If there were an event of defautten our debt instruments that was
cured or waived, the holders of the defaulted dmhtld cause all amounts outstanding with respedh#b debt to be due and paye
immediately. We cannot assure you that our assetash flow would be sufficient to fully repay bowings under our outstanding d
instruments, either upon maturity or if acceleratgazbn an event of default, or that we would be d@blrefinance or restructure the paymen
those debt instruments on acceptable terms.

If we do not comply with the financial and otheweaants relating to our revolving credit facilitpycawe are unable to obtain neces
waivers or amendments, we would be precluded fromolving under the facility, which could have a avél adverse effect on our busini
financial condition and liquidity. If we are unaliteborrow under the facility, we will need to meetr capital requirements using other sot
but, alternative sources of liquidity may not baitable on acceptable terms. In addition, if werdd comply with the financial and ott
covenants under the revolving credit facility, fle@der could declare an event of default, and adebtedness under the facility coulc
declared immediately due and payable, resultirgnirvent of default under our debt instruments. [€hder under our revolving credit facil
would also have the right in these circumstancesriminate any commitments it has to provide furth@rowings. Any of these events wo
have a material adverse effect on our businesdial condition and liquidity.

In addition, the agreement governing the revohdregit facility contains covenants that, among othigs, restrict our ability to:

* incur liens;

e incur or assume additional debt or guaranteessaeipreferred stocl

» pay dividends, or make redemptions and repurchastésrespect to capital stoc

* prepay, or make redemptions and repurchases ajrdinbated debi

* make loans and investmen

* make capital expenditure

* engage in mergers, acquisitions, asset saleslesaleback transactions and transactions with a&#i
» place restrictions on the ability of subsidiariepty dividends or make other payments to the is

» change the business conducted by us or our sutiegjianc

 amend the terms of subordinated d:
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» Our substantial amount of indebtedness may adverseglaffect our cash flow and our ability to operate ar business, remain ir
compliance with debt covenants and make payments anr indebtedness.

The aggregate amount of our outstanding indebtedras $250.0 million as of December 31, 2014. @delbtedness, combined with
lease and other financial obligations and contelatammitments could have other important consece®io our stockholders, including:

* making it more difficult for us to satisfy our ofditions with respect to our indebtedness, includiegrevolving credit facility ar
our other debt instruments, and any failure to dgmth the obligations of any of our debt instrumt® including financial ar
other restrictive covenants, could result in améwé default under the revolving credit facilitpéthe indenture governing the ¢
instruments

» the possibility that we may be unable to generagh sufficient to pay, when due, the principalimferest on or other amounts
in respect of our indebtedne:

* making us more vulnerable to adverse changes iargeaconomic, industry and competitive conditic

* require us to dedicate a substantial portion ofaagh flow from operations to payments on our ineldtess, thereby reducing
availability of our cash flows to fund working céadi capital expenditures, acquisitions and ottesregal corporate purpos¢

» limiting our flexibility in planning for, or reaatig to, changes in our business and the industishinh we operate
» placing us at a competitive disadvantage comparedit competitors that have less debt;

» limiting our ability to borrow additional amountsrfworking capital, capital expenditures, acquisifi, debt service requirements
execution of our business strategy or other pui

Any of these factors could materially adverseleaffour business, financial condition and resultspgrations.

» Economic conditions and disruptions in the credit ad financial markets could have an adverse effectmoour business, financie
condition and results of operations.

Recently, the financial markets experienced a peofounprecedented turmoil, including the bankryptestructuring or sale of certi
financial institutions and the intervention of tbeS. federal government. Disruptions in the creditl financial markets may have a mat
adverse effect on our liquidity and financial cdiadi if our ability to borrow money to finance ooperations were to be impaired. A crisi
the financial markets may also have a material dgvémpact on the availability and cost of creditthe future. Our ability to pay c
indebtedness will depend on our future performantgch will be affected by, among other things,yaiéng economic conditions. Tighteni
of credit in financial markets may also adversdfga the ability of our customers to obtain finargefor significant truck orders and the abi
of our suppliers to provide us with sufficient ramaterials for our products, either of which couttversely affect our business and resul
operations.

« Our major OEM customers may exert significant influence over us

The commercial vehicle component supply industry tnaditionally been highly fragmented and servém#ded number of large OENM
As a result, OEMs have historically had a significamount of leverage over their outside suppli@anerally, our contracts with major Ol
customers provide for an annual productivity cestuction. Historically, we have been able to gdheraitigate these customémposed co:
reductions requirements through product design gbsnincreased productivity and similar programthwur suppliers. However, if we
unable to generate sufficient production cost sgevim the future to offset these cost reductions,gross margin and profitability would
adversely affected. In addition, changes in OEMsthasing policies or payment practices could revadverse effect on our business.
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» If we are unable to obtain raw materials at favoralte prices, it could adversely impact our results obperations and financia
condition.

Numerous raw materials are used in the manufactimur products. Steel, aluminum, petrolebased products, copper, resin, fa
fabrics, wire and wire components account for tlestsignificant portion of our raw material cogdthough we currently maintain alternat
sources for most raw materials, our business ifesuto the risk of price increases and periodieyein delivery. For example, we are be
assessed surcharges on certain purchases ofcstepér and other raw materials. If we are unabjgutchase certain raw materials requiret
our operations for a significant period of timey aperations would be disrupted, and our resultspafrations would be adversely affectec
addition, if we are unable to pass on the increassts of raw materials to our customers, thisd¢aadversely affect our results of operat
and financial condition.

» We may fail to recuperate our investment in desigmnd development costs incurred for some customerghich could result in lowet
margins.

In some cases, we may not have clauses in ourrnestagreements that guarantee that we will recbemésign and development ci
that we incurred to develop a product. In otheesasve share the design costs with the customethremdby have some risk that not all
costs will be covered if the project does not govird or if it is not as profitable as expected.

» Our inability to successfully achieve operational #iciencies could result in the incurrence of addibnal costs and expenses that cot
adversely affect our reported earnings.

As part of our business strategy, we continuousBksvays to lower costs, improve manufacturingcificies and increase producti
in our existing operations and intend to apply thiisategy to those operations acquired through isitigms. We may be unsuccessfu
achieving these objectives which could adversdigcaour operating results and financial condition.

Additionally, aspects of the data upon which thexpany’s business strategy is based may be incompletaretiable, which could le:
to errors in the strategy, which in turn could adedy affect the company’performance. Also, not all business strategybmabased on da
and to the extent that it is based on assumptiodsjudgments that are untested, then it could wmd and thereby lead to performe
below expectations.

« Equipment failures, delays in deliveries or cataswphic loss at any of our facilities could lead toqmduction or service curtailments ol
shutdowns.

We manufacture or assemble our products at faslithn North America, Europe, Asia and Australia. iAterruption in production
service capabilities at any of these facilitie@assult of equipment failure or other reasonsaoes$ult in our inability to produce our produ
In the event of a stoppage in production at anguffacilities, even if only temporary, or if wemsience delays as a result of events th¢
beyond our control, delivery times to our custonmsld be severely affected. Any significant delageliveries to our customers could lea
increased returns or cancellations. Our facilites also subject to the risk of catastrophic loge tb unanticipated events such as 1
explosions, violent weather conditions or acts olG/NVe may also experience plant shutdowns or gerid reduced production as a resu
equipment failure, delays in deliveries or catgstio loss, which could have a material adverseceffa our business, results of operations
financial condition.
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» We could experience disruption in our supply or delery chain, which could cause one or more of ourustomers to halt or dela
production.

We, as with other component manufactures in thenceroial vehicle industry, ship products to the oasrs throughout the world so
they are delivered on a “Just-in-time” basis inesrth maintain low inventory levels. Our suppliéegternal suppliers as well as our own
production sites) also use a similar method. Howewés “Just-in-time” method makes the logisticpgly chain in our industry very complex
and very vulnerable to disruptions.

The potential loss of one of our suppliers or owngroduction sites could be caused by a myriagodéntial problems, such as clost
of one of our own or one of our suppliepants or critical manufacturing lines due to stskmechanical breakdowns, electrical outages,
explosions, political upheaval, as well as logaticomplications due to weather, volcanic erupticeerthquakes, flooding or other nat
disasters, mechanical failures, delayed customsegeing and more. Additionally, as we expand imgfnanarkets, the risk for such disrupti
is heightened. The lack of even a small single soiponent necessary to manufacture one of our ptedioec whatever reason, could force
to cease production, even for a prolonged peridohil&ly, a potential quality issue could force tes halt deliveries while we validate 1
products. Even where products are ready to be stipp have been shipped, delays may arise befeyerfach our customer. Our custon
may halt or delay their production for the samesoaif one of their other suppliers fails to defivecessary components. This may caus
customers to suspend their orders or instruct gssigpend delivery of our products, which may addgraffect our financial performance.

When we cease timely deliveries, we have to absorbown costs for identifying and solving the “romduse”problem as well ¢
expeditiously producing replacement componentsrodycts. Generally, we must also carry the cosés@ated with “catching up,Such a
overtime and premium freight.

Additionally, if we are the cause for a customeinbeforced to halt production the customer may seekecoup all of its losses &
expenses from us. These losses and expenses @mwenp significant and may include consequentiabés such as lost profits. Thus,
supply<hain disruption, however small, could potentiabuse the complete shutdown of an assembly lirmnefof our customers, and :
such shutdown could expose us to material claimsoafpensation. Where a customer halts producticause of another supplier failing
deliver on time, we may not be fully compensatédatiall, and therefore our business and finanmallts could be materially advers
affected.

« We may be unable to successfully introduce new prodt and, as a result, our businesses and financiglosition and results o
operations could be materially and adversely affeed.

Product innovations has been and will continued@lsignificant part of our business strategy. \&léebe it is important we continue
meet our customers’ demands for product innovaiimprovement and enhancement, including the coatimlevelopment of negeneratio
products, design improvements and innovationsithptove the quality and efficiency of our produdtmwever, such development will reqt
us to continue to invest in research and developaues sales and marketing. We are also subjettetoisks generally associated with proi
development, including lack of market acceptanatays in product development and failure of produot operate properly. We may, ¢
result of these factors, be unable to meaningfioéyis on product innovation as a strategy and rhasefore be unable to meet our customer
demands for product innovation, which could haveaterial adverse effect on our business, operatisiglts and financial condition.

« Our operating results, revenues and expenses maydétuate significantly from quarter-to-quarter or year-to-year, which could hawvt
an adverse effect on the market price of our commostock.

Our operating results, revenues and expenses hae ipast varied and may in the future vary sigaiftly from quarter-tauarter o
yearto-year. These fluctuations could have an adveffeet on the market price of our common stock.
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Our operating results may fluctuate as a resut@$e and other events and factors:
* the size, timing, volume and execution of significarders and shipmeni
» changes in the terms of our sales contr:
» the timing of new product announcements by us ama&ompetitors
» changes in our pricing policies or those of our petitors;
* market acceptance of new and enhanced proc
« announcement of technological innovations or nesdpcts by us or our competito
« the length of our sales cycle
» conditions in the commercial vehicle indusi
» changes in our operating expens
» personnel change
* new business acquisitior
* uncertainty in Ukraine, the Middle East or any otheographic regior
» cyberattacks to our system
* union actions
« changes in foreign currency exchange rates;
+ seasonal factor:
We base our operating expense budgets primarilgxpected revenue trends. Certain of our expenseekatively fixed and as such

may be unable to adjust expenses quickly enougtifset any unexpected revenue shortfall. Accordinghy shortfall in revenue may ca
significant variation in operating results in anyagter or year.

It is possible that in one or more future quartargears, our operating results may be below tipeetations of public market analysts
investors and may result in changes in analystghages. In such events, the trading price of @mmon stock may be adversely affected.

In the past, companies that have experienced liglati the market price of their stock have bebe subject of securities class ac
litigation. If we become involved in securities €taaction litigation in the future, it could resultsubstantial costs and diversion of manage
attention and resources, thus harming our business.

» We are subject to certain risks associated with ouforeign operations.

We have operations in the United Kingdom, CzechuRip, Ukraine, China; Australia, Mexico and Indiahich accounted in tl
aggregate for approximately 26%, 25% and 21% oftotal revenues for the years ended December 34,2013 and 2012, respectivi
There are certain risks inherent in our internatldrusiness activities including, but not limited t

« the difficulty of enforcing agreements and collagtreceivables through certain foreign legal systt
» foreign customers, who may have longer paymengesyitlan customers in the U.

* material foreign currency exchange rate fluctuaiafffecting our ability to match revenue receivethveosts paid in the sa
currency;

e tax rates in certain foreign countries, which mageed those in the U.S. withholding requirementgher imposition of tariff:
exchange controls or other restrictions, includiestrictions on repatriation, on foreign earnir

» intellectual property protection difficultie
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» general economic and political conditions, alonghwnajor differences in business culture and perastiincluding the challenges
dealing with business practices that may impacttmepan’s compliance efforts, in countries where we ope!

» the difficulties associated with managing a larggaaization spread throughout various countried;

» complications in complying with a variety of lawsdaregulations related to doing business with antbieign countries, some
which may conflict with U.S. law or may be vagueddficult to comply with.

Additionally, our international business activitiage also subject to risks arising from violati@isu.S. laws such as the U.S. Fore
Corrupt Practices Act and similar abtibery laws in other jurisdictions, and variougpex control and trade embargo laws and regula
including those which may require licenses or otlghorizations for transactions relating to cereountries and/or with certain individu
identified by the U.S. government. If we fail tonsply with applicable laws and regulations, we cosidfer civil and criminal penalties tt
could adversely affect our results of operationd famancial condition.

As we continue to expand our business on a glodsisbwe are increasingly exposed to these riskss@ccess will be dependent, in
on our ability to anticipate and effectively mandgese and other risks associated with foreignadjmers. These and other factors may he
material adverse effect on our international openat business, financial condition and resultspdrations.

» We have invested substantial resources in marketsh&re we expect growth and we may be unable to timehklter our strategies
should such expectations not be realized.

Our future growth is dependent on our making tgbtrinvestments at the right time to support prodievelopment and manufactur
capacity in areas where we can support our custdrase. We have identified the Asia Pacific reggpecifically China and India, as }
markets likely to experience substantial growttour market share, and accordingly have made andcéxp continue to make substar
investments, both directly and through participatio various partnerships and joint ventures, imarous manufacturing operations, techt
centers and other infrastructure to support ardteigp growth in those regions. If we are unable depén existing and develop additic
customer relationships in these regions, we mayonbt fail to realize expected rates of return am existing investments, but we may in
losses on such investments and be unable to tiredploy the invested capital to take advantagettedr markets, potentially resulting in |
market share to our competitors. Our results vslb suffer if these regions do not grow as quidgywe anticipate.

» Our products may be rendered less attractive by chages in competitive technologies

Changes in competitive technologies may renderitedf our products less attractive. Our abilityattticipate changes in technology
to successfully develop and introduce new and esgdhiproducts on a timely basis will be a significfactor in our ability to rema
competitive. There can be no assurance that webgilhble to achieve the technological advancesntizgt be necessary for us to ren
competitive. We are also subject to the risks gahernssociated with new product introductions apglications, including lack of marl
acceptance, delays in product development andéailfiproducts to operate properly, all of whiclilcbadversely affect our business, resul
operations and growth potential. Moreover, we warthe workmanship and materials of many of ourdpots under limited warranties ¢
have entered into warranty agreements with ce@&Ms that warranty certain of our products in theads of these OEMgustomers, in son
cases for as long as seven years. Accordingly, r@esabject to risk of warranty claims in the evtrat our products do not conform to
customers’ specifications or, in some cases inetlent that our products do not conform to theirt@uers’ expectations. It is possible
warranty claims to result in costly product recatlignificant repair costs and damage to our rejmutaall of which would materially adversi
affect our results of operations.

26



Table of Contents

* We have only limited protection for our proprietary rights in our intellectual property, which makes i difficult to prevent third
parties from infringing upon our rights.

Our success depends to a certain degree on olity abilprotect our intellectual property and to oge without infringing on tt
proprietary rights of third parties. While we haween issued patents and have registered trademvétksespect to many of our products,
competitors could independently develop similarsaperior products or technologies, duplicate owigies, trademarks, processes or ¢
intellectual property or design around any processalesigns on which we have or may obtain pammi®demark protection. In addition, i
possible third parties may have or acquire licerise®ther technology or designs that we may usdeasire to use, requiring us to acq
licenses to, or to contest the validity of, suctepts or trademarks of third parties. Such licemsag not be made available to us on accef
terms, if at all, or we may not prevail in contagtthe validity of third party rights.

In addition to patent and trademark protection, al& protect trade secrets, “know-hoafid other confidential information agai
unauthorized use or disclosure by persons who hewvess to them, such as our employees and otheragh contractual arrangements. Tl
arrangements may not provide meaningful protect@nour trade secrets, knolew or other confidential information in the evaftany
unauthorized use, misappropriation or disclosureve are unable to maintain the proprietary natfreur technologies, trade secrets, know
how, or other confidential information, our reveawsuld be materially adversely affected.

As we diversify and globalize our geographic foothrwe may encounter laws and practices in emgrgiarkets that are not as string
or enforceable as those present in developed nsarketl thus incur a higher risk of intellectualp®uy infringement, which could materie
adversely affect our results of operations.

» Our products may be susceptible to claims by thirgbarties that our products infringe upon their proprietary rights.

As the number of products in our target marketseases and the functionality of these productshéurbverlaps, we may beco
increasingly subject to claims by a third partyttbar technology infringes such pawdyproprietary rights. Regardless of their merity anct
claims could be time consuming and expensive terdkfmay divert managementattention and resources, could cause productmsm
delays and could require us to enter into costlty or licensing agreements. If successful, &claf infringement against us and our inab
to license the infringed or similar technology andéroduct could have a material adverse effeairbusiness, operating results and final
condition.

* We may be unable to complete strategic acquisitiors we may encounter unforeseen difficulties in irggrating acquisitions.

We may pursue acquisition targets that will allosvta continue to expand into new geographic mayleetd new customers, provide r
products, manufacturing and service capabilitie ianrease penetration with existing customers. él@x, we expect to face competition
acquisition candidates, which may limit the numbérour acquisition opportunities and may lead tghler acquisition prices. Moreov
acquisition of businesses may require additionbt éieancing, resulting in additional leverage. Tdowvenants relating to our indenture and
instruments may further limit our ability to comfdeacquisitions. There can be no assurance wefindllattractive acquisition candidates
successfully integrate acquired businesses int@gigting business. If the expected synergies fagouisitions do not materialize or we fai
successfully integrate such new businesses intexisting businesses, our results of operationfdcalgo be materially adversely affected.
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» Our earnings may be adversely affected by changes the carrying values of our tangible and intangibé assets as a result
recording any impairment charges deemed necessatry.

We are required to perform impairment tests whenewents and circumstances indicate the carryidgevenay not be recoverak
Significant and unanticipated changes in circunt#ansuch as the general economic environmentgelaor downturns in our industry &
whole, termination of any of our customer contractstructuring efforts and general workforce rauns, may result in a charge
impairment that can materially and adversely aftestreported net income and our stockholders’tgqui

We have taken, are taking, and may take futureuesiring actions to realign and resize our proiunctapacity and cost structure
meet current and projected operational and madatirements. Charges related to these actionsyofuather restructuring actions may han
material adverse effect on our results of operatiamnd financial condition. There can be no asserdinat any current or future restructu
will be completed as planned or achieve the desiesdlts. The failure to complete restructuringpsned could materially adversely afi
our results of operations.

Additionally, from time to time in the past, we leakecorded asset impairment losses relating tafgpptants and operations. Genere
we record asset impairment losses when we deterthateour estimates of the future undiscounted éasts from an operation will not |
sufficient to recover the carrying value of thatifi&y’ s building, fixed assets and production toolingr §oodwill, we perform a qualitati
assessment of whether it is more likely than nat the reporting uni§ fair value is less than its carrying amount.hi fair value of th
reporting unit is less than its carrying amount, ceenpare its implied fair value of goodwill to itgarrying amount. If the carrying amoun
goodwill exceeds its implied fair value, the repagtunit would recognize an impairment loss forttliecess amount. There can be no assu
that we will not incur such charges in the futusechanges in economic or operating conditions itipg¢he estimates and assumptions c
result in additional impairment. Any future impaents may materially adversely affect our resultspdrations.

» Our businesses are subject to statutory environmeat and safety regulations in multiple jurisdictions and the impact of any change
in regulation and/or the violation of any applicabk laws and regulations by our businesses could rdsin a material and adverse
effect on our financial condition and results of oprations.

We are subject to foreign, federal, state, andlla&s and regulations governing the protectiorttef environment and occupatio
health and safety, including laws regulating airissions, wastewater discharges, generation, stofzyedling, use and transportatior
hazardous materials; the emission and dischar@p@zdrdous materials into the soil, ground or aid the health and safety of our colleag
We are also required to obtain permits from govesmtal authorities for certain of our operations. Wédieve we are in material complial
with such environmental and safety laws, and rdaguda. Certain of our operations generate hazardabstances and wastes. If a relea:
such substances or wastes occurs at or from opegies, or at or from any offsite disposal locatto which substances or wastes from
current or former operations were taken, or if aamnation is discovered at any of our current onier properties, we may be held liable
the costs of cleanup and for any other responsgolbgrnmental authorities or private parties, togethith any associated fines, penaltie
damages. In most jurisdictions, this liability wdwrise whether or not we had complied with envitental laws governing the handlinc
hazardous substances or wastes.

Several of our facilities are either certified as,are in the process of being certified as 1SO19Q1000, 14001 or TS16949 (
international environmental management standamdjpdiant or are developing similar environmental mgement systems. Although we h
made, and will continue to make, capital expendgup implement such environmental programs ancpowith environmental requiremer
we do not expect to make material capital expengstfor environmental controls in 2015.
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The environmental laws to which we are subject Hae®me more stringent over time, and we couldrintaterial costs or expense:!
the future to comply with environmental laws. If wilate or fail to comply with these laws and rigions or do not have the requi:
permits, we could be fined or otherwise sanctiomgdegulators. In some instances, such a fine metgm could have a material adverse e
on our financial condition and results of operagion

» We may be adversely affected by the impact of gowvement regulations on our OEM customers

Although the products we manufacture and supplgotomercial vehicle OEMs are not subject to sigaificgovernment regulation, ¢
business is indirectly impacted by the extensiveegomental regulation applicable to commercial ehDEMs. These regulations prima
relate to emissions and noise standards imposettheéby).S. Environmental Protection Agency (“EPASjate regulatory agencies in Nc
America, such as the California Air Resources B@4EAARB"), and other regulatory agencies around the world. i@eruial vehicle OEMs a
also subject to the National Traffic and Motor \&aiSafety Act and Federal Motor Vehicle SafetynStads promulgated by the Natic
Highway Traffic Safety Administration in the U.Sh@&nges in emission standards and other proposestrgoental regulations could impact
demand for commercial vehicles and, as a resuirantly impact our operations. For example, nevission standards for truck engines
in Class 5 to 8 trucks imposed by the EPA and CARRBame effective in 2010. In 2011, the EPA and dvati Highway Traffic Safe
Administration adopted a program to reduce greesé@as emissions and improve the fuel efficiencyneflium-and heavgluty vehicles
These standards will phase in with increasing gémty in each model year from 2014 to 2018. To dktent that current or futL
governmental regulation has a negative impact erddmand for commercial vehicles, our businesanfiial condition or results of operati
could be adversely affected.

* We may be adversely affected by new regulations @ing to conflict minerals.

In August 2012, the SEC adopted new disclosuresgmarting requirements for companies whose pradoehtain certain minerals ¢
their derivatives, namely tin, tantalum, tungstengold, known as conflict minerals. Companies megtort annually whether or not si
minerals originate from the Democratic RepublicCaingo (DRC) and adjoining countries and in somes#as perform extensive due dilige
on their supply chains for such minerals. The impatation of these new requirements could adversfct the sourcing, availability a
pricing of materials used in the manufacturing af @roducts. In addition, we will incur additionabsts to comply with the disclosi
requirements, including cost related to determirtimg source of any of the relevant minerals useduinproducts. Since our supply chai
complex, the due diligence procedures we implemesy not enable us to ascertain with sufficientaiaty the origins for these miner:
which may harm our reputation, as well as incutsassociated with an audit. We may also faceadilies in satisfying customers who n
require that our products be DRC conflict free, ebhcould harm our relationships with these custenaed/or lead to a loss of revenue. T
new requirements also could have the effect oftiligithe pool of suppliers from which we sourceseheninerals, and we may be unabl
obtain conflictfree minerals at prices similar to the past, whiohld increase our costs and adversely affectinan€ial condition or results
operations.

» Vertical integration by our customers could materidly adversely affect our financial statements.

Demand for our products could be materially redutedir customers significantly vertically integeatheir operations. Our business
results of operations could be adversely affecteddstical integration by our customers.

» We could be adversely affected if transitions in sgor management are not successfu

Our operations depend to a large extent on theateftd our senior management team. Since the begjrof 2013, several members
senior management team including our PresidentCimef Executive Officer, our Chief Financial Officand others have joined the Company.
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We seek to develop and retain an effective managetaam through the proper positioning of existiey employees and the additior
new management personnel where necessary. Outsre$wperations could be adversely affected ifigitions in senior management are
successful or if we are unable to sustain an effechanagement team.

» If we are unable to recruit or retain skilled persamnel, our business, operating results and financiatondition could be materially
adversely affected.

Retaining labor with the right skills at competiéiwages can be difficult in certain markets in vahiee are doing business, particul:
those locations that are seeing much inbound imerst and have highly mobile workforces. Conversatyracting sufficiently weleducate
and talented management, especially middle-managesngployees, in certain markets can be challenging

Our future success depends on our continuing phdiattract, train, integrate and retain highlylsd personnel, as competition for th
employees is intense. We may not be able to retairturrent skilled personnel or attract, trainegrate or retain other highly skilled persol
in the future. If we lose the services of our gldiworkforce, or if we are unable to attract, tramegrate and retain the highly skilled perso
we need, our business, operating results and fialacmndition could be materially adversely affette

» We may be adversely impacted by labor strikes, worktoppages and other matters

The hourly workforces at our Shadyside, Ohio facihind Mexico operations are unionized. The uniedizmployees at our No
American facilities, with the majority being repeeged in Mexico, represent approximately 48% of employees as of December 31, 2
We have experienced limited unionization efforte@tain of our other North American facilities findime to time. In addition, approximat
63% of our employees of our European, Asian andtraliasn operations were represented by a shop stea@mmittee, which may seek
limited our flexibility in our relationship with #sse employees. We may encounter future unionizatforts or other types of conflicts w
labor unions or our employees.

Many of our OEM customers and their suppliers &lave unionized work forces. Work stoppages or slowns experienced by OEI
or their other suppliers could result in slolewns or closures of assembly plants where ourymtsdare included in assembled comme
vehicles. In the event that one or more of ouramstrs or their suppliers experience a material vetwppage, such work stoppage could he¢
material adverse effect on our business.

» Provisions in our charter documents and Delaware la could discourage potential acquisition proposalsgould delay, deter o
prevent a change in control and could limit the pree certain investors might be willing to pay for ou stock.

Certain provisions of our certificate of incorpdéoat and bylaws may inhibit changes in control of our comparog approved by o
board of directors. These provisions include:
» aclassified board of directors with staggered &
» aprohibition on stockholder action through writtamsents
* arequirement that special meetings of stockholdersalled only by the board of directc
» advance notice requirements for stockholder prdp@sad director nomination
» limitations on the ability of stockholders to ameatter or repeal the -laws; anc

» the authority of the board of directors to issuéhout stockholder approval, preferred stock anehimmn stock with such terms
the board of directors may determi
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We are also afforded the protections of Section@Be Delaware General Corporation Law, which ldqrevent us from engaging il
business combination with a person who becomes/a disgreater stockholder for a period of three gdezm the date such person acqt
such status unless certain board or stockholdenoaals were obtained. These provisions could limé price that certain investors might
willing to pay in the future for shares of our commstock.

» Tax legislation initiatives or challenges to our ta positions could adversely affect our results ofgerations and financial condition.

We are a multinational corporation with operatiomshe United States and international jurisdicsioAs such, we are subject to the
laws and regulations of the U.S. federal, statelaoal governments and many international jurisdieg. From time to time, various legislat
initiatives may be proposed that could adverselgcafour tax positions. There can be no assurdmateour effective tax rate or tax paym
will not be adversely affected by these initiativesaddition, U.S. federal, state and local, al a®international, tax laws and regulations
extremely complex and subject to varying intergiets. There can be no assurance that our taxigosiill not be challenged by relevant
authorities or that we would be successful in amghschallenge.

 Litigation against us could be costly and time consning to defend, as a result, our businesses anchéincial position could bt
materially and adversely affected.

We are regularly subject to legal proceedings daiins that arise in the ordinary course of businessh as workerstompensatia
claims, OSHA investigations, employment disputegain labor practice charges, examination by therimal Revenue Service, customer
supplier disputes, intellectual property disputsyironmental claims and product liability claimssang out of the conduct of our busine
Litigation may result in substantial costs and rdagert managemers’attention and resources from the operation obosiness, which cot
have a material adverse effect on our businessltses operations or financial condition.

» Security breaches and other disruptions could commmise our information and expose us to liability, Wwich would cause ou
business and reputation to suffer.

In the ordinary course of our business, we coleead store sensitive data, including intellectuaperty, financial information, o
proprietary business information and that of oustomers, suppliers and business partners, and nadissadentifiable information of o1
customers and employees, in our data centers awdionetworks. The secure processing, maintenamgdéransmission of this information
critical to our operations and business strategsite our security measures, our information teldgy and infrastructure may be vulner:
to attacks by hackers or breached due to emplayeg enalfunction, malfeasance or other disruptiofsy such breach could compromise
networks and the information stored there couldabeessed, publicly disclosed, lost or stolen. Anghsaccess, disclosure or other los
information could result in legal claims or proceegs, liability under laws that protect the privamfypersonal information, regulatory penalt
disrupt our operations and the services we protddeustomers, damage our reputation, and causssaofoconfidence in our products
services, which could adversely affect our busir@gsour results of operations.

ltem 1B.  Unresolved Staff Commen
None.
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Item 2. Properties

Our corporate office is located in New Albany, Qh&everal of our manufacturing facilities are lechnhear our OEM customers
reduce our distribution costs, reduce risk of intptions in our delivery schedule, further impraestomer service and provide our custot
with reliable delivery of products and services.eTiollowing table provides selected information aeing our principal facilities as

December 31, 2014:

Location

Piedmont, Alabam
Douglas, Arizon:
Dalton, Georgit
Monona, lowe
Edgewood, low:
Michigan City, Indianz
Wixom, Michigan
Kings Mountain, North Carolin
Concord, North Carolin
Shadyside, Ohio

Chillicothe, Ohia
New Albany, Ohic
Tigard, Oregor
Vonore, Tennesse
Dublin, Virginia

Primary Product/Function
Seats & Mirrors
Warehoust
Trim & Warehouse
Wire Harnes:
Wire Harnes:
Wipers, Switche:
Engineering
Cab, Sleeper Bo
Injection Molding
Stamping of Steel and Aluminum Structural
and Exposed Stamped Compone
Interior Trim & Warehous:
Corporate Headquarters / R&
Interior Trim & Warehous:
Seats, Mirrors & Warehous
Interior Trim & Warehous:

Ownership Interest

Owned
Leasec
Leasec
Owned
Leasec
Leasec
Leasec
Owned
Leasec

Owned
Owned / Lease
Leasec
Leasec
Owned / Lease
Owned / Lease

Agua Prieta, Mexict Wire Harnes: Leasec
Saltillo, Mexico Interior Trim & Seat: Leasec
Northampton, United Kingdot Seats Leasec
Brisbane, Australii Seats Leasec
Sydney, Australii Seats Leasec
Shanghai, Chin Seats Leasec
Shanghai, Chin R&D Leasec
Brandys nad Orlici, Czech Repub Seats Owned
Liberec, Czech Republ Wire Harnes: Leasec
Baska (State of Gujarat) Inc Seats Leasec
Pune (State of Maharashtra), In Seats Leasec
Dharwad (State of Karnataka), Inc Seats Leasec
L’viv, Ukraine Wire Harnes: Leasec

We also have leased sales and service officessddatthe U.S., Belgium, Australia, Czech Repubhd France and a sales office bre
in Sweden. Our owned domestic facilities are subjediens securing our obligations under our reirg credit facility and 7.875% sen
secured notes due 2019. See Note 7 to our auditexsblidated financial statements in Item 8 in thisual Report on Form 10-K.
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Utilization of our facilities varies with North Amiean, European, Asian and Australian commercidlicle production and gene
economic conditions in such regions. All locatiare principally used for manufacturing or assembicept for our Wixom, Michigan a
New Albany, Ohio facilities, which are administregioffices.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:

We are subject to various legal proceedings anidhslarising in the ordinary course of businessluitiog, but not limited to, workers’
compensation claims, OSHA investigations, employtna@putes, unfair labor practice charges, custanedrsupplier disputes, product liabi
claims, intellectual property disputes, and envinental claims arising out of the conduct of ouribesses and examinations by the Inte
Revenue Service (“IRS")We are not involved in any litigation at this tinmewhich we expect that an unfavorable outcoméheffroceeding
will have a material adverse effect on our finahp@sition, results of operations or cash flows.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il

Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securitit

Our common stock is traded on the NASDAQ Globak8&eMarket under the symbol “CVGIThe following table sets forth the high «
low sale prices for our common stock, for the pgsiondicated as regularly reported by the NASDA®@Kal Select Market:

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 20:
Fourth Quarte $ 7.2¢8 $5.3¢
Third Quartel $10.91 $6.0C
Second Quarte $10.67 $8.64
First Quarte! $ 9.34 $7.1C

Year Ended December 31, 20:
Fourth Quarte $ 9.9t $6.8¢
Third Quartel $ 8.41 $6.8¢
Second Quarte $ 8.4¢ $6.7¢
First Quartel $ 9.04 $7.31

As of March 16, 2015, there were 173 holders obr@of our outstanding common stock.

We have not declared or paid any dividends to thiddrs of our common stock in the past and do nttipate paying dividends in t
foreseeable future. Any future payment of dividemsvithin the discretion of the Board of Directaad will depend upon, among ot
factors, the capital requirements, operating resauttd financial condition of CVG. In addition, ability to pay cash dividends is limited un
the terms of the Second Amended and Restated LinduSacurity Agreement (“Second ARLS Agreemetid the indenture governing
7.875% notes, as described in more detail undendgament’s Discussion and Analysis —Liquidity arapital Resources -Bebt and Cred
Facilities.”
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The following graph compares the cumulative fivesy®tal return to holders of Commercial Vehicleo@, Inc.5 common stock to tl

cumulative total returns of the NASDAQ Compositaldrn and a Peer Group that includes Meritor Inc., BZ® Holdings, Inc., Tita
International Inc., Modine Manufacturing Co., EnPndustries Inc., Accuride Corporation, Stoneridige, Altra Industrial Motion Corp., L.I

Foster Company, Fuel Systems Technologies Ince Gtwiding Technologies Inc. and Williams Contrale | During 2013, Altra Holdings Ir
changed its name to Altra Industrial Motion Corpdditionally, during 2013, Cascade Corp. and Willla@ontrols Inc. were acquired
separate transactions. As such, they are no loingkrded in the peer group. The graph assumesthigatvalue of the investment in

Companys common stock, in the peer group and the indetu@ing reinvestment of dividends) was $100 on Dawer 31, 2009 and track:

through December 31, 2014.

3300, 00

250,00
L2060,00 ¢ / \
%850.00 //.\

S e— ——— |

E{EIHI,EHI

550,001

s0.00 T T
Do, 31, 2009 Dec. 31, 20040 Dec. 31, 2011

T

Dec, 31, 2012

T

Dec. 31, 2013

Dec, 31, 2014

—&— Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. —k— NASDAQ Composite —e— Feer Group

* Based on $100 invested on December 31, 2009 ik stoiadex, including reinvestment of dividen

12/31/09 12/31/10 | 12/31/11 | 12/3112 | 12/31/13 [ 12/31/14
Commercial Vehicle Group, In 100.00 | 271.29 | 150.67 | 136.91 | 121.23 | 111.06
NASDAQ Composite 100.00 | 118.14 | 117.19 [ 137.84 | 193.20 | 221.86
Peer Grou| 100.00 | 175.54 | 110.52 | 134.30 | 187.53 | 204.31
The information in the graph and table above is ‘isoticitation material,” is not deemed “filedkith the Securities and Exchat

Commission and is not to be incorporated by refegein any of our filings under the Securities A£t1833, as amended, or the Secur
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, whether madadefoafter the date of this annual report, exdepthe extent that we specifice

incorporate such information by reference.
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The following table sets forth information in comtien with purchases made by, or on behalf of, uany affiliated purchaser, of sha
of our common stock during the quarterly periodeshBecember 31, 2014:

(c) Total (d) Maximum
Number of Number (or
Shares (or Approximate
Units) Dollar Value) of
Purchased a Shares (or Units]
(a) Total (b) Average Part of that May Yet Be
Number of Publicly Purchased Unde
Shares (or Units Price Paid Announced
per Share Plans or the Plans or
Purchased (or Unit) Programs Prgrams
Month #1
(October 1, 2014 through
October 31, 2014 90,23¢ $ 5.9 — —
Month #2

(November 1, 2014 through

November 30, 201/ — — — _
Month #3

(December 1, 2014 through

December 31, 201« — — — _

We did not repurchase any of our common stock enofhben market as part of a stock repurchase prodtaimg the fourth quarter
2014. However, our employees surrendered 90,23@slud our common stock in 2014 to satisfy tax hdtlling obligations on the vesting
restricted stock awards issued under our Fourth sieeé and Restated Equity Incentive Plan. At theuahmeeting of the Compary’
shareholders held in May 2014, the shareholdersoapd the Company’s 2014 Equity Incentive Plan (@14 Plan”).

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities
We did not sell any equity securities during 2014t tvere not registered under the Securities Ad981B, as amended.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

The following table sets forth selected consoliddisancial data regarding our business and ceitalostry information and should
read in conjunction with “Management’s Discussiord &Analysis of Financial Condition and Results gie€ations,”and our consolidatt
financial statements and notes thereto includesldisre in this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

Material Events Affecting Financial Statement Corapdity:

Our acquisitions of Bostrom Seating (“Bostrom”) éttlatos Seating (“Stratosif) 2011 materially impacted our results of operagian
as a result, our consolidated financial statemfemtthe years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 an2l &@&Lnot comparable to the results o
prior periods presented without consideration efitiformation provided in Note 4 to our consolidhfmancial statements contained in Ite
of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year eh@&cember 31, 2011.

Years Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in thousands, except per share date

Statement of Operations Data

Revenue: $839,74:  $747,71¢ $857,91t  $832,02! $597,77¢
Cost of revenue 732,05 667,98¢ 741,37t 716,43( 522,98.

Gross profit 107,68t 79,72¢ 116,53t 115,59: 74,791
Selling, general and administrative exper 72,48( 71,711 71,94¢ 65,52: 56,11:
Amortization expens 1,51t 1,58( 49: 34¢ 24C
Restructuring cost — — — 66¢ 1,73(

Operating incom 33,69: 6,43¢ 44,09¢ 49,05¢ 16,71¢
Other expense (incom 21t 13¢ 69 358 (4,780
Interest expens 20,71¢ 21,08 20,94¢ 19,57( 16,83«
Loss on early extinguishment of d¢ — — — 7,44¢

Income (loss) before (benefit) provision for incotares 12,76: (14,789 23,08: 21,68t 4,66
Provision (benefit) for income tax 5,131 (2,337) (26,949 3,09¢ (1,82%)

Net income (loss 7,631 (12,45)) 50,03( 18,59( 6,481
Less: Nor-controlling interest in subsidig’s income (loss 1 (6) (47) (15) —
Net income (loss) attributable to CVG stockholc $ 7,63 $(12,44Y $ 50,077 $18,60f $ 6,48i
Income (loss) per share attributable to commonkstoiders:

Basic $ 02 $ (04 $ 177 $ 067 $ 0.2t

Diluted $ 02 $ (04 $ 17¢ $ 066 $ 0.2¢
Weighted average common shares outstani

Basic 28,92¢ 28,23( 28,23( 27,84¢ 26,247

Diluted 29,117 28,42¢ 28,42¢ 28,19( 26,99

37



Table of Contents

Balance Sheet Data (at end of each period):
Working capital (current assets less current litd)
Total asset
Total liabilities, excluding dek
Total debt
Total CVG stockholde’ equity (deficit)
Total nor-controlling interes
Total stockholder equity (deficit)
Other Data:
Net cash provided by (used ii
Operating activitie:
Investing activities
Financing activitie:
Depreciation and amortizatic
Capital expenditures, n

North American Heav-duty (Class 8) Truck Production (unit

@ SourceACT N.A. Commercial Vehicle OUTLO((February 2015)

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
(Dollars in thousands, except per share date

$201,76(  $185,15¢ $195,31¢ $193,78. $116,07
442,01 432,44 439,66! 406,88 286,20°
133,17 122,46: 122,35 144,10¢ 121,33.
250,00( 250,00( 250,00( 250,00( 164,98
58,80: 59,94¢ 66,28¢ 12,76¢ (112
35 33 22 9 —
58,83¢ 59,97¢ 66,30¢ 12,77¢ (112
$ 9,51¢ $ 19,15¢ $ 24,04¢ $ 7,79« $ 17,56:
(12,289 (12,949 (42,759 (32,379 (9,95%)
(527) (937) (1,17 (70,930 24,73(
18,24 20,58: 14,06 12,57¢ 11,56¢
14,56¢ 13,66¢ 18,64: 22,29: 10,64¢
297,00( 245,00( 279,00( 255,00( 154,00(
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Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation

You should read the following discussion and arngliys conjunction with the information set forthder “Iltem 6 —Selected Financi
Data” and our consolidated financial statements and tin¢es thereto included in Item 8 in this Annugb&eon Form 10K. The statements
this discussion regarding industry outlook, our esgations regarding our future performance, liqtydand capital resources and other non
historical statements in this discussion are fordvdooking statements. See “Forward-Looking Inforimat on page ii of this Annual Report
Form 1(-K. These forwardeoking statements are subject to numerous riské wmcertainties, including, but not limited to, thisks ant
uncertainties described under “ltem 1A — Risk FestoOur actual results may differ materially from thosentained in or implied by a
forward-looking statements.

Company Overview

Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. is a Delaware (USAyporation. We were formed as a privathgld company in August 2000. \
became a publicly held company in 2004. The Company its subsidiaries) is a leading supplier dfilarange of cab related products i
systems for the global commercial vehicle market|uding the medium-and heavy-duty truck (“MD/HDUEK”) market, the mediumanc
heavy-construction vehicle market, and the militabys, agriculture, specialty transportation, monitndustrial equipment and ofac
recreational markets.

We have manufacturing operations in the UnitedeStatlexico, United Kingdom, Czech Republic, Ukrai@ina, India and Austral
Our products are primarily sold in North Americair&pe, and the Asia/Pacific region.

Our products include seats and seating systemat§3getrim systems and components (“Trim&ab structures, sleeper boxes, t
panels and structural components; mirrors, wip@id eontrols; and electronic wire harness and passémblies specifically designed
applications in commercial vehicles.

We are differentiated from automotive industry digrp by our ability to manufacture low volume, tamized products on a sequen
basis to meet the requirements of our customersb®leve our products are used by a majority of Nleeth American MD/HD Truck ar
certain leading global construction and agricultariginal equipment manufacturers (“OEMs%Which we believe creates an opportunit
cross-sell our products.

Business Overview

Demand for our heavy truck products is generallgetelent on the number of new heavy truck commexahicles manufactured
North America, which in turn is a function of geakeconomic conditions, interest rates, changegowvernmental regulations, consul
spending, fuel costs, freight costs and our custshir@ventory levels and production rates. New heaugkrcommercial vehicle demand
historically been cyclical and is particularly sitie to the industrial sector of the economy, whgenerates a significant portion of the fre
tonnage hauled by commercial vehicles. The NortheAcan Class 8 market declined in 2013 as produdggels decreased approxima
12% from 2012; however, production levels reboun@&®h in 2014. According to a February 2015 repertAlCT Research, a publisher
industry market research, North American Class@lpction levels are expected to peak at 340,00Ditb, decline to 242,000 in 2018
increase to 286,000 in 2019. We believe the denfandew Class 8 vehicles will be driven by sevdgaltors, including growth in freig
volumes and the replacement of aging vehicles. A@&casts that the total U.S. freight compositeeindill increase from 114.1 in 2014
144.1 in 2019. ACT estimates that the average agetive U.S. Class 8 trucks is 10.6 years in 20df¢ch is consistent with the average ac
2013. As vehicles age, their maintenance costsallgiincrease. ACT forecasts that the vehiclewatjedecline as aging fleets are replaced.
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In 2014, approximately 44% of our revenue was gaedrfrom sales to North American healgty truck OEMs. Our remaining rever
in 2014 was primarily derived from sales to OEMgtia global construction equipment market, aftek®grOE service organizations, militi
market and other commercial vehicle specialty markeemand for our products is driven to a sigaificdegree by preferences of the eisd-
of the commercial vehicle, particularly with respaz heavyduty (Class 8) trucks. Unlike the automotive indgstommercial vehicle OEN
generally afford the endser the ability to specify many of the componeattp that will be used to manufacture the commenahicle
including a wide variety of cab interior styles aralors, the brand and type of seats, type of fadmiic and color and specific mirror styling.
addition, certain of our products are only utilizadNorth American MD / HD Truck market, such as storage systems, sleeper boxes, sl
bunks and privacy curtains, and, as a result, adsimg demand for heawuty (Class 8) trucks or the mix of options on aigke can have
greater impact on our business than changes iotbeall demand for commercial vehicles. To the eixthat demand for higher cont
vehicles increases or decreases, our revenuesasslgrofit will be impacted positively or negative

Demand for our construction products is dependarthe overall vehicle demand for new commercialiclek in the global constructi
equipment market and generally follows certain eooic conditions around the world. Our products @nienarily used in the medium/hee
construction equipment markets (weighing over 1Zrime@ons). Demand in the medium/heavy construcegguipment market is typica
related to the level of larger scale infrastructdevelopment projects such as highways, dams, tarbospitals, airports and indust
development, as well as activity in the mining,efsiry and other raw material based industries. Qievhand for our products is direc
correlated with new vehicle production. We gengratimpete for new business at the beginning ofithelopment of a new vehicle platfc
and upon the redesign of existing programs. Newigrta development generally begins at least orthree years before the marketing of ¢
models by our customers. Contract durations for mengial vehicle products generally extend for tidire life of the platform, which
typically five to seven years.

Our Long-term Strategy

In 2014, we concluded our lontgkm strategic planning process known as CVG 20205 2020 is a roadmap by product, geogra
region, and end market to guide resource allocatiodh other decision making to achieve our 2020 gyda that end, we evaluated
opportunity to grow organically by end market. Werently believe we have approximately 5% marketrstof the addressable global tr
bus, construction and agriculture end markets. Adingly, we believe we have significant opportuntty grow organically in our el
markets. We evaluated our product portfolio in ttmntext of this organic market growth opportunitgdaour ability to win in th
marketplace. Our core products are seats, trimnaredharnesses and our complementary productsdedtructures, wipers, mirrors and of
seats. We expect to realize some geographic diiatsdn over the planned period toward A§lacific. We also expect to realize some
market diversification more weighted toward thei@gture market, and to a lesser extent the cootitmu market. We intend to alloci
resources consistent with our strategic plan; anderspecifically, consistent with our core and ctanmentary product portfolio, geograp
region and end market diversification objectives. uch, we expect to increase our capital spendigve invest in our facilities, sa
opportunities, Operational Excellence initiativesl ather activities.

Although our longterm strategic plan is an organic growth plan, vt @ensider opportunistic acquisitions to supplerneur produc
portfolio, and to enhance our ability to serve oustomers in our geographic end markets.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

See Note 2 to our consolidated financial statementgem 8 in this Annual Report on Form KOfor a description of recently isst
and/or adopted accounting pronouncements.
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Consolidated Results of Operations
The table below sets forth certain operating damessed as a percentage of revenues for the penidi¢ated (dollars are in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Revenues $839,74: 100.%  $747,71¢ 100.(% $857,91¢ 100.(%
Cost of revenue 732,05! 87.2 667,98¢ 89.2 741,37¢ 86.4
Gross profit 107,68t 12.¢ 79,72¢ 10.7 116,53t 13.€
Selling, general and administrative exper 72,48( 8.€ 71,71: 9.€ 71,94¢ 8.4
Amortization expens 1,51t 0.2 1,58( 0.2 492 0.1
Operating incom: 33,69: 4.C 6,43¢ 0.¢ 44,09¢ 5.1
Other expens 21t — 13¢ — 69 —
Interest expens 20,71¢ 2.5 21,081 2.8 20,94¢ 2.4
Income before provision (benefit) for incor
taxes 12,76: iLg (14,78%) (2.9 23,08: 2.7
Provision (benefit) for income tax 5,131 0.€ (2,337%) (0.3 (26,94%) (3.0
Net income (Loss 7,631 0.¢ (12,45) (1.6 50,03( 5.7
Less: Non-controlling interest in
subsidiar’s income (loss 1 — (6) — (47 —
Net income (loss) attributable to common
stockholders $ 7,63( 0.9%  $(12,44% 1.6¢% $ 50,07" 5.7%

Year Ended December 31, 2014 Compared to Year Endé&ecember 31, 2013
C ONSOLIDATED R ESULTS

Revenues. On a consolidated basis, revenue increased $8iflion, or 12.3%, to $839.7 million for the yeanded December 31, 2(
compared to $747.7 million for the year ended Ddmm31, 2013. The increase in sales primarily tedulrom increased North Americ
MD / HD Truck production volumes and increased sahto the North American construction and agrimdtmarkets. Specifically, the $9
million revenue increase on a consolidated basiglted from:

* a $48.7 million, or 15%, increase primarily in OBldrth American MD/HD Truck revenue

* a $25.0 million or 17% increase in North AmericaBNDconstruction revenue

* a $6.9 million, or 5%, increase in aftermarket reves;

» a $5.0 million, or 53%, increase in agricultureawues; an

* a $6.4 million, or 5%, increase in revenues froheomarkets

Gross Profit.  Gross profit increased $28.0 million to $10wiflion for the year ended December 31, 2014 fror.% million for the
year ended December 31, 2013. Included in grod# pa@ost of revenues which consists primarilyrafv materials and purchased compor
for our products, wages and benefits for our emgdgyand overhead expenses such as manufacturipliesugacility rent and utilities cos
related to our operations. Cost of revenues inexta64.1 million, or 9.6%, resulting from an ingean raw material and purcha
component costs of $51.6 million, wages and benefit$5.9 million and overhead costs of $6.6 millid\s a percentage of revenues, ¢

profit increased to 12.8% for the year ended Deaar3th, 2014 from 10.7% for the year ended Decer@beP013. The increase in gross pi
resulted from the increase in sales
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volume as well as norecurrence of asset impairments incurred in 2018uaning to $2.7 million. This was offset by a laxfs$0.8 million or
the sale of our Norwalk, Ohio facility and $1.3 liih in closure costs of our Tigard, Oregon fagilit

Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative expensesisb primarily of wages and benefits
other overhead expenses such as marketing, tlagel, audit, rent and utilities costs, which ac directly or indirectly associated with
manufacturing of our products. Selling, general adohinistrative expense increased $0.8 millionl.&f%6, to $72.5 million for the year enc
December 31, 2014 from $71.7 million for the yeaded December 31, 2013. The net increase in setiieigeral and administrative exper
primarily resulted from additional spending incuti@ 2014 to support enhancements in the mannehtoh we go to market, including 1
development of a product line management infrasirec actions to institutionalize our operationatalence efforts; and the development
centrally led procurement organization. In additidaring 2013 we incurred expense of $2.8 million third party consulting services, $
million of expense related to the change in the Gamy's executive leadership and $1.8 million of expeioseemployee separations. We
not incur similar charges in the year ended Decer@be2014.

Interest Expense. Interest expense decreased $0.4 million to7&0llion for the year ended December 31, 2014nf&21.1 million fo
the year ended December 31, 2013.

Provision (Benefit) for Income Taxes. Our provision for income taxes increased by$illion to $5.1 million for the year end
December 31, 2014 compared to an income tax besfe$ip.3 million for the year ended December 31120This primarily resulted from t
mix of income between our U.S. and ndr. locations, and tax valuation allowances emiabtl or released during the year. In 2
we established a valuation allowances for defeta®dssets associated with certain U.S. statedtmperating loss carry forwards that we |
determined are likely to expire before they canutiézed. In addition, tax benefits are not recam in U.K., China, Ukraine and India wh
we are subject to valuation allowances. We releasduhtion allowances in the Czech Republic andelourg that had been establis
against deferred assets in prior years. For additilnformation regarding the deviation from statytincome tax refer to Note 9 of «
consolidated financial statements in Iltem 8 in thisual Report on Form 10-K.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to CVG StockholdersNet income attributable to CVG stockholders\$a.6 million for the year e
December 31, 2014 compared to a loss of $12.4amiftir the year ended December 31, 2013.

SEGMENT R ESULTS

In the fourth quarter of 2014, two reportable segtmavere established: the Global Truck and Bus ®egrfiGTB Segment”and ths
Global Construction and Agriculture Segment (“GCAg8ient”). Each of these segments consists of a number of faxgtating facilities
Generally, the facilities in the GTB Segment mantifiee and sell seats and seating systems (“Se#isti) systems and components, wip
mirrors, structures and other products into the MED Truck and bus markets. Generally, the faeitin the GCA Segment manufacture
sell wire harnesses, Seats and other productshiatoonstruction and agriculture markets. Both sagmparticipate in the aftermarket. Cer
of our manufacturing facilities manufacture and gebducts through both of our segments. Each naartufing facility that sells produt
through both segments is reflected in the finan@aults of the segment that has the greatest anodwsales from that manufacturing facil
Our segments are more specifically described below.

The GTB Segment manufactures and sells the follgwioducts:

e Seats; Trim; sleeper boxes; and cab structuras;tstal components and body panels. These produetsold primarily to the MC
HD Truck markets in North Americi

» Seats to the truck and bus markets in Asia Paaiftt Europe
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» Mirrors and wiper systems to the truck, bus, adtira, construction, rail and military markets imfth America,;
» Trim to the recreational and specialty vehicle neark North America; an
» Aftermarket seats and components into North Ame

The GCA Segment manufactures and sells the follgywhoducts:

» Electronic wire harness assemblies, and Seatofomercial, construction, agricultural, industralitomotive and mining industries
North America, Europe and Asia Pacil

» Aftermarket seats and components in Europe and Patéic

» Office seating in Europe and Asia Paci

» Seats to the truck and bus markets in Asia Paaifftt Europe; an

» Wiper systems to the construction and agricultusekets in Europe

See Note 10 of the Notes to Consolidated Finar&talements under ItemHinancial Statements and Supplementary Cratarestate
financial information by segment for each of theethyears ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2@2ding information on sales and as
by geographic area.

Global Truck and Bus Segment Results

2014 2013
(amounts in thousands;

Revenues $534,11¢ 100.%  $473,24! 100.(%

Gross Profit 81,43( 15.2 59,52/ 12.€

Selling, General & Administrative Expenses 28,89( 5.4 28,03¢ 5.¢

Operating Income 51,17: 9.€ 30,05¢ 6.4

Revenues. GTB Segment revenues increased $60.9 millioh209% to $534.1 million for the year ended Decenfi, 2014 fror
$473.2 million for the year ended December 31, 20h& increase in GTB Segment revenues is primarnigsult of:

* a $48.0 million, or 16%, increase primarily in OBMrth American MD/HD Truck revenue
* a $4.1 million, or 4%, increase in aftermarket reves;

* a $3.4 million, or 13%, increase in OEM bus revenaad

* a $5.4 million, or 13%, increase in revenues fralreomarkets

Gross Profit. GTB Segment gross profit increased $21.9 mmijlir 36.8%, to $81.4 million for the year ended:@aber 31, 2014 fro
$59.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2048luded in gross profit is cost of revenues whicimsists primarily of raw material €
purchased component costs for our products, wageéshanefits for our employees and overhead expessas as manufacturing suppl
facility rent and utilities costs related to oureogtions. Cost of revenues increased $39.0 milliwr9.4%, as a result of an increase in
material and purchased component costs of $31libmikalaries and benefits of $4.7 million and dead of $2.6 million. As a percentagt
revenues, gross profit increased to 15.2% for thar yended December 31, 2014 from 12.6% for the gaded December 31, 2013. °
increase in gross profit resulted from the increasesales volume as well as nogcurrence of machinery and equipment and IT
impairments incurred in 2013 amounting to $2.7 iomill This was offset by closure costs of $1.3 miilliassociated with the closure of
Tigard, Oregon facility and an impairment charg&@ million resulting from the sale of our NorkiaDhio facility.
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Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative expensesisb primarily of wages and benefits
other overhead expenses such as marketing, tlagel, audit, rent and utilities costs, which ac directly or indirectly associated with
manufacturing of our products. GTB Segment sellggneral and administrative expenses increasedr#llidn, or 3.0%, to $28.9 million fc
the year ended December 31, 2014 from $28.0 mifborthe year ended December 31, 2013. The incrieassgling, general and administral
expenses is primarily the result of additional speg incurred in 2014 to support enhancementsamthanner to which we go to market.

Global Construction and Agriculture Segment Results

2014 2013
(amounts in thousands’
Revenues $317,20: 100.(%  $282,83" 100.(%
Gross Profit 29,58 9.2 24,36¢ 8.€
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses 21,90: 6.¢ 19,27: 6.8
Operating Income 7,538 2.4 4,94: 1.8

Revenues. GCA Segment revenues increased $34.4 milliod2t% to $317.2 million for the year ended Decen3ie 2014 fror
$282.8 million for the year ended December 31, 20h& increase in GCA Segment revenue is primarilgsult of:

* a $23.6 million, or 17%, increase in North Ameri€@BM construction revenu
* a $4.8 million, or 61%, increase in agricultureamues; an
e a $6.0 million, or 4%, increase in revenues frolmeomarkets

Gross Profit.  GCA Segment gross profit increased $5.2 nmilior 21.4%, to $29.6 million for the year endecc®aber 31, 2014 fro
$24.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2048luded in gross profit is cost of revenues whicimsists primarily of raw material €
purchased component costs for our products, wageéshanefits for our employees and overhead expessas as manufacturing suppl
facility rent and utilities costs related to oureogtions. Cost of revenues increased $29.1 millborl1.3%, as a result of an increase in
material and purchased component costs of $23lbmikalaries and benefits of $1.2 million and tnead of $4.4 million. As a percentagt
revenues, gross profit increased to 9.3% for tteg gaded December 31, 2014 from 8.6% for the yede@ December 31, 2013. The incr¢
in gross profit resulted from the increase in sa@ame, partially offset by foreign currency exoa transaction impacts of $1.0 million.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative expensesist primarily of wages and benefits
other overhead expenses such as marketing, tlagel, audit, rent and utilities costs, which ac directly or indirectly associated with
manufacturing of our products. GCA Segment sellggperal and administrative expenses increasedr®ién or 13.6% to $21.9 million
the year ended December 31, 2014 from $19.3 mifbonthe year ended December 31, 2013. The incrieasalling, general and administrai
expenses primarily resulted from the increase titmshal spending incurred in 2014 to support emeaments in the manner to which we g
market.

Year Ended December 31, 2013 Compared to Year Endé&kcember 31, 2012
Consolidated Results

Revenues. Consolidated revenue decreased $110.2 milbori,2.8%, to $747.7 million for the year ended &uaber 31, 2013 fro
$857.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2012 decrease in sales primarily resulted fromretexed North American MD / HD Tru
production volumes and customer destocking in tbhbaj construction markets we serve.

* a $85.0 million, or 20%, decrease primarily in OBdrth American MD/HD Truck revenu
» a $45.7 million, or 23%, decrease in global coriom revenue driven by customer destocking;
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* a$11.7 million, or 43%, decrease in military rewemriven by a significant decline in US governmmilitary defense spendin

The market declines noted above were offset by.@ ®flion, or 24%, increase in OEM bus revenue ar$27.6 million, or 59% incree
in other markets.

Gross Profit.  Gross profit decreased $36.8 million to $7@i8ion for the year ended December 31, 2013 fraida6&5 million for th
year ended December 31, 2012. Included in grosf# ga@ost of revenues, which consists primarifyraw material and purchased compol
costs for our products, wages and benefits foremoployees and overhead expenses such as manufgcsupplies, facility rent and utiliti
costs related to our operations. Cost of reveneesedsed $73.4 million, or 9.9%, resulting fromeglohe in raw material and purcha
component costs of $57.9 million, a decrease inewamnd benefits costs of $20.1 million associati#kd & decline in sales volume. This \
offset by an increase in overhead costs of $4.6amitlue primarily to impairment of machinery ariddquipment. As a result, gross profit
percentage of revenues decreased to 10.7% foretireeynded December 31, 2013 from 13.6% for the greded December 31, 2012.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative expensaesist primarily of wages and benefits
other expenses such as marketing, travel, legalit,atent and utilities costs which are not dirgctir indirectly associated with t
manufacturing of our products. Selling, general addninistrative expenses were substantially theesatr$71.7 million for the year enc
December 31, 2013 compared to $71.9 million forytear ended December 31, 2012. Cost savings infaragk bonus and travel totaling $
million were offset by $7.1 million in costs to ¢ige executive leadership, for consulting expensdda employee separation costs.

Interest Expense. Interest expense increased $0.2 million to.$2illion for the year ended December 31, 2018f&20.9 million fo
the year ended December 31, 2012.

(Benefit) Provision for Income Taxes. Our benefit for income taxes decreased $24liiomto a benefit of $2.3 million for the ye
ended December 31, 2013 compared to an incomeeiaefib of $26.9 million for the year ended DecemBgr 2012. This decrease in the
benefit resulted primarily from a naeeurring benefit associated with the release ofiektic valuation allowances that resulted in arorimg
tax benefit in 2012 of $26.9 million. For additidriaformation regarding the deviation from statyt@ncome tax rates, refer to Note 9 of
consolidated financial statements in Iltem 8 in thisual Report on Form 10-K.

Net Income (Loss) Attributable to CVG StockholdersNet loss attributable to CVG stockholders W&2.4 million for the year end
December 31, 2013 compared to net income of $50libmfor the year ended December 31, 2012.

Global Truck and Bus Segment Results

2013 2012
(amounts in thousands;
Revenues $473,24! 100.%  $545,35! 100.(%
Gross Profit 59,52/ 12.€ 81,46¢ 14.¢
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses 28,03¢ 5.¢ 27,38t 5.C
Operating Income 30,05¢ 6.4 53,74( 9.¢

Revenues. GTB Segment revenues decreased $72.1 millioh3d2% to $473.2 million for the year ended Decendde 2013 fror
$545.4 million for the year ended December 31, 20h2 decline in GTB Segment revenue is primaritgsult of:

* an $84.4 million, or 22%, decrease primarily in OBMrth American MD/HD Truck revenues; a
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* a $2.7 million, or 3%, decrease in aftermarket nenee

The market declines noted above were offset by.@& ®flion, or 32%, increase in OEM bus revenue ar&8.4 million, or 25%, incres
in revenues from other markets.

Gross Profit.  GTB Segment gross profit declined $21.9 million26.9%, to $59.5 million for the year ended &waber 31, 2013 fro
$81.5 million for the year ended December 31, 20d@uded in gross profit is cost of revenues whicsists primarily of raw material €
purchased component costs for our products, wageéshanefits for our employees and overhead expessas as manufacturing suppl
facility rent and utilities costs related to oureogtions. Cost of revenues decreased $50.2 milbord.9%, resulting from a decline in r
material and purchased component costs of $38Ibmik decrease in wages and benefits of $11.0omihnd a decrease in overhead of .
million. Gross profit as a percentage of sales idedl to 12.6% for the year ended December 31, 2048 14.9% for the year end
December 31, 2012. The decrease in gross profiftess primarily from the decrease in sales volumd ampairments of machinery &
equipment and IT assets totaling $2.7 million ie ylear ended December 31, 2013.

Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative expensesists primarily of wages and benefits
other expenses such as marketing, travel, legalit,atent and utilities costs which are not dirgctir indirectly associated with t
manufacturing of our products. GTB Segment sellgeneral and administrative expense increasedrillién or 2.6% to $28.0 million for t
year ended December 31, 2013 from $27.4 millionttier year ended December 31, 2012. The increaste@primarily from an increase
employee separation costs, partially offset by sastngs in workforce, bonus and travel.

Global Construction and Agriculture Segment Results

2013 2012
(amounts in thousands’
Revenues $282,83° 100.(%  $326,73! 100.(%
Gross Profit 24,36¢ 8.€ 37,63: 115
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses 19,27: 6.€ 20,39¢ 6.2
Operating Income 4,94: 1.7 17,08: 5.2

Revenue. GCA Segment revenue decreased $43.9 milliod304% to $282.8 million for the year ended Decenddgr2013 fror
$326.7 million for the year ended December 31, 20h2 decrease in GCA Segment sales is primarngsalt of:

* a$41.3 million, or 23%, decrease in global corcttom revenues
* a $10.0 million, or 42%, decrease in military rewes; anc
* a $7.9 million, or 16%, decrease in aftermarkeeneies

The market declines noted above were offset by &a8illion, or 49%, increase in automotive revenamd a $1.5 million, or 2¢
increase in other revenues.

Gross Profit. GCA Segment gross profit decreased $13.3 millar 35.7%, to $24.4 million for the year endedc@maber 31, 201
from $37.3 million for the year ended December&112. Included in gross profit is cost of revenudsch consist primarily of raw mater
and purchased component costs for our productsesvagd benefits for our employees and overheadhegpesuch as manufacturing supg
facility rent and utilities costs related to oureogtions. Cost of revenues decreased $30.6 miltiori,0.6%, resulting from a decline in 1
material and purchased component costs of $25l&mik decrease in wages and benefits of $3.2amikkind a decrease in overhead of
million. As a percentage of revenue, GCA Segmeosgprofit declined to 8.6% for the year ended Dz 31, 2013 from 11.5% for the y
ended December 31, 2012. The decrease in gross ®dilted from the decrease in sales volume aneigh currency exchange transac
impacts of $1.3 million.
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Selling, General and Administrative ExpensesSelling, general and administrative expensesisb primarily of wages and benefits
other expenses such as marketing, travel, legalit,atent and utilities costs which are not dirgctir indirectly associated with t
manufacturing of our products. GCA Segment sellggneral and administrative expense declined $1llibm or 5.4%, to $19.3 million fc
the year ended December 31, 2013 from $20.4 miftorthe year ended December 31, 2012. The decreasted primarily from cost savir
in workforce, bonus and travel.

Liquidity and Capital Resources
Cash Flows

Our primary sources of liquidity during the yeaded December 31, 2014 were cash generated fromatheof our various products
our customers throughout the year. We believe ¢hah from operations, existing cash reserves, aatiahility under our revolving crec
facility will provide adequate funds for our workjrcapital needs, planned capital expenditures asth interest payments through 2(
However, no assurance can be given that this withie case. We did not borrow under our revolvirglit facility during 2014.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, cash provgemperations was approximately $9.5 million conegato approximately $1¢
million in the year ended December 31, 2013. Tleisrease was primarily the result of higher workiagital, specifically accounts receive
and inventory, due to higher sales volume. This paasially offset by higher net income resultingrfr higher sales volume. For the year el
December 31, 2013, cash provided by operationsappsoximately $19.2 million compared to approxihat24.0 million in the year end
December 31, 2012. This decrease was primarilyréselt of lower net income, partially offset by wetions in working capital as
consequence of the reduction in sales.

Net cash used in investing activities was approsege$12.3 million for the year ended December@114 compared to approximat
$12.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2@t®} approximately $42.8 million for the year endtember 31, 2012. The decreas
cash used for investing activities for the yearesh®ecember 31, 2014 compared to 2013 was due filsin@a decline in cash contributi
premiums into the life insurance policies useduiodfthe Companyg deferred compensation plan, slightly offset tymell increase in capi
expenditures. The decrease in cash used for imgeattivities for the year ended December 31, 2@iBpared to 2012 was due to a payr
of $24.5 million related to our acquisitions of &jjyot (“VSPL") and Daltek that occurred in 2012.

Net cash provided by financing activities totalgghximately $0.5 million for the year ended Decem®1, 2014 compared to net ¢
used of $0.9 million for the year ended December2®1 3, and net cash used of approximately $1.Romifor the year ended December
2012. The net cash provided by financing activif@sthe year ended December 31, 2014 primarilylted from loan proceeds taken age
our life insurance policies to fund deferred comgaion payments totaling $1.6 million. The net caskd in financing activities for the y
ended December 31, 2013 primarily related to tlieeader of common stock by employees upon vestinbeir restricted stock and additio
debt financing costs incurred upon the extensioauwfSecond ARLS Agreement. The net cash usedniayding activities for the year enc
December 31, 2012 primarily related to the surremfieommon stock by employees upon vesting ofr tresitricted stock.

As of December 31, 2014, cash held by foreign slidrsés was approximately $22.4 million. If we weoerepatriate any portion of the
funds back to the U.S. we would accrue and payagiropriate withholding and income taxes on amougpstriated. We do not intend
repatriate funds held by our foreign affiliatest kather we intend to use the cash to fund the tirmfrour foreign operations.
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Debt and Credit Facilities

As of December 31, 2014, our outstanding indebtssirm®nsisted of an aggregate of $250.0 million .875% notes due 2019 (
“7.875% notes”)In addition, we had $2.9 million of outstandingtées of credit under various financing arrangements$ an additional $37
million of borrowing capacity under our revolvingedit facility, which is subject to an availabilibjock.

Revolving Credit Facility

On November 15, 2013, the Company and certain osabsidiaries, as borrowers (collectively, thertbavers”) entered into a Seco
ARLS Agreement with Bank of America, N.A. as agantl lender, which amended and restated the AmemadgdRestated Loan and Sect
Agreement, dated as of April 26, 2011.

The material terms of the Second ARLS Agreemeritudecthe following:
A facility in the amount of up to $40.0 million withe ability to increase up to an additional $38ilion under certain condition:

» Availability is subject to borrowing base limitatis and an availability block equal to the amoundetht and foreign cash managen
services Bank of America, N.A. or its affiliates kea available to the Compé’s foreign subsidiarie!

 Availability of up to an aggregate amount of $1@illion for the issuance of letters of credit, whieduces the total amount availal
» Extension of the maturity date to November 15, 2!

* Amendments to certain covenants to provide additidlexibility, including (i) conditional permittediistributions, permitted forei
investments, and permitted acquisitions on mininavailability, fixed charge coverage ratio and ottegjuirements, and (ii) permitti
certain sal-leaseback transactior

* Permitting the repurchase of the Com(’'s 7.875% notes due 2019 under certain circumstaand

* Reduction of the fixed charge coverage ratio maimtee requirement to 1.0:1.0 and reduction of thalability threshold fo
triggering compliance with the fixed charge coveraatio, as described belo

The applicable margin is based on average dailitaditty under the revolving credit facility aslfows:

Domestic Bas

Level Average Daily Availability Rate Loans Revtll\?g RLoans
i > $20,000,00( 0.5(% 1.5(%
I > $10,000,000 but < $20,000,( 0.7%% 1.7%
I < $10,000,00( 1.0(% 2.0(%

As of December 31, 2014, $3.8 million in deferreds relating to the revolving credit facility anar @.875% notes were being amorti
over the remaining life of the agreements.

As of December 31, 2014, we did not have borrowimggder the revolving credit facility. In additioas of December 31, 2014, we
outstanding letters of credit of $2.9 million anartowing availability of $37.1 million under thewaving credit facility.

The borrowers’ obligations under the revolving drddcility are secured by a firgriority lien (subject to certain permitted liens)
substantially all of our tangible and intangiblsets, as well as 100% of the capital stock of fihecttdomestic subsidiaries of each borrc
and 65% of the capital stock of each foreign subsyddirectly owned by a borrower. The borrowers gintly and severally liable for t
obligations under the revolving credit facility andconditionally guarantee the prompt payment arbpmance thereof.
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Until December 31, 2014, the applicable margin setsat Level Ill. Thereafter, the applicable margisubject to increase or decreas
the agent on the first day of the calendar monlloviong each fiscal quarter end. If the agent iakie to calculate average daily availability
a fiscal quarter because of our failure to deladrorrowing base certificate when required, thdiegiple margin will be set at Level | until 1
first day of the calendar month following receiftaoborrowing base certificate. As of DecemberZ114, the applicable margin is set at L
Il

We pay a commitment fee to the lenders equal t6%.@er annum of the unused amounts under the riegotvedit facility.

Terms, Covenants and Compliance Status

The Second ARLS Agreement requires the maintenah@eminimum fixed charge coverage ratio calculdteded upon consolida
EBITDA (as defined in the Second ARLS Agreement)oashe last day of each of the Companyiscal quarters. The borrowers are
required to comply with the fixed charge coveragtorrequirement for as long as the borrowers raainat least $7.5 million of borrowi
availability under the revolving credit facilityf borrowing availability is less than $7.5 milliat any time, we would be required to con
with a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0:1.0 aghaf end of any fiscal quarter, and would be rexflito continue to comply with the
requirements until we have borrowing availability 8¥.5 million or greater for 60 consecutive daBgcause the Company had borrov
availability in excess of $7.5 million from Janudry2014 through December 31, 2014, @@mpany was not required to comply with
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio covenant dutiregyear ended December 31, 2014.

The Second ARLS Agreement contains other customestyictive covenants, and customary reporting @theér affirmative covenan
See Note 7 to our audited consolidated financékstents in Item 8 in this Annual Report on ForrrKlfor information on the covenants. 1
Company was in compliance with these covenants Becember 31, 2014.

The Second ARLS Agreement contains customary ewdrsfault, including, without limitation:

» nonpayment of obligations under the revolving dréatility when due

» material inaccuracy of representations and waray

« violation of covenants in the Second ARLS Agreensnt certain other documents executed in connewatitimit;

» breach or default of agreements related to debk@ess of $5.0 million that could result in accatien of that debt

* revocation or attempted revocation of guarant

 denial of the validity or enforceability of the lmaocuments or failure of the loan documents tmlell force and effect

+ certain judgments in excess of $2.0 milli

» the inability of an obligor to conduct any matenprt of its business due to governmental inteieenioss of any material licen:
permit, lease or agreement necessary to the bgs

» cessation of an oblig's business for a material period of tir
» impairment of collateral through condemnation peatings;

» certain events of bankruptcy or insolven

» certain Employee Retirement Income Securities Aehés; anc
» achange in control of the Compal
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Certain of the defaults are subject to exceptioretgeriality qualifiers, grace periods and baskastamary for credit facilities of this typ
Voluntary prepayments of amounts outstanding utfterevolving credit facility are permitted at aimpe, without premium or penalty.

The Second ARLS Agreement requires the borrowersake mandatory prepayments with the proceedsrtdineasset dispositions €
upon the receipt of insurance or condemnation pagdo the extent the borrowers do not use theepascfor the purchase of assets use
the borrowers’ businesses.

7.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2019

The 7.875% notes were issued pursuant to an inggrdated as of April 26, 2011 (the “7.875% Notedeinture”),by and among CV(
certain of our subsidiaries party thereto, as guara (the “guarantors’and U.S. Bank National Association, as trusteeerést is payable
the 7.875% notes on April 15 and October 15 of saehr until their maturity date of April 15, 2019.

The 7.875% notes are senior secured obligatior®ues. Our obligations under the 7.875% notes areapiaed by the guarantors. -
obligations of CVG and the guarantors under th&5%8 notes are secured by a secpridrity lien (subject to certain permitted liensi
substantially all of the property and assets of CAfd the guarantors, and a pledge of 100% of thiatatock of CVGS domestic subsidiari
and 65% of the voting capital stock of each foresghsidiary directly owned by CVG and the guarantdhe liens, the security interests an
of the obligations of CVG and the guarantors aridpedvisions regarding remedies in an event of difare subject to an intercredi
agreement among CVG, certain of its subsidiarles agent for the revolving credit facility and talateral agent for the 7.875% notes.

The 7.875% Notes Indenture contains restrictiveenants, including, without limitation, limitatiore our ability and the ability of o
restricted subsidiaries to: incur additional debstrict dividends or other payments of subsidirieake investments; engage in transac
with affiliates; create liens on assets; engagsala/leaseback transactions; and consolidate, noertgensfer all or substantially all of our as
and the assets of our restricted subsidiariesdtitian, subject to certain exceptions, the 7.8788tes Indenture does not permit us to
dividends on, redeem or repurchase our capitaksiopmake other restricted payments unless cectaiditions are met, including (i) no defe
under the 7.875% Notes Indenture has occurredsandrtinuing, (i) we and our subsidiaries maintainonsolidated coverage ratio of 2.
1.0 on a pro forma basis and (iii) the aggregatewarnof the dividends or payments made under #ssriction would not exceed 50%
consolidated net income from October 1, 2010 toeth@ of the most recent fiscal quarter (or, if adickated net income for such period
deficit, minus 100% of such deficit), plus cashgaeds received from certain issuances of capitaksiplus certain other amounts. Tt
covenants are subject to important qualificationd exceptions set forth in the 7.875% Notes IndentWe were in compliance with th
covenants as of December 31, 2014.

The 7.875% Notes Indenture provides for eventseffudt (subject in certain cases to customary geaxkcure periods) which inclus
among others:

* nonpayment of principal or interest when d

» breach of covenants or other agreements in thé&%8Yotes Indenture
» defaults in payment of certain other indebtedn

 certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency; .

 certain defaults with respect to the security iesés.
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Generally, if an event of default occurs, the tesbr the holders of at least 25% in principal amadf the then outstanding 7.875% ni
may declare the principal of and accrued but unjraierest on all of the 7.875% notes to be due @ayhble immediately. All provisio
regarding remedies in an event of default are stibjethe Intercreditor Agreement.

We could have redeemed the 7.875% notes, in whdlemart, at any time prior to April 15, 2014 atealemption price equal to 100%
the principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid ésterf any, to the redemption date, plus the “makele” premium in the 7.875% Not
Indenture. We evaluated the “make-whole” premiurdarmPASC 81515 and determined that the premium is not requiogole bifurcated frol
the 7.875% notes and accounted for as a sepanatatide instrument. We could have redeemed th&5%8 notes, in whole or in part, at
time on or after April 15, 2014 at the optional eéetption prices set forth in the 7.875% Notes Indemtplus accrued and unpaid interes
any, to the redemption date. Not more than oncanguwach twelvanonth period ending on April 15, 2012, April 15,130and April 15, 201
we could have redeemed up to $25.0 million of thgragate principal amount of the 7.875% notesratlemption price equal to 103% of
principal amount, plus accrued and unpaid intereahy, to the redemption date. In addition, ag Eéme on or prior to April 15, 2014, on ¢
or more occasions, we could have redeemed up to@3%e aggregate principal amount of the 7.875% s avith the net proceeds of cer
equity offerings, as described in the 7.875% Natelenture, at a redemption price equal to 107.8t5%e principal amount thereof, p
accrued and unpaid interest, if any, to the redemplate. If we experience certain change of corvents, holders of the 7.875% notes
require us to repurchase all or part of their n@ed401% of the principal amount thereof, plus aedrand unpaid interest, if any, to
repurchase date.

Covenants and Liquidity

We continue to operate in a challenging economiirenment, and our ability to comply with the coeats in the Second ARI
Agreement may be affected in the future by econamiousiness conditions beyond our control. Basedw current forecast, we believe
we will be able to maintain compliance with theefixcharge coverage ratio covenant, if applicabid, @her covenants in the Second Al
Agreement for the next twelve months; however, s&ugances can be given that we will be able to tprijfe base our forecasts on histor
experience, industry forecasts and various otheuraptions that we believe are reasonable undercitteamstances. If actual results
substantially different than our current forecastif we do not realize a significant portion ofrqalanned cost savings or sustain sufficient
or borrowing availability, we could be required comply with our financial covenants, and there ésassurance that we would be abl
comply with such financial covenants. If we do notnply with the financial and other covenants ia 8econd ARLS Agreement, and we
unable to obtain necessary waivers or amendmaeststhe lender, we would be precluded from borrowinder the Second ARLS Agreem:
which could have a material adverse effect on agirtess, financial condition and liquidity. If weeaunable to borrow under the Second Al
Agreement, we will need to meet our capital requiats using other sources and alternative sourcéguidity may not be available «
acceptable terms. In addition, if we do not compith the financial and other covenants in the SdcARLS Agreement, the lender co
declare an event of default under the Second ARlggeément, and our indebtedness thereunder couldeblared immediately due ¢
payable, which would also result in an event obd#funder the 7.875% notes. Any of these eventddvoave a material adverse effect on
business, financial condition and liquidity.

We believe that cash on hand, cash flow from opegaactivities together with available borrowingader the Loan and Secul
Agreement will be sufficient to fund currently ariiated working capital, planned capital spendo®gtain strategic initiatives and debt ser
requirements for at least the next 12 months. [darasice can be given, however, that this will leeddise.
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Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments
The following table reflects our contractual obtigas as of December 31, 2014:

Payments Due by Perioc

Less thar More than
Total 1 Year 1-3 Years 3-5 Years 5 Years
(In thousands)

Long-term debt obligation $250,00( $ — $ — $250,00( $ —
Estimated interest paymer 84,46¢ 19,68¢ 39,42¢ 25,35: —
Operating lease obligatiol 33,48t¢ 8,80( 12,72¢ 4,76¢ 7,19(
Pension and other p-retirement funding 48,14" 3,81¢ 8,35¢ 8,98 26,99(
Total $416,10( $32,308 $60,51( $289,10° $34,18(

We have recorded a liability of approximately $2ousand for unrecognized tax benefits, and we acertain as to if or when st
amounts may be settled. Related to the unrecogtézetenefits not included in the table above,Gloenpany has also recorded a liability
potential penalties and interest of approximat@yt®usand.

Since December 31, 2014, there have been no nlatkaages outside the ordinary course of busireessitt contractual obligations as
forth above.

In addition to the obligations noted above, we habkgations reported as other long-term liabititihat consist primarily of lonterr
restructuring reserves, deferred purchase priceoimel items. We also enter into agreements withcostomers at the beginning of a gi
platform’s life to supply products for the entire life ofthvehicle platform, which is typically five to smv years. These agreements gene
provide for the supply of a customemproduction requirements for a particular platforather than for the purchase of a specific gty
products. Accordingly, our obligations under thageeements are not reflected in the contractuéatibns table above.

As of December 31, 2014, we were not party to §iicamt purchase obligations for goods or services.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We use standby letters of credit to guarantee etfopnance under various contracts and arrangemanmsipally in connection with o
workers’ compensation liabilities and for leaseseguiipment and facilities. These letter of credintcacts are usually extended on a year-t
year basis. As of December 31, 2014, we had oulstgretters of credit of $2.9 million. We do natlieve that these letters of credit will
required to be drawn.

We currently have no non-consolidated special pgepmmtity arrangements.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our consolidated financial statements are preparembnformity with accounting principles generaligcepted in the United States
America (“U.S. GAAP”).For a comprehensive discussion of our significaztoanting policies, see Note 2 to our consoliddtadncia
statements in Item 8 in this Annual Report on Fao¥K.

The preparation of our consolidated financial stegets requires us to make estimates and assumphianaffect the reported amount:
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingesgets and liabilities at the date of the findnsfatements and the reported amoun
revenues and expenses during the reporting paifed.
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evaluate our estimates and assumptions on an angeisis, particularly relating to accounts recdiwabserves, inventory reserves, good
intangible and long-lived assets, income taxesramy reserves and pension and other petitement benefit plans. We base our estimat
historical experience and various other assumptioaswe believe are reasonable under the circunos$a the results of which form the b
for making judgments about the carrying value akts liabilities and equity that are not readpyparent from other sources. Actual results
outcomes could differ materially from these estiesaand assumptions. See Item 1ARisk Factorsn this Annual Report on Form 1-for
additional information regarding risk factors tiay impact our estimates.

Revenue Recognition We recognize revenue when (1) delivery has occureskrvices have been rendered, (2) persuasidersse ¢
an arrangement exists, (3) there is a fixed orrdeteble price and (4) collectability is reasonahfsured. Our products are generally shi
from our facilities to our customers, which is whiegal title passes to the customer for substayntell of our revenues. We enter i
agreements with our customers at the beginning givan platforms life to supply products for that platform. Once wnter into suc
agreements, fulfillment of our purchasing requiraetseis our obligation for the entire productiorelibf the platform, with terms gener:
ranging from five to seven years, and we have pwipions to terminate such contracts.

Inventory Reserves- Inventories are valued at the lower of firstfinst-out cost or market. Cost includes applicable maltelabor an
overhead. We value our finished goods inventorg stiandard cost that is periodically adjusted fwra@gmate actual cost. Inventory quanti
on-hand are regularly reviewed, and where necessaoyjigons for excess and obsolete inventory ar@rdsmd based primarily on ¢
estimated production requirements driven by expmkntarket volumes. Excess and obsolete provisionsvaesy by product depending ug
future potential use of the product.

Goodwill, Intangible and Long-Lived AssetsGeodwill represents the excess of consideratiamsfeaired over the fair value of net as
acquired. We review goodwill for impairment annyalltilizing the onestep qualitative assessment, in the second fisater and whenev
events or changes in circumstances indicate thgiegrvalue may not be recoverable. We revieweddgelb for impairment again when v
reorganized into two reportable segments. The gdbds allocated to the GTB segment as the asketsot benefit the GCA segment.
conducting the qualitative assessment, we conselervant events and circumstances that affect direvilue or carrying amount of 1
reporting unit. Such events and circumstances cimdidide macroeconomic conditions, industry andketconsiderations, overall financ
performance, entity and reporting unit specific rdge cost factors and capital markets pricing. Wesaer the extent to which each of
adverse events and circumstances identified affectomparison of the reporting usitfair value with its carrying amount. We place a
weight on the events and circumstances that mdsttathe reporting uni fair value or the carrying amount of its net &ss@/e conside
positive and mitigating events and circumstancas ity affect its determination of whether it isrmbkely than not that the fair value of
reporting unit is less than its carrying amounte3é factors are all considered by management thirgg its conclusion about whethel
perform the first step of the impairment test.

If the reporting unit’s fair value is determinedlie more likely than not impaired based on the step-qualitative approach, we tl
perform a quantitative valuation to estimate thevalue of our reporting unit. Implied fair valwé goodwill is determined by considering b
the income and market approach. Determining theviaue of a reporting unit is judgmental in natamred involves the use of significi
estimates and assumptions. These estimates aneh@&ms include revenue growth rates and operatiaggins used to calculate projec
future cash flows, risladjusted discount rates, future economic and makaditions and determination of appropriate madashparables. W
base our fair value estimates on assumptions vievedio be reasonable but that are inherently waicer

For further information on our goodwill and intabbs assets, see Notes 2 and 8 to our consolidetadcial statements in Item 8 in t
Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Income Taxes —We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitiesttie expected future tax consequences of eveatshifive bee
included in our financial statements or tax returDeferred tax assets and liabilities are deterchibased on the difference between
financial statement and tax basis of assets abditi@s using enacted tax laws and rates. In aisgshe realizability of deferred tax assets
consider whether it is more likely than not thatsg or a portion, of the deferred tax assets woll Ine realized. We provide a valual
allowance for deferred tax assets when it is miéedyl than not that a portion of such deferred dasets will not be realized. We recognize
positions initially in the financial statements whé is more likely than not the position will beisgsained upon examination by the
authorities. Such tax positions are initially andhsequently measured as the largest amount ofdaafib that is greater than 50% likely
being realized upon ultimate settlement with theaathority assuming full knowledge of the positemd all relevant facts.

Warranty Reserves -We are subjected to warranty claims for products fhil to perform as expected due to design orufarturing
deficiencies. Customers continue to require theitside suppliers to guarantee or warrant their petd and bear the cost of repail
replacement of such products. Depending on thesteimder which we supplied products to our custongeczistomer may hold us respons
for some or all of the repair or replacement co$tdefective products, when the product supplietirdit perform as represented. Our polic
to reserve for estimated future customer warranstscbased on historical trends and current ecanéamtors. The amount of such estim
for warranty liability was approximately $4.4 mih and $4.5 million at December 31, 2014 and 2dsjectively.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit PlandVe sponsor pension plans that cover certain hamty salaried employees in
U.S. and United Kingdom. Our policy is to make amneontributions to the plans to fund the normadtcas required by local regulations
addition, we have another pastirement benefit plan providing medical benefits certain retirees and their dependents in aerthiS
operations.

Our Assumptions

The determination of pension and other pesirement benefit plan obligations and relatedemses requires the use of assumptio
estimate the amount of the benefits that emplogsgs while working, as well as the present valu¢hoke benefits. Our assumptions
determined based on current market conditionsptiisti information and consultation with and inguam third-party actuaries. Due to 1
significant management judgment involved, our agstions could have a material impact on the measemémf our pension and other post
retirement benefit expenses and obligations.

Significant assumptions used to measure our arparaion and other post-retirement benefit expeinshsde:

+ discount rate

» expected return on plan assets;

» health care cost trend rat

Discount Rate —The discount rate represents the interest ratestimatld be used to determine the present valuetafd cash flown
currently expected to be required to settle thesjpenand other posetirement benefit obligations. In estimating trase, we consider rates
return on high quality fixeihcome investments included in various publisheddbidexes. We consider the Citigroup Pension Dist
Curve, for U.S. pensions; and the iBoxx Over 15rYAA Corporate Bond Yield for non-U.S. pensions2814 and the Barclag’Capita
Corporate AA Rated Sterling Bond Index, for ndr8. pensions in 2013, in the determination ofappropriate discount rate assumptions.

weighted average rate we used to measure our peoBlation as of December 31, 2014 and 2013 w&% &and 4.6%, respectively, for
U.S. pension plans and 3.5%and 4.4%, respectif@iyhe non-U.S pension plans.
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Expected Long-Term Rate of Return Fae expected return on pension plan assets is lmasedr historical experience, our pension
investment strategy and our expectations for lmmgy rates of return. Our pension plan investmérgtengy is reviewed annually anc
established based upon plan liabilities, an evadnaif market conditions, tolerance for risk anditaequirements for benefit payments. We
a third-party advisor to assist us in determiningiavestment allocation and modeling our Idegn rate of return assumptions. For 2014, .
and 2012, we assumed an expected kengy rate of return on plan assets of 7.5% forUk®. pension plans. For 2014, 2013 and 201
assumed an expected long-term rate of return angsaets of 5.8% for non-U.S. pensions.

Changes in the discount rate and expected teng-rate of return on plan assets within the randecated below would have had
following impact on 2014 pension and other posteetent benefits results (in thousands):

1 Percentage 1 Percentage
Point Increase Point Decreas:
(Decrease) increase due to change in assumptiedsaisletermine net periodic
benefit costs for the year ended December 31, 2
Discount rate $ (145) $ 474
Expected lon-term rate of return on plan ass $ (486) $ 781
(Decrease) increase due to change in assumptiedstaisietermine benefit
obligations for the year ended December 31, 2
Discount rate $ (11,509 $ 16,51

We believe we are in compliance with the requiretmesf the Affordable Care Act and do not anticipatey major impact in tt
immediate future. We will continue to evaluate gituation for any potential impact the Act may s Affordable Care Act chang
implemented to date include:

» Expansion of coverage for older children up to 2§

» Elimination of lifetime maximum benefit limi

» Elimination of preexisting condition exclusions fdildren

» Limited reimbursement under Flexible Spending Actsdor over the counter medicatic

» Womer's Preventive Car— expansion of preventive services withou-pays or deductible

¢ Flex Spending Limit— reduction in annual limit for flex spending accaufrom $5,000 to $2,5C

* Increase in Medicare tax by 0.9 % on wages oveD 32D for single filers, $250,000 for joint fileasd $125,000 for those who
married filing separatel

» W-2 Reporting of Benefit— W-2 forms will be required to show the r-taxable cost of employer health care cover

» Variable Hour Policy to identify and monitor the aserement, administrative, and stability periodssafiable hour employees
comply with the requirements of the employer maac

Health Care Cost Trend Rates Fhe health care cost trend rates represent theahnames of change in the cost of health care lis
based on estimates of health care inflation, chamgéiealth care utilization or delivery patterteshnological advances and changes it
health status of the plan participants. For measent purposes, a 6% and 7% annual rate of incieabe per capita cost of covered he
care benefits was assumed for 2014 and 2013, tdsggcThe rate was assumed to decrease gradiwaliyo through 2018 and remain cons
thereafter. Assumed health care cost trend rateb@ee a significant effect on the amounts repdidedther post-retirement benefit plans.
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Differences in the ultimate health care cost tresigs within the range indicated below would haad the following impact on 20
other post-retirement benefit results (in thousgnds

1 Percentage 1 Percentage
Point Increase Point Decreas

(Increase) decrease from change in health cardreosts rate
Other pos-retirement benefit expen: $ 4 $ 4
Other pos-retirement benefit liability $ 11 $ 12
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ltem 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate Risl

We are exposed to various market risks, includihgnges in foreign currency exchange rates andestteates. Market risk is t
potential loss arising from adverse changes in atarkes and prices, such as foreign currency exgehand interest rates. We do not enter
derivatives or other financial instruments for trador speculative purposes. We do enter into fir@ninstruments, from time to time,
manage and reduce the impact of changes in fomigrency exchange rates and interest rates anédgeha portion of future anticipa
currency transactions. The counterparties are pilyrmraajor financial institutions.

We manage our interest rate risk by balancing theumt of our fixed rate and variable rate debt. fé@d rate debt, interest rate char
affect the fair market value of such debt but do ingpact earnings or cash flows. Conversely forialde rate debt, interest rate char
generally do not affect the fair market value aftsdebt, but do impact future earnings and cashsfl@ssuming other factors are held cons
None of our debt was variable rate debt at Decer®beP014 and 2013. Holding other variables congtgsuch as foreign exchange rates
debt levels), a one percentage point change ineistteéates would not have a material impact ontgxezarnings and cash flows.

Foreign Currency Risk

Foreign currency risk is the risk that we will imoeeconomic losses due to adverse changes in fomigency exchange rates. We
forward exchange contracts to hedge certain ofdtegn currency transaction exposures. We estimaterojected revenues and purchas
certain foreign currencies or locations, and wdbibe a portion or all of the anticipated long corsiposition. The contracts typically run fr
one month up to eighteen months. All existing favBoreign exchange contracts have been markedatdet and the fair value of contre
recorded in the consolidated balance sheets wétlotisetting noncash gain or loss recorded in oussolidated statements of income (loss).
do not hold or issue foreign exchange options owdod contracts for trading purposes.

Outstanding foreign currency forward exchange @umtrat December 31, 2014 are more fully descritvéde notes to our consolida
financial statements in Item 8 of this Annual Repmr Form 10K. The fair value of our contracts at December3114 amounted to a 1
liability of $0.3 million, which was included in leér current liabilities in our consolidated balarsteets. The fair value of our contract
December 31, 2013 amounted to an asset of $0.Bbmilivhich is included in other current assets un consolidated balance sheets. Nor
these contracts have been designated as cash déldges; thus, the change in fair value at each tiagadate is reflected as a noncash ch
(income) in our consolidated statement of incornes).

Our primary exposures to foreign currency exchdhgeuations are Euro/British pound, Japanese yeinkse yuan, Euro/U.S. dollar ¢
Mexican peso/U.S. dollar. At December 31, 2014 2083, the potential reduction in earnings from pdifietical instantaneous 10 % adv
change in quoted foreign currency spot rates aghplidoreign currency sensitive instruments wowddrbmaterial.

Foreign Currency Transactions

A portion of our revenues during the year endeddbdmer 31, 2014 were derived from manufacturing atpars outside of the U.S. T
results of operations and the financial positiorarf operations in these other countries are piiynareasured in their respective currency
translated into U.S. dollars. A portion of the expes generated in these countries is in curreddiesent from which revenue is generated
discussed above, from time to time, we enter intevérd exchange contracts to mitigate a portiothisf currency risk. The reported incom
these operations will be higher or lower depending weakening or strengthening of the U.S. daltminst the respective foreign currency.
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A portion of our longterm assets and liabilities at December 31, 20&4bassed in our foreign operations and are trarmbsiate U.S
dollars at foreign currency exchange rates in éféscof the end of each period, with the effecso€h translation reflected as a sep:
component of stockholders’ investment. Accordingbyr stockholders’investment will fluctuate depending upon the wedakgnot
strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the retspeforeign currency.

Effects of Inflation

Inflation potentially affects us in two principalaws. First, any borrowings under our revolving dréakility would be tied to prevailir
shortterm interest rates that may change as a resiiflafion rates, translating into changes in ins¢rexpense. Second, general inflation
impact material purchases, labor and other cast®idny cases, we have limited ability to pass thihonflationtelated cost increases due to
competitive nature of the markets that we servéhdnpast few years, however, inflation has nonteesignificant factor.
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

To the Board of Directors and Stockholders
Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc.:

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balaheets of Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. andsislidries as of December !
2014 and 2013, and the related consolidated statsnoéincome (loss), comprehensive income (Iastsikholdersequity, and cash flows f
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2014. In conneutitmour audits of the consolidated financial stagats, w
also have audited the financial statement Schetut¥aluation and Qualifying Accounts. These consolidated financial statements
financial statement schedule are the responsibdftythe Company management. Our responsibility is to express ginian on thes
consolidated financial statements and financiakstant schedule based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstats of the Public Company Accounting OversighaiBlo(United States). Thc
standards require that we plan and perform thet dodibtain reasonable assurance about whethdimidngcial statements are free of mate
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on aliasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digidg in the financial statements. An @
also includes assessing the accounting princigled and significant estimates made by managenmemtelhas evaluating the overall finan
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statetee®ferred to above present fairly, in all materespects, the financial position
Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. and subsidiariesfaBecember 31, 2014 and 2013, and the resultisedf dbperations and their cash flows
each of the years in the thrgear period ended December 31, 2014, in conformitly U.S. generally accepted accounting principfso in
our opinion, the related financial statement scleeduhen considered in relation to the basic cadat#d financial statements taken as a w
presents fairly, in all material respects, the infation set forth therein.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stdsdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Blo@dnited States), Commerc
Vehicle Group, Inc.’s internal control over finaacreporting as of December 31, 2014, based osriaiestablished iinternal Control—
Integrated Framework (199zissued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiointhe Treadway Commission (COSO), and our r
dated March 16, 2015 expressed an unqualified opian the effectiveness of the Company'’s interoatml over financial reporting.

/sl KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ohio
March 16, 2015
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C OMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
December 31, 2014 and 2013

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS

Cash

Accounts receivable, net of allowances of $2,808%2302, respective

Inventories

Deferred income taxes, n

Other current asse

Total current asse

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMEN"

Land and building:

Machinery and equipme

Construction in progres

Less accumulated depreciati

Property, plant and equipment, |

GOODWILL
INTANGIBLE ASSETS, net of accumulated amortizatwfr5,613 and $4,159, respectiv:
DEFERRED INCOME TAXES, NE~
OTHER ASSETS

TOTAL ASSETS

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES:
Accounts payabl
Accrued liabilities and othe
Total current liabilities
LONG-TERM DEBT
PENSION AND OTHER POS-RETIREMENT BENEFITS
OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Total liabilities
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Note 11
STOCKHOLDERY EQUITY:

Preferred stock $.01 par value; 5,000,000 sharé®ared; no shares issued and outstanding; consiomk
$.01 par value; 60,000,000 shares authorized; 8304 and 28,860,143 shares issued and outstand

respectively
Treasury stock purchased from employees; 779,484688,248 shares, respectiv
Additional paic-in capital
Retained defici
Accumulated other comprehensive i

Total CVG stockholde’ equity

Non-controlling interes
Total stockholder equity
TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

2014

2013

(In thousands, excep
share and per share
amounts)

$ 70,09: $ 72,69
139,91: 119,06¢
83,77¢ 80,13

9,14z 8,18(
6,351 7,53¢
309,27 287,61
28,51 29,70:
161,66 162,47
7,11¢ 5,10¢
(123,83) (118,410
73,46 78,87¢
8,05¢ 8,22(
18,58¢ 20,34¢
23,23 24, 46¢
9,40( 12,91¢
$44201  $432,44:

$ 70,82¢ $ 68,28
36,68¢ 34,28
107,51 102,56!
250,00( 250,00
23,35¢ 17,24¢

2,30¢ 2,68¢
383,17 372,50
29€ 29€
(6,622) (6,095)
231,90° 229,13
(129,49;) (137,12)
(37,28%) (26,309)
58,80 59,90¢
35 33
58,83¢ 59,94
$442,010  $43244:

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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REVENUES
COST OF REVENUE!

Gross Profit

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME (LOSS)
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

SELLING, GENERAL AND ADMINISTRATIVE EXPENSES
AMORTIZATION EXPENSE

Operating Incom
OTHER EXPENSE
INTEREST EXPENSE

Income (Loss) Before Provision (Benefit) for Incoimexes
PROVISION (BENEFIT) FOR INCOME TAXE!

NET INCOME (LOSS)

Less: Nor-controlling interest in subsidig’s income (loss
NET INCOME (LOSS) ATTRIBUTABLE TO CVG STOCKHOLDER

EARNINGS (LOSS) PER COMMON SHARE

Basic
Diluted

WEIGHTED AVERAGE SHARES OUTSTANDING

Basic
Diluted

2014

2013

2012

(In thousands, except per share amount:

$839,74:  $747,71¢  $857,91(
732,05 667,98 741,37
107,68¢ 79,72¢ 116,53
72,48 71,71 71,94¢
1,51F 1,58( 492
33,69: 6,43¢ 44,09¢
21E 13¢ 69
20,71¢ 21,08; 20,94
12,76: (14,78%) 23,08:
5,131 (2,33)) (26,949
7,631 (12,457 50,03(
1 (6) (47)

$ 7.63C $(12,44H $ 50,07
$ 02 $ (0449 $ 1.7
$ 02 $ (049 $ 1.7¢
28,92¢ 28,58 28,23(
29,11 28,58 28,42t

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottbeasolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LO SS)
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

Net income (loss $ 7,631 $(12,45)) $50,03(
Other comprehensive (loss) incor

Foreign currency translation adjustme (4,600 (4,33¢) 1,692

Minimum pension liability, net of ta (6,380 5,91( (1,729

Other comprehensive (loss) incol (10,980 1,57 (29

Comprehensive (loss) incor $ (3,349 $(10,879) $50,00:

Less: Comprehensive income (loss) attributed taaotrolling interest: 1 (12) 9

Comprehensive (loss) income attributable to CV@ldtolders $ (3,350 $(10,86¢) $50,01(

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS’ EQUITY

Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

- Non-
Additional Accum. Total CVG :
Common Stock Treasury Other Stockholders’ Controlling
Paid-In Retained Comp.
Shares Amount Stock Capital Deficit Loss Equity Interest Total
(In thousands , except share data

BALANCE — December 31, 201 28,17092 $ 28t $ (4,059 $ 219,11i $(174,75) $(27,81) $ 12,76¢ $ 9 $12,77¢
Issuance of restricted sto 455,83: 5 — — — — 5 — 5
Surrender of common stock by employ (163,28 — (1,20%) — — — (1,20%) — (1,209
Shar-based compensation expel — — — 4,71C — — 4,71(C — 4,71(
Total comprehensive income (los — — — — 50,077 (67) 50,01( 9) 50,00:
Non-controlling interest: — — — — — — — 22 22
BALANCE — December 31, 201 28,46347 $ 29C $ (5,264 $ 223,82; $(124,67) $(27,88H) $ 66,28¢ $ 22  $66,30¢
Issuance of restricted sto 495,75¢ 6 — — — — 6 — 6
Surrender of common stock by employ (99,09/) (831) — — — (831) — (831)
Shar-based compensation expel — — — 5,31¢ — — 5,31¢ — 5,31t
Total comprehensive income (los — — — — (12,445 1,571 (10,86¢) (11) (10,879
Non-controlling interest: — — — — — — — 22 22
BALANCE — December 31, 201 28,860,14 $ 29€¢ $ (6,09 $ 229,13  $(137,12) $(26,30) $ 59,90¢ $ 33  §$59,94:
Issuance of restricted sto 378,59 — — — — — — — —
Surrender of common stock by employ (90,23¢) — (527) — — — (527) — (527)
Shar-based compensation expel — — — 2,77 — — 2,77(C — 2,77(
Total comprehensive income (los — — — — 7,63( (10,980) (3,350 1 (3,349
Non-controlling interest: — — — — — — — 1 1
BALANCE — December 31, 201 29,14850 $ 29¢ $ (6,627 $ 231,90 $(129,49) $(37,28) $ 58,80 $ 35 $58,83¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

2014 2013 2012
(In thousands)

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Net income (loss $ 7,631 $(12,457) $ 50,03(
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to rethcprovided by operating activiti¢
Depreciation and amortizatic 18,247 20,58 14,06°
Provision for doubtful accoun 5,22t 2,52( 2,59¢
Noncash amortization of debt financing cc 891 1,132 1,132
Pension plan contributior (2,96%) (3,109 (2,649
Share-based compensation expel 2,741 5,27¢ 4,71(
Loss on sale of asse 1,09¢ 14z 12¢
Deferred income tax bene 3,277 (39¢) (30,767)
Noncash loss (gain) on forward exchange cont 482 264 (76%)
Change in other operating iten
Accounts receivabl (27,87Y) (6,939 15,12¢
Inventories (5,370 8,55 (6,74%)
Prepaid expense¢ 2,267 (2,250 1,55¢
Accounts payabl 3,06t 8,98: (18,23))
Accrued liabilities 1,02z 2,47 (7,04)
Other operating activities, n (21€) (6,63¢9) 897
Net cash provided by operating activit 9,51¢ 19,15« 24,04¢
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Purchases of property, plant and equipn (13,709 (12,62€) (17,32))
Proceeds from disposal/sale of property, planteandpmen 68¢ 322 12t
Pos-acquisition and acquisition payments, net of caskivec — — (24,52()
Other investing activities, n 72€ (645) (1,04)
Net cash used in investing activit (12,289 (12,949 (42,759
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
Proceeds from borrowings against life insurancécigs 1,041 — —
Proceeds from issuance of common stock under empgigntive plan: — 38 5
Surrender of common stock by employ (527) (831) (1,209
Debt issuance costs and ot — (144) 22
Net cash used in financing activiti 514 (937) (1,179%)
EFFECT OF CURRENCY EXCHANGE RATE CHANGES ON CA¢ (349 (942) 30z
NET (DECREASE) INCREASE IN CASI (2,609 4,32¢ (19,58¢)
CASH:
Beginning of perioc 72,69% 68,36¢ 87,95¢
End of perioc $ 70,09: $ 72,69 $ 68,36¢
SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION
Cash paid for intere: $19,83: $ 19,95¢ $ 19,94«
Cash paid for income taxes, | $ 1,38i $ 2,34« $ 4,56¢
Unpaid purchases of property and equipment inclidedcounts payab $ 864 $ 1,04C $ 1,31¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012

1. Organization
Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. and its subsidiafi€vG” or the “Company”)

The Company (and its subsidiaries) is a leadinglaipof a full range of cab related products agdteasms for the global commerc
vehicle market, including the medium-and heavy-dutgk (“MD/HD Truck”) market, the medium-and heaggnstruction vehicle market, €
the military, bus, agriculture, specialty transptidn, mining, industrial equipment and off-roadreational markets.

The Company has manufacturing operations in theedrstates, Mexico, United Kingdom, Czech Repultikraine, China, India ai
Australia. Our products are primarily sold in NoAmerica, Europe, and the Asia/Pacific region.

Our products include seats and seating systemat§39getrim systems and components (“Trim&ab structures, sleeper boxes, t
panels and structural components; mirrors, wip&ig @ontrols; and electronic wire harness and passkmblies specifically designed
applications in commercial vehicles.

In the fourth quarter of 2014, management realigtedeporting structure into two reportable segtagGlobal Truck and Bus (“GTB”
and Global Construction and Agriculture (“GCA”"). &fCompany’s Chief Operating Decision Maker (“CODMits President and Chi
Executive Officer, now reviews financial informatidor these two reportable segments and makesidesisegarding the allocation
resources based on these segments. Prior yeaisresué restated to break out the financial reaitthe two reportable segments.

2. Significant Accounting Policies

Principles of Consolidation— The accompanying consolidated financial stateméntlude the accounts of our wholiyned o
controlled subsidiaries. All intercompany accouantis transactions have been eliminated in consaiulat

Use of Estimates— The preparation of financial statements in confoymiith accounting principles generally acceptedha U.S. ¢
America ("U.S. GAAP”)requires management to make estimates and assasphiat affect the reported amounts of assetsiahilities anc
disclosure of contingent assets and liabilitieshat date of the consolidated financial statements the reported amounts of revenues
expenses during the reporting period. Actual resulhy differ materially from those estimates. Qartaclassifications have been made to |
year amounts to conform to current year presemtz

Cash— Cash consists of deposits with high credit-qydiitancial institutions.

Accounts Receivable- Trade accounts receivable are stated at curreneats allowances, which approximates fair vallle.reviev
our receivables on an ongoing basis to ensuretliegtare properly valued and collectible. Thisdgsanplished through two contraeeivabli
accounts — returns and allowances and allowanceddobtful accounts.

Returns and allowances are used to record estinofteturns or other allowances resulting from @gyadelivery, discounts or oth
issues affecting the value of receivables. Thiantis estimated based on historical trends angicumarket conditions, with the offset to
sales.
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The allowance for doubtful accounts is used tom@tioe estimated risk of loss related to the custshinability to pay. This allowance
maintained at a level that we consider appropitsed on factors that affect collectability, sushtlge financial health of our custom
historical trends of chargeffs and recoveries and current economic marketlitions. As we monitor our receivables, we identifystomer
that may have payment problems, and we adjust lthevance accordingly, with the offset to sellinggngral and administrative exper
Account balances are charged off against the alowavhen recovery is considered remote.

Inventories— Inventories are valued at the lower of firstfinst-out cost or market. Inventory quantities luenad are regularly reviewe
and where necessary, provisions for excess andetbsoventory are recorded based primarily onestimated production requirements dri
by expected market volumes. Excess and obsoletéspns may vary by product depending upon futwteptial use of the product.

Property, Plant and Equipment- Property, plant and equipment are stated at cadt,oh accumulated depreciation. For finar
reporting purposes, depreciation is computed ugiagtraight-line method over the following estigthtiseful lives:

Buildings and improvemen 15 to 40 yeal
Machinery and equipme 3 to 20 yeat
Tools and die: 3 to 7 year
Computer hardware and softwz 3 to 5 year

Expenditures for maintenance and repairs are ctamexpense as incurred. Expenditures for majtiebeents and renewals that ext
the useful lives of property, plant and equipmenet @apitalized and depreciated over the remainsefull lives of the asset. When asset:
retired or sold, the cost and related accumulatgettiation are removed from the accounts and @sylting gain or loss is recognized in
results of operations. Leasehold improvements my@rtived using the straiglite method over the estimated useful lives ofithprovement
or the term of the lease, whichever is shorter.efamated depreciation methods are used for taxtiaggurposes. Depreciation expense fo
year ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 wasxampately $16.7 million, $19.0 million and $13.6lkon, respectively

We review longlived assets for recoverability whenever eventglmnges in circumstances indicate that carryingusmsoof an ass
group may not be recoverable. Our asset groupssteblished by determining the lowest level of clietvs available. If the estimat
undiscounted cash flows are less than the cargingunts of such assets, we recognize an impairfogstin an amount necessary to v
down the assets to fair value as estimated froneaep future discounted cash flows. Estimatingf#éiirevalue of these assets is judgment
nature and involves the use of significant estimaad assumptions. We base our fair value estinmteassumptions we believe to
reasonable, but that are inherently uncertain.

Goodwill — Goodwill represents the excess of acquisition pagehprice over the fair value of net assets acdjuiiée review goodwi
for impairment annually, utilizing the orstep qualitative assessment, in the second fisoalter and whenever events or change
circumstances indicate the carrying value may motdzoverable. We reviewed goodwill for impairmagain when we reorganized into 1
reportable segments. The goodwill was allocatedhto GTB segment as the assets do not benefit tha &gment. In conducting t
gualitative assessment, we consider relevant exrdscircumstances that affect the fair value eryaag amount of the reporting unit. St
events and circumstances could include macroecanoaoriditions, industry and market considerationgrall financial performance, ent
and reporting unit specific events, cost factord aapital markets pricing. We consider the extentvhich each of the adverse events
circumstances identified affect the comparisonhef teporting unis fair value with its carrying amount. We place mareight on the ever
and circumstances that most affect the reportirijuufair value or the carrying amount of its net &&ss@/e consider positive and mitigat
events and circumstances that may affect its détation of whether it is more likely than not thhe fair value of the reporting unit is |
than its carrying amount. These
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factors are all considered by management in regdtsrconclusion about whether to perform the fitsp of the impairment test.

If the reporting unit’s fair value is determinedlie more likely than not impaired based on the step-qualitative approach, we tl
perform a quantitative valuation to estimate thevalue of our reporting unit. Implied fair valwé goodwill is determined by considering b
the income and market approach. Determining theviaue of a reporting unit is judgmental in natamrd involves the use of significi
estimates and assumptions. These estimates aneh@&ss include revenue growth rates and operatiaggins used to calculate projec
future cash flows, risladjusted discount rates, future economic and markaditions and determination of appropriate madashparables. W
base our fair value estimates on assumptions vievedio be reasonable but that are inherently waicer

Intangible Assets — Definite-Lived- We review definitdived intangible assets for recoverability wheneesents or changes
circumstances indicate that carrying amounts mayaagecoverable. If the estimated undiscountel flas/s are less than the carrying ame
of such assets, we recognize an impairment loas imamount necessary to write down the assetsrtodhie as estimated from expected fu
discounted cash flows. Estimating the fair valuetltdse assets is judgmental in nature and invalvesuse of significant estimates .
assumptions. We base our fair value estimates sangsions we believe to be reasonable, but thairdm@rently uncertain. Definitived
intangible assets are amortized on a straightdams over the estimated life of the asset.

See Note 8 for additional information on our godtlamd intangible assets.

Revenue RecogniticA- We recognize revenue when 1) delivery has occuworestrvices have been rendered, 2) persuasiveread® al
arrangement exists, 3) there is a fixed or deteabimprice, and 4) collectability is reasonablyuasd. Our products are generally shipped -
our facilities to our customers, which is wheretiplasses to the customer for substantially allofevenues.

Warranty— We are subject to warranty claims for products fhatto perform as expected due to design or mactufing deficiencie
Customers continue to require their outside supplie guarantee or warrant their products and tearcost of repair or replacement of s
products. Depending on the terms under which welgymroducts to our customers, a customer may hsldesponsible for some or all of
repair or replacement costs of defective prodweten the product supplied did not perform as represl. Our policy is to record provisic
for estimated future customer warranty costs baseldistorical trends and current economic factbhese amounts, as they relate to the
ended December 31, 2014 and 2013 are includednwitbcrued liabilities and other in the accompanyingsolidated balance sheets.
following presents a summary of the warranty pravigor the years ended December 31 (in thousands):

2014 2013
Balance — Beginning of the year $ 4,52¢ $ 3,23¢
Provisions for new warranties issu 3,28t 5,08¢
Changes in provision for preexisting waran 563 107
Deduction for payments mau (3,900 (3,919
Currency translation adjustme (39 13
Balance— End of yea $ 4,43¢ $ 4,52¢

Research and Development CostsResearch and development costs are expensed aseth@nd included in selling, general
administration expenses. Research and developnostd charged to expense for the years ended Dec@&hp2014, 2013 and 2012 w
approximately $6.3 million, $6.0 million, and $6wllion, respectively.
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Income Taxes— We recognize deferred tax assets and liabilitigstlie expected future tax consequences of eveatshidve bee
included in our financial statements or tax returDeferred tax assets and liabilities are deterchibased on the difference between
financial statement and tax basis of assets abditi@s using enacted tax laws and rates. In aisgshe realizability of deferred tax assets
consider whether it is more likely than not thatsg or a portion, of the deferred tax assets woll Ine realized. We provide a valual
allowance for deferred tax assets when it is miéedyl than not that a portion of such deferred dasets will not be realized. We recognize
positions initially in the financial statements whé is more likely than not the position will beisgsained upon examination by the
authorities. Such tax positions are initially andhsequently measured as the largest amount ofdaafib that is greater than 50% likely
being realized upon ultimate settlement with theaathority assuming full knowledge of the positemd all relevant facts.

Comprehensive Income (Loss) Comprehensive income (loss) reflects the changeyiity of a business enterprise during a perioth
transactions and other events and circumstancesfmowner sources. Comprehensive income (loss) repiesen loss adjusted for fore
currency translation adjustments and minimum penbability adjustments. We disclose comprehen$dss in the consolidated statement
comprehensive income (loss). See footnote 16 follfrward of activity in accumulated compreheresimcome (loss).

Fair Value of Financial Instruments- The fair value framework requires the categorizatbassets and liabilities into three levels b
upon the assumptions (inputs) used to price thetass liabilities. Level 1 provides the most rbleameasure of fair value, whereas Lev
generally requires significant management judgnieimé. three levels are defined as follows:

Level 1 — Unadjusted quoted prices in active market identical assets and liabilities.

Level 2 —Observable inputs other than those included in Lévéor example, quoted prices for similar assgtfiabilities in activi
markets or quoted prices for identical assetsadnillties in inactive markets.

Level 3 — Significant unobservable inputs reflegtmanagemend’ own assumptions about the inputs used in pritiagsset or liability

Concentrations of Credit Risk- Financial instruments that potentially subjectmgsdncentrations of credit risk consist primarifycast
and accounts receivable. We sell products to varammpanies throughout the world in the ordinanyrse of business. We routinely asses
financial strength of our customers and maintalowances for anticipated losses. Customers thabuated for a significant portion
consolidated revenues for each of the three yaeatsceDecember 31 were as follows:

201/ 201: 2017
A.B. Volvo 19% 16% 15%
Daimler Trucks 15 14 15
PACCAR 12 1€ 19
Caterpillar 9 7 10
International (Navistar 8 7 7
Deere & Co 7 5 5

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, receivables filoese customers represented approximately 65% @%@ & total receivable
respectively.

Foreign Currency Translation— Our functional currency is the local currency. Aatingly, all assets and liabilities of our fore
subsidiaries are translated using exchange rateffant at the end of the period and revenue astscare translated using average exch
rates for the period. The related translation adjests are reported in accumulated other compréhensss in stockholdersequity
Translation gains and losses
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arising from transactions denominated in a curreottyer than the functional currency of the entitydlved are included in the results
operations.

Foreign Currency Forward Exchange Contracts We use forward exchange contracts to hedge cedhithe foreign currenc
transaction exposures. We estimate our projecteghrees and purchases in certain foreign curremciéscations, and hedge a portion or a
the anticipated long or short position. The contagpically run from one month up to eighteen nisntAll forward foreign exchange contre
have been marked-to-market and the fair value ofraots recorded in the consolidated balance shé#ighe offsetting norcash gain or lo
recorded in our consolidated statements of incdgs). We do not hold or issue foreign exchangéonptor forward contracts for tradi
purposes.

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements -August 2014, the Financial Accounting Standd@dsard (“FASB”) issued Accountin
Standards Update (“ASU”) No. 2014-15, “Presentatbrinancial Statements-Going Concern (Topic 20B8-4°ASU 2014-15"). Under th:
standard, management is required to evaluate fdr @anual and interim reporting period whethes ipiobable that the entity will not be &
to meet its obligations as they become due withie gear after the date that financial statememtssaued, or are available to be issued, v
applicable. ASU 20145 is effective for fiscal years, and interim pesowithin those years, beginning after December2Dd,6, and ear
adoption is permitted. Accordingly, the standardeffective for the Company on January 1, 2017. Toepany does not believe that
pronouncement will have an impact on the Compafig&ncial statements.

In May 2014, the FASB issued ASU No. 2014-8&venue from Contracts with Custome@nd supersedes the revenue recogt
requirements in Topic 605, Revenue Recognitionuling most industryspecific revenue recognition guidance throughoetlitidustry Topic
of the Codification. In addition, ASU 2014-09 sugpentes the cost guidance in Subtopic 605-35, Rev@aaegnition — Constructiomype ani
Production-Type Contracts, and creates new Sub®40e40, Other Assets and Deferred CostEentracts with Customers. In summary,
core principle of Topic 606 is to recognize revemtreen promised goods or services are transferredgtomers in an amount that reflects
consideration that is expected to be receivedifosé goods or services. The amendments in ASU @01ake effective for annual report
periods beginning after December 15, 2016, inclydimerim periods within that reporting period, aedrly application is not permitte
Therefore the amendments in ASU 2@3twill become effective for us as of the beginnaigur 2017 fiscal year. The Company is curre
assessing the impact of implementing the new guaiglan

In March 2013, the FASB issued ASU No. 2013-B&rent’'s Accounting for the Cumulative Translation Adjustinupon Derecognitic
of Certain Subsidiaries or Groups of Assets withiRoreign Entity or of an Investment in a Foreigntiiy. ” In accordance with the standar
parent is required to apply the guidance of Sulst&3i0-30Foreign Currency Mattersvhen the entity ceases to have a controlling firsd
interest in a subsidiary or group of assets tha monprofit activity or a business within a foreigntity. Once the parent ceases to he
controlling interest, the cumulative translatiofuatinent should be released into net income ortlyefsale or transfer results in the comple
substantially complete liquidation of the foreigmity in which the subsidiary or group of assets hesided. This amendment is to be ap
prospectively for public companies for fiscal yebeginning after December 15, 2013. The Companyndichave a material impact from
implementation of this new guidance.

3. Fair Value Measurement

At December 31, 2014, our financial instrumentssistnof cash, accounts receivable, accounts payablgued liabilities and o
revolving credit facility. The carrying value ofabe instruments approximates fair value as a restiite short duration of such instrument
due to the variability of the interest cost assetla
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with such instruments. The fair values of our datile assets and liabilities measured on a reaubasis as of December 31 are categoriz
follows (in thousands):

2014 2013
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level & Total Level 1 Level Z Level 3
Derivative assets $232 $ — $23z2 $ — $¢5¢ $ — $25¢ $ —
Derivative liabilities? $6z $ — $56z $ — $108 $ — P10t $ —

! Based on observable market transactions of spotcemard rates

Our derivative assets and liabilities represengifpr exchange contracts that are measured atdhiewsing observable market ing
such as forward rates, interest rates, our ownitcrisf and our counterpartiesredit risks. Based on these inputs, the derivadissets ar
liabilities are classified as Level 2.

The following table summarizes the notional amafrdur open foreign exchange contracts at Decer@béin thousands):

2014 2013
u.s. u.s.
Equivalent Equivalent
Us. $ Us. $
Equivalent Fair Value Equivalent Fair Value
Commitments to buy or sell currencies $ 24,20¢ $23,41: $11,157 $11,31:

We consider the impact of our credit risk on the ¥alue of the contracts, as well as the abilityekecute obligations under the contract.

The following table summarizes the fair value amdspntation in the consolidated balance sheetsidowvatives not designated
accounting hedges at December 31 (in thousands):

Asset Derivatives

2014 2013
Balance Shee Balance Shee
Location Fair Value Location Fair Value
Foreign exchange contracts Other current asse¢ $ 23 Other current ass¢ $ 25¢
Liability Derivatives
2014 2013
Balance Shee Balance Shee
Location Fair Value Location Fair Value
Foreign exchange contracts Accrued liabilities $ 562 Accrued liabilities $ 10t

The following table summarizes the effect of deliiva instruments on the consolidated statementscifme (loss) for derivatives r

designated as accounting hedges at December #lo(isands):

2014 2013

Location of Loss

Recognized in Income o

Derivatives

Amount of Loss
Recognized in Income on

Foreign exchange contracts
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The carrying amounts and fair values of our lormgatdebt at December 31 are as follows (in thousands

2014 2013
Carrying Carrying
Amount Fair Value Amount Fair Value
Long-term debt $250,00( $257,50( $250,00( $250,00(

The following methods were used to estimate theviaue of each class of financial instruments:

Long-term debt The fair value of longerm debt obligations is based on quoted markeepror on rates available on debt with sin
terms and maturities.

There were no fair value measurements of our loreglassets and definite-lived intangible assetssmed on a norecurring basis as
December 31, 2014 or 2013.

4. Business Combinations

On November 5, 2012, we acquired all of the seaerably assets related to Vijayjyot Seats Privatmited (“Vijayjyot”) for casl
consideration of approximately $14.0 million (th¥ijayjyot acquisition”) and contingent consideration estimated at $1.7ianjllcalculate
based on EBITDA above a threshold 12 months anch@4ths from the closing date. No additional corgimgconsideration was paid on
first or second anniversary of closing as the tesidid not exceed the EBITDA threshold. Vijayjyaipplies seats primarily for the passen
school and coach bus markets in India. Vijayjyos tlree leased facilities in the Baska (State gfafat), Pune (State of Maharashtra)
Dharwad (State of Karnataka) regions of India.

On December 28, 2012, we acquired all of the agstted to Daltek, LLC (“Daltek”for total consideration of approximately $1
million (the “Daltek acquisition”)The consideration consisted of $10.6 million castd upon closing, with an additional $2.6 millidrat wa:
paid 18 months following closing. Daltek is a compapecializing in the application of customizeduastrial hydrographic films, paints ¢
other interior and exterior finishes. Daltek has teased facilities in Dalton, Georgia.

Pro forma results for our 2012 acquisition would @ materially different than reported results.

In 2011, we entered into a joint venture (the “O&ienture”) with Hema Engineering Industries Lindté'Hema”) for the production ¢
seats and seating components for the India comalerehicle market and for the supply of seats ardponents to our other global locatic
At the date of the Joint Venture, we held a 90% enship and Hema held a 10% ownership in the Joartie, which we deemed a voi
interest entity. In connection with the Vijayjyotauisition in November 2012, our ownership intergstthe Joint Venture increased
approximately 99% and Hensabwnership interest in the Joint Venture decredaseapproximately 1%. As a result, we consolid&ie doin
Venture in our consolidated financial statementoading to the voting model.

5. Inventories
Inventories consisted of the following as of Decem®l (in thousands):

2014 2013
Raw materials $58,35¢ $52,45¢
Work in proces: 10,96¢ 11,89t
Finished good 14,44¢ 15,78

$83,77¢ $80,13¢
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6. Accrued and Other Liabilities
Accrued and other liabilities consisted of thedaling as of December 31 (in thousands):

2014 2013

Compensation and benefits $16,69( $14,65¢
Interest 4,215 4,25¢
Warranty cost: 4,43¢ 4,52¢
Deferred revenu 757 2,10¢
Legal and professional fe 2,43( 1,704
Accrued freight 1,16¢ 1,08t
Taxes payabl 55C 31€
Other 6,44( 5,64z

$36,68¢ $34,28¢

7. Debt
Debt consisted of the following at December 3ltifiousands):

2014 2013
7.875% senior secured notes due April 15, 2019 $250,00( $250,00(

Revolving Credit Facility

On November 15, 2013, the Company and certain ef Gompanys subsidiaries, as borrowers (together with the @om, thi
“borrowers”) entered into a Second ARLS Agreemexrst $0 amended and restated, the “Second ARLS Agré&mvith Bank of Americe
N.A. as agent and lender, which amended and restlateAmended and Restated Loan and Security Agegrdated as of April 26, 2011,
and among the Company, the borrowers and Bank ofrisa, N.A., as agent and lender, as amended, giogethe Company revolving
credit facility.

Among other things, the Second ARLS Agreement addnthe maturity of the revolving credit facilitp November 15, 2018 a
amended the applicable margin, as described beltw. Second ARLS Agreement included amendments rt@icecovenants to provi
additional flexibility, including amendments to @)iminate the aggregate cap on permitted distiobhstand instead condition such distributi
on minimum availability, fixed charge coverage oadind other requirements, (ii) eliminate the agategap on permitted foreign investm
and instead condition such foreign investments orimum availability, fixed charge coverage ratiddasther requirements, (iii) eliminate
aggregate cap on purchase consideration for pedan#tquisitions and instead condition such acdguisiton minimum availability, fixe
charge coverage ratio and other requirements andgégrmitting certain salkeaseback transactions. In addition, the covenasitricting
payment of certain debt was amended to permit odyases of the Comparsy7.875% senior secured notes due 2019 if certaiditons ar
met. The Second ARLS Agreement also amended thadial covenant to reduce the fixed charge coverafije maintenance requiremen
1.0:1.0 and reduced the availability thresholdtfiyggering compliance with the fixed charge coveragtio, as described below.

The size of the revolving credit facility was unogad by the Second ARLS Agreement and remains @i##ion, but the borrowe
may request an increase in revolver commitments fiimme to time in an aggregate amount of up to B8fion, as long as the reques
increase does not breach any subordinated debtragre of the borrowers or the indenture governig@ompanys 7.875% senior secul
notes due 2019. Availability under the revolvin@dit facility is subject to borrowing base limitatis and an availability block equal to
amount of debt and foreign cash management seree& of America, N.A. or its affiliates makes dahie to the Company’ foreigr
subsidiaries. Up to an aggregate of $10.0 milleravailable to the borrowers for the issuance wére of credit, which reduces availabi
under the revolving credit facility.

73



Table of Contents

The applicable margin is based on average dailifedoilty under the revolving credit facility aslfows:

Domestic Bas

Average Daily LIBOR
Level Availability Rate Loans Revolver Loans
i > $20,000,00( 0.5(% 1.5(%
Il > $10,000,000 but < $20,000,0 0.7%% 1.7%%
| < $10,000,00( 1.00% 2.0(%

Until December 31, 2013, the applicable margin wasat Level lll. Thereafter, the applicable margiiti be subject to increase
decrease by the agent on the first day of the dalemonth following each fiscal quarter end. If #ggent is unable to calculate average i
availability for a fiscal quarter due to borrowefailure to deliver a borrowing base certificatean required, the applicable margin will be
at Level | until the first day of the calendar moribllowing receipt of a borrowing base certific#te of December 31, 2014 the applic:
margin was set at Level Ill.

The Company pays a commitment fee to the lendaraléq 0.25% per annum of the unused amounts whéerevolving credit facility
As of December 31, 2014, $3.8 million in deferredd relating to the revolving credit facility angr @.875% notes were being amortized
the remaining life of the agreements.

As of December 31, 2014, we did not have borrowimggder the revolving credit facility. In additioas of December 31, 2014, we
outstanding letters of credit of approximately $&iflion and borrowing availability of $37.1 milllounder the revolving credit facility.

The borrowers’ obligations under the revolving drddcility are secured by a firgriority lien (subject to certain permitted liens)
substantially all of the tangible and intangiblsets of the borrowers, as well as 100% of the abgibck of the direct domestic subsidiarie
each borrower and 65% of the capital stock of dacign subsidiary directly owned by a borrowerckaf CVG and each other borrowe
jointly and severally liable for the obligations der the revolving credit facility and unconditiolyabuarantees the prompt payment
performance thereof.

Terms, Covenants and Compliance Status

The Second ARLS Agreement requires the maintenaheeminimum fixed charge coverage ratialculated based upon consolid:
EBITDA (as defined in the revolving credit faciljtas of the last day of each of the Comparfiscal quarters. The borrowers are not req
to comply with the fixed charge coverage ratio iegment for as long as the borrowers maintain atl&7.5 million of borrowing availabili
under the revolving credit facility. If borrowingailability is less than $7.5 million at any tinthe borrowers would be required to comply \
a fixed charge coverage ratio of 1.0:1.0 as ofethe of any fiscal quarter, and would be requiredantinue to comply with these requirem
until the borrowers have borrowing availability $7.5 million or greater for 60 consecutive daysc@ese the Company had borrow
availability in excess of $7.5 million from Janudry2014 through December 31, 2014, the Companyneasequired to comply with tl
minimum fixed charge coverage ratio covenant dutiregyear ended December 31, 2014.

The Second ARLS Agreement contains customary cisti covenants, including, without limitation, lirmtions on the ability of tt
borrowers and their subsidiaries to incur additiatebt and guarantees; grant liens on assets; ipaedds or make other distributions; m
investments or acquisitions; dispose of assets;enpalyments on certain indebtedness; merge, comitheany other person or liquida
amend organizational documents; file consolidatedreturns with entities other than other borrowergheir subsidiaries; make mate
changes in accounting treatment or reporting presfienter into restrictive agreements; enter ligidging agreements; engage in transac
with affiliates; enter into certain employee behefans; amend subordinated debt or the indentaverging the 7.875% senior secured n
due 2019; and other matters customarily restriatelban agreements. The Second ARLS Agreement@stains customary reporting ¢
other affirmative covenants. The Company was ingl@nce with these covenants as of December 34.201
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The Second ARLS Agreement contains customary ewdntiefault, including, without limitation, nonpaymt of obligations under t
revolving credit facility when due; material inacaay of representations and warranties; violatiboowenants in the Second ARLS Agreen
and certain other documents executed in connedhierewith; breach or default of agreements relatedebt in excess of $5.0 million ti
could result in acceleration of that debt; revamator attempted revocation of guarantees; denigh@fvalidity or enforceability of the lo
documents or failure of the loan documents to blliforce and effect; certain judgments in exces$2.0 million; the inability of an oblig
to conduct any material part of its business dugaernmental intervention, loss of any materiaiise, permit, lease or agreement nece
to the business; cessation of an obligdsusiness for a material period of time; impairtngncollateral through condemnation proceedi
certain events of bankruptcy or insolvency; certainployee Retirement Income Securities Act evearig; a change in control of the Compi
Certain of the defaults are subject to exceptioretgeriality qualifiers, grace periods and baskasamary for credit facilities of this type.

Voluntary prepayments of amounts outstanding utfterevolving credit facility are permitted at aimpe, without premium or penalty.

The Second ARLS Agreement requires the borrowersake mandatory prepayments with the proceedsrtdineasset dispositions €
upon the receipt of insurance or condemnation pagdo the extent the borrowers do not use theepascfor the purchase of assets use
the borrowers’ businesses.

7.875% Senior Secured Notes due 2019

The 7.875% notes were issued pursuant to an inggrdated as of April 26, 2011 (the “7.875% Notedeinture”),by and among CV(
certain of our subsidiaries party thereto, as guara (the “guarantors”and U.S. Bank National Association, as trusteesrést is payable
the 7.875% notes on April 15 and October 15 of saehr until their maturity date of April 15, 2019.

The 7.875% notes are senior secured obligatior®ues. Our obligations under the 7.875% notes areapiaed by the guarantors. -
obligations of CVG and the guarantors under th&5%8 notes are secured by a secpridrity lien (subject to certain permitted liensi
substantially all of the property and assets of CAfd the guarantors, and a pledge of 100% of thiatatock of CVGS domestic subsidiari
and 65% of the voting capital stock of each foresghsidiary directly owned by CVG and the guarant®he liens, the security interests an
of the obligations of CVG and the guarantors aridpedvisions regarding remedies in an event of dkfare subject to an intercredi
agreement among CVG, certain of its subsidiarles agent for the revolving credit facility and talateral agent for the 7.875% notes.

The 7.875% Notes Indenture contains restrictiveeoants and events of default (subject to certastoonary grace periods). We wert
compliance with these covenants and were not iaulies of December 31, 2014. We could have redeahe7.875% notes, in whole ol
part, at any time prior to April 15, 2014 at a nexqidion price equal to 100% of the principal amatingreof, plus accrued and unpaid intere
any, to the redemption date, plus the “make-whptemium set forth in the 7.875% Notes Indenture.a¥a&uated the “make-wholgremiun
under ASC 8155 and determined that the premium is not requicede bifurcated from the 7.875% notes and accoufdeas a separ:
derivative instrument. We could have redeemed tB&5P6 notes, in whole or in part, at any time orafter April 15, 2014 at the optiot
redemption prices set forth in the 7.875% Noteidre, plus accrued and unpaid interest, if amyhe redemption date. Not more than «
during each twelvenonth period ending on April 15, 2012, April 15,130and April 15, 2014, we could have redeemed ug2®0 million o
the aggregate principal amount of the 7.875% nates redemption price equal to 103% of the pridcgraount thereof, plus accrued |
unpaid interest, if any, to the redemption dateaddition, at any time on or prior to April 15, 20lon one or more occasions, we could |
redeemed up to 35% of the aggregate principal aimafuthe 7.875% notes with the net proceeds obaerquity offerings, as described in
7.875% Notes Indenture, at a redemption price etpuid7.875% of the principal amount thereof, @usrued and unpaid interest, if any, tc
redemption date. The Company did not redeem any
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amounts of the 7.875% notes in the fiscal year @rdecember 31, 2014. If we experience certain chafgcontrol events, holders of
7.875% notes may require us to repurchase all mropaheir notes at 101% of the principal amourgreof, plus accrued and unpaid intere
any, to the repurchase date.

8.  Goodwill and Intangible Assets
Our intangible assets as of December 31 were ceapuf the following (in thousands):

December 31, 201.

Weighted-
Average
Amortization Gross Accumulated Net
Carrying Carrying
Period Amount Amortization Amount
Definite-lived intangible asset:
Trademarks/Tradenam 23 year $ 9,58( $ (3,58 $ 5,99¢
Customer relationshir 15 year 14,62: (2,02¢) 12,59
$24,20: $ (5,619 $18,58¢
December 31, 201.
Weighted-
Average
Amortization Gross Accumulated Net
Carrying Carrying
__Period _Amount_ Amortization _Amount
Definite-lived intangible asset:
Trademarks/Tradenam 23 year $ 9,68( $ (3,090 $ 6,59(
Customer relationshir 15 year 14,82¢ (1,069 13,75¢
$24,50¢ $ (4,159 $20,34¢

The aggregate intangible asset amortization expesmseapproximately, $1.5 million, $1.5 million a$6.5 million for the fiscal yea
ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, respactiVbe estimated intangible asset amortization egpdor each of the five succeec
fiscal years ending after December 31, 2014 is #fill®on per year.

The changes in the carrying amounts of goodwilti@r years ended December 31 are as follows (unstiuds):

2014 2013
Balance — Beginning of the year $8,22( $8,98¢
Currency translation adjustme (164) (766€)
Balance— End of the yea $8,05¢ $8,22(
9. Income Taxes
Pre-tax income (loss) consisted of the followingtfee years ended December 31 (in thousands):
2014 2013 2012

Domestic $ 6,82( $(20,867) $13,31¢
Foreign 5,94 6,07t 9,76
Total $12,76: $(14,78%) $23,08:
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A reconciliation of income taxes computed at thatigbry rates to the reported income tax (bengiivision for the years end
December 31 is as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012

Federal provision at statutory rate $ 4,46¢ $(5,17€) $ 8,07¢
U.S./foreign tax rate differenti (997) (809) 665
Foreign no-deductible expenst 1,55¢ 1,174 1,55
Foreign tax provisiol 361 114 83
State taxes, net of federal ben 1,79¢ 1,00¢ 1,194
Change in uncertain tax positic (150 (259) (359
Change in valuation allowan: (2,539 85¢€ (43,80¢)
Tax credits (92) (326) (37
Share-based compensatic 371 63€ 53¢
Reduction of prior yei's tax attribute: — — 25E
Entity reclassification gai — — 4,16
Other 34z 43¢ 71z
(Benefit) provision for income taxt $ 5,131 $(2,337) $(26,94¢)

The (benefit) provision for income taxes for thaggeended December 31 is as follows (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Current Deferred Total Current Deferred Total Current Deferred Total
Provision Provision Provision Provision Provision Provision Provision Provision Provision
Federal $ 26 $479¢ $482F $(2,689 $(1,837) $(4,526 $(6,295 $(31,679 $(37,97))
State and loce 31€ 2,83¢ 3,15(C 17 994 1,011 854 1,02: 1,87
Foreign 1,51: (4,350 (2,849 731 447 1,17¢ 9,281 (135) 9,14¢
Total $1,85¢ $3277 $5131 $(1,94) $ (396 $(2,337) $3,84( $(30,789) $(26,94)

A summary of deferred income tax assets and lt@slas of December 31 is as follows (in thousands)

2014 2013
Current deferred tax assets (liabilitie
Accounts receivabl $ 411 $ 20z
Inventories 3,08¢ 3,26¢
Warranty cost: 2,261 2,30z
Foreign exchange contras 212 (58)
Accrued benefit: 2,00¢ 1,99:
Other accruals not currently deductible for taxposes 1,44¢ 1,04¢
9,42¢ 8,74¢
Valuation allowanct (28¢€) (56¢)
Net current deferred tax ass $ 9,142 $ 8,18(
Noncurrent deferred tax (liabilities) asse
Amortization and fixed asse $ 5,62( $ 8,51¢
Pension obligatiol 7,22¢ 4,91:
Net operating loss carryforwar 22,36( 27,61
Tax credit carryforward 2,06z 1,82
Stock options 17z 41(
Other temporary differences not currently availdbletax purpose (2,725 (2,619
34,71¢ 40,65¢
Valuation allowanct (11,489 (16,627
Net noncurrent deferred tax assets (liabilit $ 23,23¢ $ 24,03
Total deferred tax ass $ 32,37¢ $ 32,21%
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As of December 31, 2014, we had total deferredtasde$54.1 million, which was offset by $11.8 nwili of valuation allowances. C
total deferred tax liabilities were $9.9 millionufoverall deferred tax position was a net defeteedasset of $32.4 million.

As a result of certain realization requirements, tiible of deferred tax assets and liabilities shatove does not include certain defe
tax assets at December 31, 2014, that arose ¢ifeath tax deductions related to equity compensaiticexcess of compensation recognize:
financial reporting. Equity will be increased by.$2nillion if and when such deferred tax assetsudtimately realized. We use tax law ordel
for purposes of determining when excess tax beneéive been realized.

We assess whether valuation allowances shouldtbblisted against deferred tax assets based oideoaison of all available eviden:
both positive and negative, using a “more likelgrtnot”standard. This assessment considers, among othirsnahe nature, frequency
severity of recent losses, forecasts of future ifaioiity, the duration of statutory carryforwarcnods, our experience with tax attribt
expiring unused and tax planning alternatives. &kimg such judgments, significant weight is giverevidence that can be objectively verifi

During 2012, we generated sufficient earnings tppsut a three-year cumulative history of domestietpx book earnings. Wh
combined with the review of other positive and risgaevidence, we determined that it was appropriatrelease the entire $53.5 millior
valuation allowances associated with all federal state deferred tax assets existing at Decemhet31L. We continued to carry a valua
allowance of $17.5 million related to net deferesdets in international jurisdictions that haveutiple year cumulative loss at December
2012. As of December 31, 2013, we determined thedlaation allowance of $17.2 million was needediast certain foreign deferred
assets located in U.K., China, Ukraine, Czech Rigpubuxembourg and India that have multiple yeamulative losses. During 2014, we w
able to release valuation allowances of $4.0 nmlliothe Czech Republic and Luxemburg that had Ipeeviously established. We were abl
release the valuation allowances in these two ¢apinsdictions since their future profitability dicates that they will be able to utilize tt
deferred assets before expiration. We also eshedalis valuation allowance $0.4 million in 2014 deferred tax assets associated with ce
U.S. state tax net operating loss carry forwar@ds tte have determined are likely to expire beftieytcan be utilized. In the event that
actual results differ from our estimates or we atfbese estimates in future periods, the effddisese adjustments could materially impact
financial position and results of operations. ADacember 31, 2014 and 2013, our net deferredsset gosition was $32.4 million and $:
million, respectively.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $55.1 million afefgn, $18.3 million of federal and $60.8 milliori state net operating Ic
carryforwards available to offset future taxableame. Utilization of these losses is subject totthelaws of the applicable tax jurisdiction
may be limited by the ability of certain subsidéito generate taxable income in the associatefliizdiction. Generally, our net operat
loss carryforwards could expire beginning in 2008l @ontinue through 2034. However, there are gettat jurisdictions with no expiratit
dates. We have established valuation allowanceslifoiet operating losses that we believe are rikety than not to expire before they car
utilized. Of the net operating losses that we @i utilizing, there are none that would expir015 and only $2.2 million that would exf
within the next 5 years.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $1.3 million ofessh and development tax credits being carriedidat related to our U.
operations. Utilization of these credits may beitlah by the ability to generate federal taxableome in future years and will expire beginr
in 2027 and continue through 2033. We also had s@libn of alternative minimum tax credit carryfeard that do not expire.

As of December 31, 2014, undistributed earningmfour foreign affiliates were $26.6 million. We dot intend to repatriate these fu
and consider these funds to be permanently reiegeist accordance with ASC 740-3Deferred taxes have not been provided on -
unremitted earnings as determination of the ligbib not practical because the liability would dependent on circumstances existing if
when remittance occurs.

78



Table of Contents

As of December 31, 2014 cash of $22.4 million well lby foreign subsidiaries. If we were to repaériany portion of these funds bi
to the U.S., we would need to accrue and pay thogpiate withholding and income taxes on amouetsatriated. We do not intend
repatriate funds held by our foreign affiliatest Imiend to use the cash to fund the growth offoteign operations.

We operate in multiple jurisdictions and are roelynunder audit by federal, state and internatidgaalauthorities. Exposures exist relz
to various filing positions which may require antended period of time to resolve and may resuih@dome tax adjustments by the tax
authorities. Reserves for these potential exposhms been established which represent managesmbest estimate of the probe
adjustments. On a quarterly basis, management aealuhe reserve amounts in light of any additionfirmation and adjusts the rese
balances as necessary to reflect the best estiofiatee probable outcomes. However, actual resulty dhiffer from these estimates. 1
resolution of these matters in a particular futpegiod could have an impact on our consolidatetestant of operations and provision
income taxes.

We file federal income tax returns in the U.S. am@bme tax returns in various states and foreigisdictions. With few exceptions, \
are no longer subject to income tax examinationarby of the taxing authorities for years before00e currently have no tax examinati
in process.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, we providedhlilya of $27 thousand and $189 thousand, respelstiof unrecognized tax bene
related to various federal and state income taiipos, all of which would impact our effective teate, if recognized.

We accrue interest and penalties related to unreézed tax benefits through income tax expense. Wke$2 thousand and $84 thous
accrued for the payment of interest and penalti@eaember 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013, respBctiAccrued interest and penalties
included in the $27 thousand of unrecognized taefits.

Approximately $27 thousand of unrecognized tax mese interest and penalties will be released withe next 12 months due to
statute of limitations.

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending amoahtinrecognized tax benefits (including interestl @enalties) at December 31 i
follows (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Balance — Beginning of the year $ 18¢ $ 444 $ 851
Gross increas— tax positions in prior perioc — — 162
Gross decreas+— tax positions in prior perioc (270 (257) (529)
Gross increase— current period tax positior 2 2C
Lapse of statute of limitatior — — (6€)
Balance— End of the yea $ 27 $ 18¢ $ 444

10. Segment Reporting and Geographic Locations

Operating segments are defined as components efitenprise that are evaluated regularly by the Goms CODM. The CODM is it
President and Chief Executive Officer. In the fbuquarter of 2014, two reportable segments werabéshed: the Global Truck and E
Segment (“GTB Segment”) and the Global Constructod Agriculture Segment (“GCA SegmentBach of these segments consists
number of manufacturing facilities. Generally, fheilities in the GTB Segment manufacture and sedlts and seating systems (“Seatsiiy
systems and components, wipers, mirrors, strucamdsother products into the MD / HD Truck and megkets. Generally, the facilities in
GCA Segment manufacture and sell wire harnessess $@d other products into the construction amitalture markets. Both segme
participate in the aftermarket. Certain of our nfanturing facilities manufacture and sell produti®ugh both of our segments. Each
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manufacturing facility that sells products througth segments is reflected in the financial reseflthe segment that has the greatest amoi
sales from that manufacturing facility. Our segrseare more specifically described below.
The GTB Segment manufactures and sells the follgwioducts:

. Seats; Trim; sleeper boxes; and cab structuragtatal components and body panels. These produoetsold primarily to the MC
HD Truck markets in North Americi

. Seats to the truck and bus markets in Asia Pa&ifit Europe

. Mirrors and wiper systems to the truck, bus, adtica, construction, rail and military markets iofth America;
. Trim to the recreational and specialty vehicle neaik North America; an

. Aftermarket seats and components into North Ame

The GCA Segment manufactures and sells the follgywioducts:

. Electronic wire harness assemblies, and Seatofomercial, construction, agricultural, industri@litomotive and mining industr
in North America, Europe and Asia Pacil

. Aftermarket seats and components in Europe and Paiéic

. Office seating in Europe and Asia Paci

. Seats to the truck and bus markets in Asia Paaific Europe; an

. Wiper systems to the construction and agricultuaekets in Europe

For purposes of business segment performance nesasnt, the Company does not allocate aperating or certain stewardship c
that remain in corporate. Corporate expenses dooistertain overhead and shared costs that ardireattly attributable to the operations «

segment. Some of these costs that are for the ibefiehe operations are allocated based on a caatibin of methodologies consistent v
2014 allocations.

The following table presents segment revenues,sgoosfit, depreciation and amortization expensdinge general and administrati
expenses, operating income, total assets and it¢éhes as of and for the year ended December 34 @Athousands):

As of and for the year ended December 31, 20:

Global
Global Construction & Corporate/
Truck &
Bus Agriculture Other Total
Revenues
External Revenue $533,75: $ 305,99: $ — $839,74:
Intersegment Revenu 36€ 11,21( (11,57¢) $ —
Total Revenues $534,11¢ $ 317,20: $(11,57¢) $839,74
Gross Profit $ 81,43( $ 29,58 $ (3,329 $107,68t
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $ 8,97 $ 5,90¢ $ 3,36¢ $ 18,247
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses $ 28,89( $ 21,90 $ 21,68 $ 72,48(
Operating Income $ 51,17: $ 7,563:¢ $(25,017) $ 33,69!
Total Assets $278,99: $ 189,46 $(26,444) $442,01:
Other ltems:
Capital Expenditure $ 8,05t $ 5,14( $ 1,37¢ $ 14,56¢
Other Items! $ 2,09( $ — $ — $ 2,09(
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! Other items include costs associated with planginfgs, including employee severance or retenti@mtscdease cancellation co

building repairs and costs to transfer equipmer#lo8 million in the GTB Segment. Additionally, tlEl'B Segment also include
loss on the sale of a manufacturing facility in Walk, Ohio.

The following table presents segment revenues,sgoosfit, depreciation and amortization expensdinge general and administrati
expenses, operating income, total assets and it¢hes as of and for the year ended December 31 @gthousands):

As of and for the year ended December 31, 20:

Global
Global Construction & Corporate/
Truck &
Bus Agriculture Other Total
Revenues
External Revenue $472,87¢ $ 274,84 $ — $747,71¢
Intersegment Revenu 36€ 7,99 (8,369) $ —
Total Revenues $473,24- $ 282,83 $ (8,367%) $747,71¢
Gross Profit $ 59,52« $ 24,36¢ $ (4,160) $ 79,72¢
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $ 11,77 $ 5,45¢ $ 3,351 $ 20,58
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses $ 28,03¢ $ 19,27 $ 24,40: $ 71,71
Operating Income $ 30,05¢ $ 4,94: $(28,56) $ 6,43¢
Total Assets $263,43! $ 192,81. $(23,80¢) $432,44:
Other Items:
Capital Expenditure $ 5,891 $ 6,11¢ $ 1,65( $ 13,65¢
Other Itemgt $ 3,221 $ 272 $ 6,30¢ $ 9,80:

Other items includes impairment of equipment fahtelogy to manufacture truck components of $1.[Baniand IT software at
plant location of $1.3 million and charges assedawith a reduction in force of $0.6 million in tI'B Segment. Included in ott
items for the GCA Segment are charges associatédamieduction in force of $0.3 million. Includen Corporate are third pa
consulting costs for an organizational assessnmahisaparation charges relating to the former CB@gddition to costs associa
with hiring a new CEO totaling $5.3 million and e¢pes associated with a reduction in force of $1il0an.

The following table presents segment revenues,sgoosfit, depreciation and amortization expensdinge general and administrati
expenses, operating income, total assets and it¢hes as of and for the year ended December 32, g6thousands):

As of and for the year ended December 31, 20:

Global
Global Construction & Corporate/
Truck &
Bus Agriculture Other Total
Revenues
External Revenue $545,23: $ 312,68 $ — $857,91¢
Intersegment Revenu 124 14,05( (14,179 —
Total Revenues $545,35! $ 326,73 $(14,17) $857,91¢
Gross Profit $ 81,46¢ $ 37,63 $ (2,56() $116,53¢
Depreciation and Amortization Expense $ 6,94( $ 4,25¢ $ 2,86¢ $ 14,067
Selling, General & Administrative Expenses $ 27,38¢ $ 20,39¢ $ 24,164 $ 71,94¢
Operating Income $ 53,74( $ 17,08 $(26,72%) $ 44,09¢
Total Assets $254,12: $ 153,75: $ 31,79! $439,66!
Other Items:
Capital Expenditure $ 7,36¢ $ 9,40¢ $ 1,84: $ 18,61f
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The following table presents revenues and longdligssets for each of the geographic areas in wiécbperate (in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Long-lived Long-lived Long-lived
Revenues Assets Revenues Assets Revenues Assets
United States $644,54° $60,81¢ $557,38¢ $63,40¢ $674,10¢ $67,82:
All other countries 195,19¢ 12,64 190,32¢ 15,47: 183,81( 15,48

$839,74: $73,46: $747,71¢ $78,87¢ $857,91¢ $83,30¢

Revenues are attributed to geographic locationedas the location of where the product is soldluded in all other countries
intercompany sales eliminations.

The following is a summary composition by produategory of our revenues (dollars in thousands):

Years Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Revenues % Revenues % Revenues %
Seats and seating systems $351,62: 42 $314,44( 42 $362,63: 42
Electronic wire harnesses and panel assem 180,23 21 152,94° 21 175,05: 21
Trim systems and componel 163,39¢ 19 150,60! 20 170,11( 20
Cab structures, sleeper boxes, body panels anctstal
component: 89,16¢ 11 74,21¢ 10 86,70: 10
Mirrors, wipers and control 55,31¢ 7 55,50 7 63,42: 7

$839,74.  10C  $747,71¢  10C  $857,91¢  10C

11. Commitments and Contingencie

Leases— We lease office, warehouse and manufacturingespad certain equipment under reamcelable operating lease agreen
that require us to pay maintenance, insurancestard other expenses in addition to annual rentaks.anticipated future lease costs are
in part on certain assumptions and we will contitmenonitor these costs to determine if the estisateed to be revised in the future. L
expense was approximately $12.6 million, $16.8 iomlland $15.0 million in 2014, 2013 and 2012, retipely. Capital lease agreeme
entered into by us are immaterial in total. Futmieimum annual rental commitments at December B142under these operating leases a
follows (in thousands):

Year Ending December 31

2015 $8,80(
2016 7,37¢
2017 5,35:
2018 3,34¢
2019 1,42(
Thereaftel 7,19C

Guarantees— We accrue for costs associated with guarantees wigprobable that a liability has been incureedl the amount can
reasonably estimated. The most likely cost to loeinmed is accrued based on an evaluation of clyremtilable facts, and where no amc
within a range of estimates is more likely, the
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minimum is accrued. We record a liability for trarfvalue of such guarantees in the balance shsatf December 31, 2014, we had no
guarantees.

Litigation — We are subject to various legal actions and clamoilental to our business, including those arisng of alleged defec
product warranties and employmegtated and environmental matters. ManagementJedi¢hat we maintain adequate insurance to
these claims. We have established reserves foedsthat are probable and estimable in amounts reameag believes are adequate to ¢
reasonable adverse judgments not covered by insewrdased upon the information available to manag¢rmand discussions with le
counsel, it is the opinion of management that tkimmate outcome of the various legal actions araiht$ that are incidental to our business
not have a material adverse impact on the congelid@nancial position, results of operations astcflows; however, such matters are sul
to many uncertainties and the outcomes of indiVicheatters are not predictable with assurance.

12. Stockholders Equity (Deficit)
Common Stock- Our authorized capital stock consists of 60,000,6hares of common stock with a par value of $pd¥ishare.

Preferred Stock— Our authorized capital stock consists of 5,000 &l¢dres of preferred stock with a par value of $@&rishare, with r
shares outstanding as of December 31, 2014.

Earnings Per Share— Basic earnings per share is determined by dividieigincome by the weighted average number of comshane
outstanding during the year. Diluted earnings pare, and all other diluted per share amounts ptedeis determined by dividing net incc
by the weighted average number of common sharepatemtial common shares outstanding during thogexrs determined by the Treas
Stock Method. Potential common shares are incliideéde diluted earnings per share calculation wiliéutive. Diluted earnings per share
years ended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012 gxlthet effects of potential common shares congisificommon stock issuable uf
exercise of outstanding stock options when diluimehousands, except per share amounts):

2014 2013 2012
Net income attributable to common stockholc— basic and diluted $ 7,63( $(12,44%) $50,07;
Weighted average number of common shares outsig 28,92¢ 28,58¢ 28,23(
Dilutive effect of outstanding stock options andtrieted stocl 191 — 19¢
grants after application of the treasury stock e

Dilutive shares outstandir 29,11° 28,58 28,42¢
Basic earnings per share attributable to commarkbktmders $ 0.2¢ $ (049 $ 177
Diluted earnings per share attributable to comniookholders $ 0.2¢ $ (049 $ 1.7¢

As of December 31, 2014, diluted earnings per skedudes approximately 23 thousand shares of rstederestricted stock a
29 thousand shares of stock options that wereandstg for a portion of 2014 as the effect wouldehbeen antdilutive. As of December 3
2013, diluted earnings per share excludes apprdgl;na55 thousand shares of nonvested restrictedk sand 206 thousand shares
outstanding stock options as the effect would hbeen antidilutive. As of December 31, 2012, diluted earnim@er share exclud
approximately 467 thousand shares of nonvestedatest stock and 470 thousand shares of outstarslotuk options as the effect would h
been anti-dilutive.

Dividends— We have not declared or paid any cash dividendsdrpast. The terms of the Loan and Security Agesgrand the 7.875
Notes Indenture restricts the payment or distrdoudf our cash or other assets, including cashlend payment:
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13. Performance Awards

Awards, defined as cash, shares or other awardg,bmaranted to employees under the Commercial dkel@Group, Inc. 2014 Equi
Incentive Plan (the “2014 EIP”). The Award is eatrand payable based upon the Company’s relativéatT®hareholder Returrih terms o
ranking as compared to the “Peer Group” over aetyear period (the “Performance Periodlptal Shareholder Return is determined by
percentage change in value (positive or negativey ¢the applicable measurement period as measwetiviting (A) the sum of (I) th
cumulative value of dividends and other distribotigaid on the Common Stock (or the publicly tradeshmon stock of the applicable F
Group company) for the applicable measurement gedad (1) the difference (positive or negativefween each such companyStarting
Stock Price” and “Ending Stock Pricdgy (B) the Starting Stock Price. The award is tpbil out at the end of the Performance Periochgh
if the employee is employed through the end ofReeformance Period. If the employee is not predarihg the entire Performance Period,
award will be forfeited. These grants were accadifive as cash settlement awards for which theviaive of the award fluctuates based or
change in Total Shareholder Return in relatiorhi ‘Peer Group”Performance awards were granted under the 2014nB\Wf@vember 201
and in November 2013 under the Fourth Amended agstafed Equity Incentive Plan. The awards grame20il4 totaled $2.1 million a
specify that payments will be made in cash. Awagdmted in 2013 totaled $1.4 million, net of forfiees of $0.3 million and specify tl
payments will be made in cash. The 2013 awardswedl in November 2016 and the 2014 awards wilt weslovember 2017Compensatic
expense was recognized totaling $0.8 million an@ $illion for the years ended December 31, 20112013, respectively. The expense t
recorded in future periods totals $2.5million foe unvested portion of the awards.

14. Share-Based Compensatiot

We estimate our pre-tax share-based compensatjpens& to be approximately $3.8 million in 2015 base our current shatease!
compensation arrangements. The compensation explesitskas been charged against income for thosagements was approximately §
million, $5.3 million and $4.7 million for the yeaended December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, resglgctiv

Stock Option Grants— In October 2004, we granted options to purchase95®3shares of common stock at $15.84 per sharese
options have a tepear term and vest ratably in three equal annwsthiiments commencing on October 20, 2005. Theksiptions expired |
the fourth quarter of 2014.

Restricted Stock Awards- Restricted stock is a grant of shares of commockstioat may not be sold, encumbered or disposednu
that may be forfeited in the event of certain terations of employment, prior to the end of a ret#d period set by the compensa
committee of the board of directors. A participaranted restricted stock generally has all of tlyhts of a stockholder, unless
compensation committee determines otherwise. Theafimg table summarizes information about resericstock grants (in millions, except
share data):

Remaining

Unearned Period (in

Grant Shares Vesting Schedule Compensatior months)
November 201. 494,15: 3 equal annual installments commencing on OctobeP@13 $ 0.t 10
August 201: 100,00( 3 equal annual installments commencing on Octobe2@14 $ 0.4 22
November 201. 470,99° 3 equal annual installments commencing on Octobe2@14 $ 0.4 22
January 201. 4,10( 3 equal annual installments commencing on OctobeP@14 $ 14 22
March 2014 18,80z 3 equal annual installments commencing on OctobeP@14 $ 0.C 22
May 2014 17,50( 3 equal annual installments commencing on OctobeP@14 $ 0.1 22
September 201 30,00( 3 equal annual installments commencing on OctobeP@14 $ 0.1 22
October 201« 506,17: 3 equal annual installments commencing on Octobe2@15 $ 3.1 34

As of December 31, 2014, there was approximatel $@llion of unrecognized compensation expensateel to non-vested shabase!
compensation arrangements granted under our dquaéwptive plans. This
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expense is subject to future adjustments for vgstimd forfeitures and will be recognized on a ghidine basis over the remaining petr
listed above for each grant.

We currently estimate the forfeiture rate for Novam2014, November 2013 and November 2012 resiratick awards at 10.3%, 8.
and 8.2%, respectively, for all participants of legtan. A summary of the status of our stock otias of December 31, 2014 and cha
during the twelve-month period ending December2B14 is presented below:

The following table summarizes information about naonvested restricted stock grants for the yeade& December 31.:

2014 2013 2012

Weighted- Weighted- Weighted-

Average Average Average
Share: Grant-Date Shares Grant-Date Shares Grant-Date

(000’s) Fair Value (000's) Fair Value (000’s) Fair Value
Nonvestec- beginning of year 85¢ $ 7.5 90¢ $ 10.1( 89z $ 11.4:
Grantec 577 6.91 571 6.9¢ 494 7.8t
Vested (379 8.0€ (489) 11.0¢ (45€) 10.1¢
Forfeited (13€) 7.5¢ (135) 9.3( (23) 12.1¢
Nonvestec- end of yea 91f $ 6.9¢ 85¢ $ 7.5¢ 90¢ $ 10.1C

The weighted-average gradi#te fair value for the years ended December 314,2@013 and 2012 was $6.91, $6.96 and $
respectively. We expect employees to surrendercappately 143 thousand shares of our common stockonnection with the vesting
restricted stock during 2015 to satisfy incomewdthholding obligations.

As of December 31, 2014, a total of 1,892,868 shasmere available from the shares authorized for@wader our 2014 Equity Incent
Plan, including cumulative forfeitures.

Repurchase of Common Steek We did not repurchase any of our common stock enapen market as part of a stock repurc
program during 2014; however, our employees sugesti90 thousand shares of our common stock tsfysatix withholding obligations ¢
the vesting of restricted stock awards issued uadeFourth Amended and Restated Equity Incentlaa.P

15. Defined Contribution Plans, Pension and Other Po-Retirement Benefit Plans

Defined Contribution Plans— We sponsor various 401(k) employee savings plamsrag all eligible employees, as defined. Elig
employees can contribute on a pa&-basis to the plan. In accordance with the teshibe 401(k) plans, we elect to match a certaircentag
of the participantstontributions to the plans, as defined. We recagphigxpense associated with these plans of apprediyn2.2 million ir
2014, 2013 and 2012.

Pension and Other Post-Retirement Benefit PlangVe sponsor pension and other pairement benefit plans that cover certain hc
and salaried employees in the U.S. and United KingdOur policy is to make annual contributions be fplans to fund the minimt
contributions as required by local regulations.
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The change in benefit obligation, plan assets anddd status as of December 31 consisted of thenioly (in thousands):

Change in benefit obligation:

Benefit obligatior— Beginning of yea
Service cos

Interest cos

Participant contribution

Benefits paic

Actuarial loss (gain

Exchange rate chang

Benefit obligation at end of ye.
Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan asse— Beginning of yea
Actual return on plan asse

Employer contribution

Participant contribution

Benefits paic

Exchange rate chang

Fair value of plan assets at end of y

Funded statu

U.S. Pension Plan:

Non-U.S. Pension Plan:

Other
Post-Retirement
Benefit Plans

2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
$42,02¢ $47,09¢ $4327. $41,76¢ $68€ $91€
84 10¢ — — — —

1,887 1,70¢ 1,75¢ 1,761 28 29
— — — — 14 19
(2,009 (1,875 (1,590  (1,60)  (100)  (107)
8,771 (5,009 2,64: 49 (119 (179
— — (2,517) 85C — —
50,76¢  42,02¢  4356¢ 43,27 51E 68€
33,54: 29,39 3504  31,93¢ — —
2,03¢ 3,03¢ 3,59¢ 3,12¢ — —
2,09 2,087 73z 92¢ 86 88
— — — — 14 19
(2,009 (1,879 (1,590  (1,60) (100  (107)
— — (2,039 65C — —
35,66(  3354: 3575 35,04« — —
$(15,10) $(8,487) $(7,81) $(8,227) $(515) $(68€)

Amounts recognized in the consolidated balancetstadecember 31 consist of (in thousands):

U.S. Pension Plan

2014 2013
Current liabilities $ — $
Noncurrent liabilities 15,10¢ 8,48
Net amount recognize $15,10¢ $ 8,48

Non-U.S. Pension Plan:

2014 2013
$ — $ —

7,81¢ 8,22i
$ 7.81¢ $ 8,221

Other Post-Retirement
Benefit Plans

2014 2013
$ 81 $ 151

434 53¢
$ bIE $ 68€

The components of net periodic benefit cost foryihars ended December 31 are as follows (in thasdan

U.S. Pension Plan:

Non-U.S. Pension Plan

Other
Post-Retirement
Benefit Plans

2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Service cost $ 84 ¢ 106 ¢ 122 $ — $ — & — $ — $ — % —
Interest cos 1,88: 1,704 1,802 1,75¢ 1,761 1,86: 28 29 48
Expected return on plan ass (2,519 (2,2072) (1,959 (1,89 (1,879 (1,697) — — —
Amortization of prior service co: — — — — — — 6 (122 (128)
Recognized actuarial loss (ga 15¢ 421 371 24¢ 30z 26( (15¢) (157) (89)
Net periodic benefit cot (384 31 33C 11€ 18t 42¢€ (124 (250 (169)
Net benefit cos $ 38) $ 31 $ 33 $ 11 $ 18 $ 42¢  $(124) $(250  $(169
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Amounts Recognized in Accumulated Other Comprelehistcome (Loss}- Amounts recognized in accumulated other compretie
income (loss) at December 31 are as follows (inghnds):

Other
Post-Retirement
U.S. Pension Plan Non-U.S. Pension Plan: Benefit Plans
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Net actuarial loss (gait $17,10¢ $8,01¢ $15,17: $10,227 $10,13( $10,96: $(62C) $(682) $(66%)
Prior service cost (credi — — — — — 75 81 (472)

$17,10° $8,01« $1517. $10,227 $10,13( $10,96° $(545) $(601) $(704)

Other Changes in Plan Assets and Benefit ObligatiBecognized in Other Comprehensive Income (Les#imounts recognized
other changes in plan assets and benefit obligationother comprehensive income for the year erldedember 31 are as follows
thousands):

Other Post
Retirement
U.S. Pension Plan: Non-U.S. Pension Plan Benefit Plans
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Actuarial loss (gain) $9,251 $(6,737) $ 934 $ (757 $ (119 $ (A7)
Amortization of actuarial (gain) los (159 (427 (249) (302) 15¢ 15¢
Prior Service cred — — — — (6) 122
Total recognized in other comprehensive incomesl $9,092 $(7,15¢9 $ 68t $ (1,059 $ 39 $ 107

The estimated actuarial loss for the defined béemefinsion plans that will be amortized from accuated other comprehensive incc
into net periodic benefit cost over the next fisgahr are $0.5 million. The estimated actuariahdar the other postetirement benefit plai
that will be amortized from accumulated other cosmgnsive income into net periodic benefit cost diiernext fiscal year are $0.1 milli
During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Soofef\ctuaries (“SOA")issued new mortality tables to be used to estimatesion pla
liabilities. The revised mortality tables reflect encrease in expected life span, which, in tunoréased our pension liability by approxima
$3.1 million. The increase was reflected in oth@mprehensive income and will be amortized intopestodic benefit cost over an actuarially
determined period of time.

Weighted-average assumptions used to determindibeblgations at December 31 are as follows:

Other Post-
Non-U.S. Pensior Retirement
U.S. Pension Plan: Plans Benefit Plans
2014 2013 2014 2013 2014 2013
Discount rate 3.7%% 4.57% 3.5(% 4.4(% 3.7%% 4.51%

Weighted-average assumptions used to determingeniedic benefit cost at December 31 are as follows

Other Post-Retirement

U.S. Pension Plan Non-U.S. Pension Plan: Benefit Plans
2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012 2014 2013 2012
Discount rate 4.51% 3.61% 4.1% 4.4(% 4.2(% 4.9(% 4.51% 3.61% 4.1%
Expected return on plan ass 7.5(% 7.5(% 7.5(% 5.8(% 5.8(% 5.8(% N/A N/A N/A

The rate of return assumptions are based on peaidohgterm market returns for the various asset clagsesich the plans are invest
weighted by the target asset allocations. An inemiad amount for active plan asset management asdsdication, where appropriate,
included in the rate of return assumption. Our emplan investment strategy is reviewed annually.

We employ a total return investment approach wheeelmix of equities and fixed income investmentsaed to maximize the longen
return of plan assets for a prudent level of righke intent of this strategy is to
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minimize plan expenses by outperforming plan litib8 over the long run. Risk tolerance is estdigles through careful consideration of
liabilities, plan funded status and corporate firiahcondition. The investment portfolio containgligersified blend of equity, balanced, fi>
income and real estate investments. Furthermorgtyeimvestments are diversified across U.S. andtdds. stocks, as well as growth, ve
and small and large capitalizations. Other assatB as real estate are used judiciously to enhlanggterm returns while improving portfol
diversification. Derivatives may be used to gairrkea exposure in an efficient and timely mannenveaeer, derivatives may not be use:
leverage the portfolio beyond the market valuehef inderlying investments. Investment risk is mess@and monitored on an ongoing b
through annual liability measurements, periodictBability studies and quarterly investment politf reviews. We expect to contribute $
million to our pension plans and our other posireatent benefit plans in 2015.

Our current investment allocation target for oungien plans for 2015 and our weightagerage asset allocations of our pension asse
the years ended December 31, by asset categorgs doHlows:

Target Allocation Pension Plans
Us. Non-U.S 2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents —% —% —% —%
Equity securitie: 55 55 57 58
Debt securitie! 25 45 32 28
Real estat* _2C 0 _1u 14
10C% 10C% 10C% 10C%

Real estate investments are attributed primarily.®. pension plan:

The following descriptions relate to our plan asset
Cash and cash equivalents The fair value of cash and cash equivalentslisechat cost.

Equity Securities— The overall equity category includes common stogssied by U.S., United Kingdom and other internsl
companies, equity funds that invest in common staukd unit linked insurance policies. All investisegenerally allow neaerm (within 9(
days of the measurement date) liquidity and are imelssues that are actively traded to faciliteésactions at minimum cost.

Balanced— The overall balanced category includes funds piignamvested in a mix of equity and fixed incomecsdties where tt
allocations are at the discretion of the investrmeanhager. All investments generally allow n&am (within 90 days of the measurement ¢
liquidity and are held in issues that are activedyled to facilitate transactions at minimum cost.

Fixed Income Security— The overall fixed income category includes U.Sllai-denominated and United Kingdom and o
international marketable bonds and convertible debtrrities as well as fixed income funds that stwe these instruments. All assets gene
allow near-term liquidity and are held in issuehjch are actively traded to facilitate transactiassminimum cost.

The fair value of fixed income securities is detiered by either direct or indirect quoted marketes. When the value of assets he
separate accounts is not published, the valuesedban the underlying holdings, which are primadiiect quoted market prices on reguli
financial exchanges.

Real Estate— Real estate provides an indirect investment anttiversified and multsector portfolio of property assets. The fair vait
real estate investments is valued by the fund memsagrhe fund managers value the real estate meess via independent thipghrty
appraisals on a periodic basis. Assumptions useelvdue the properties are updated every quarter.

88



Table of Contents

The fair values of our pension plan assets by asdegory and by level as described in Note 2Heryears ended December 31, 2014
2013 are as follows (in thousands):

December 31, 201
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for

Significant Significant
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents $ 22¢ $ 228 $ — $ —
Equities:
U.S. large valu 4,35¢ 4,35¢ — —
U.S. large growt! 4,21z 4,21z — —
International blent 6,49( — 6,49( —
International growtt 2,59( 2,59( — —
Emerging market 2,65¢ 2,65¢ — —
Balancec 20,20: — 20,20z —
Fixed income securitie:
Government bond 4,54( — 4,54( —
Corporate bond 18,18¢ — 18,18¢ —
Real Estate
U.S. property 7,622 — — 7,622
U.K. property 33t — — 33¢
Total pension fund asse $71,41¢ $ 14,03¢ $ 49,41¢ $ 7,951
December 31, 201
Quoted Prices in
Active Markets for
Significant Significant
Identical Assets Observable Inputs Unobservable Inputs
Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
Cash and cash equivalents $ 24: $ 243 $ — $ —
Equities:
U.S. large valui 3,801 3,801 — —
U.S. large growt! 3,731 3,731 — —
International large valu 98¢ — 98¢ —
International blent 5,62¢ — 5,62¢ —
International growtt 2,86¢ 2,86¢ — —
Emerging market 2,51¢ 2,51¢ — —
Balancec 20,66¢ — 20,66¢ —
Fixed income securitie:
Corporate bond 18,98¢ — 18,98 —
Real Estate
U.S. property 6,76 — — 6,761
U.K. property 2,84: — — 2,84:
Total pension fund asse $69,03: $ 13,15] $ 46,26¢ $ 9,61(
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The fair value of our pension plan assets measuséty significant unobservable inputs (Level 3pa&icember 31 are as follows
thousands):

2014 2013
Beginning balance $9,61( $8,34:
Actual return on plan asse
Relating to assets held at reporting ¢ 903 98C
Relating to assets sold during the pel 231 17
Purchases, sales and settlements (2,209 217
Foreign currency translation adjustm (5823) 53
Ending balanci $ 7,951 $9,61(

For measurement purposes, a 6% annual rate ofaseia the per capita cost of covered health camefiis was assumed for 2014. "
rate was assumed to decrease gradually to 5% thrd0$8 and remain constant thereafter. Assumedhheate cost trend rates can ha
significant effect on the amounts reported for oth@st-retirement benefit plans.

Differences in the ultimate health care cost trestgs within the range indicated below would hagd the following impact on 20
other post-retirement benefit results (in thousinds

1 Percentage 1 Percentage
Poaint Increase Point Decreas

Increase (Decrease) from change in health caretrevst rate:
Other pos-retirement benefit expen: $ 4 $ 4
Other pos-retirement benefit liability $ 11 $ 12

The following table summarizes our expected futbemefit payments of our pension and other peStement benefit plans |
thousands):

Other Post-

Retirement
Year Pension Plan Benefit Plans
2015 $ 3,73t $ 81
2016 $  3,99¢ $ 74
2017 $  4,20¢ $ 76
2018 $ 4,21t $ 67
2019 $ 4,662 $ 45
2020 to 202+ $ 26,87 $ 117
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16. Comprehensive Income (Loss

The activity for each item of accumulated other poshensive income is as follows (in thousands):

Beginning balance, January 1, 2013

Net current period chang

Reclassification adjustments for losses reclaskifieo
income

Ending balance, December 31, 2(
Net current period chang

Reclassification adjustments for gains reclassifita
income

Ending balance, December 31, 2(

The related tax effects allocated to each compoaotwther comprehensive income (loss) for the yesmded December 31, 2014
2013 are as follows:

2014
Retirement benefits adjustme
Net actuarial gain (loss) and prior service cr
Reclassification of actuarial loss and prior sex\gost to ne
income

Net unrealized los
Cumulative translation adjustme
Total other comprehensive income (lo

2013
Retirement benefits adjustme
Net actuarial gain (loss) and prior service cr
Reclassification of actuarial loss and prior sex\dost to ne
income

Net unrealized los
Cumulative translation adjustme
Total other comprehensive income (lo
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currency items
$ (7,569
(4,339

$ (11,9&)
(4,600)

$ (16,507

Before Tax

Amount
$(10,077)

25€
(9,815)
(4,63)
$(14,45))

Before Tax

Amount

$ 8,85(

(449)
8,407
(4,319

$ 4,08¢

Pension and
postretirement

benefits plans
$ (20,319
6,30¢

(391)

$ (14,400
(6,639)

$ (20,78

Tax (Expense

Benefit

$ 3,43t

N C)

3,43t
3
$ 341

Tax (Expense

Benefit
$ (2,549

52
(2,497)

(20)

$ (2519

Accumulated othel

comprehensive
loss

$ (27,88%)
1,96¢

(391)
M
(11,239

25¢
$ 37,28¢

After Tax Amount

$ (6,639
252

(6,380

(4,600

$ (10980

After Tax Amount

$ 6,301
(391)

5,91(

(4,33

$ 1,577
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17. Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

The following is a condensed summary of actual wgulr results of operations for 2014 and 2013 (inusands, except per st
amounts):

Diluted
Net Income Earnings (Loss
(Loss)
Attributable Basic Per Share
Net Income Earnings (Loss Attributable to
Operating to Common Common
Revenues Gross Profit Income (Loss (Loss) Stockholders Per Share Stockholders?
2014:
First $198,07: $ 2430: $ 544¢ $ (508 $ (506 $ (002 $ (0.02)
Seconc $215,99¢ $ 28,18¢ $ 9,04i $ 2,73¢ $ 2,73¢ $ 0.0¢ $ 0.0¢
Third $213,80: $ 28,42¢ $ 9,70t $ 1,16 $ 1,162 $ 0.04 $ 0.0
Fourth $211,87- $ 26,77 $ 9,49: $ 4,23] $ 4,23t $ 0.1% $ 0.1t
2013:
First $177,82. $ 1808 $ (279 $ (4610 $ (461) 3 (0.1 $ (0.16)
Seconc $198,90¢ $ 28877 $ 213 $ (1,669 $ (1,66 $ (006 $ (0.0€)
Third $187,94. $ 1809: $ (3429 $ (7.267) $ (7.267) S (025 % (0.25)
$ 20,68: $  8,00¢ $ 1,09¢ $ 1,20C $ 0.04 $ 0.0

Fourth $183,04!
@ See Note 12 for discussion on the computationlafati shares outstandir
The sum of the per share amounts for the quarters dot equal the total for the year due to thdiGgn of the treasury stock methods.
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure

There were no disagreements with our former indépenaccountants on matters of accounting and dinhdisclosures or reportal
events.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedure

As disclosed in Item 9A under the heading “ManagafseReport on Internal Control over Financial Rejpm” of the Company
Annual Report on Form 1B-for fiscal year ended December 31, 2013, the Gongpisclosed a material weakness in system acoedsols
resulting in inadequate segregation of duties. &ibecember 31, 2013, the Company has implementedugameasures as part o
remediation plan to remediate such material weakia@sl improve its internal control over financiaporting. These measures include
following:

1. Review and revise our policies and procedures twmece oversight of our system access controls,iraptdove communicatic
between departments in order

a. timely remove system access for terminated empky
b. timely prepare and review system access reportisd@propriate user access; ¢
C. timely review system access by users that trat&®veen department

2. Clearly communicate a strong tone by the Commanyanagement setting a commitment to fully implemesrd administer tt
remediation steps listed above with accountabiManagement may determine to take additional measoir determine to mod
the remediation plan described abc

Management believes it has fully implemented andpleted its remediation plan as of December 314201

The Company believes that the implementation of rdreediation plan, has remediated the “materialkwesses’in system acce
controls resulting in inadequate segregation ofedufThe Company will continue to develop policéesl procedures as needed and rein
compliance with existing policies and procedurethenCompany’s effort to constantly improve itseimtal control environment.

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We evaluated, with the participation of our priradigxecutive officer and principal financial officghe effectiveness of our disclos
controls and procedures (as defined in Rule 13e)l&fder the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (thechange Act”))as of December 3
2014. Based on this evaluation, our principal egeuwfficer and principal financial officer havemcluded that our disclosure controls
procedures were effective as of December 31, 261grdvide reasonable assurance that informationimed| to be disclosed in our repc
under the Exchange Act is recorded, processed, swized and reported within the time periods spedifin the SEC rules and forms and
such information is accumulated and communicatedanagement as appropriate to allow timely decsstegarding required disclosure.

Management’s Report on Internal Control Over Finandal Reporting

Management is responsible for establishing and tai@ing adequate internal control over financigdaing as defined in Rule 13&(f)
under the Exchange Act. Our internal control sysiembesigned to provide reasonable assurance liagdtte reliability of financial reportir
and the preparation of financial statements foeml purposes in accordance with generally acdepteounting principles. Because ot
inherent limitations, internal control over finaakreporting may not prevent or detect misstatemeXiso controls deemed effective now t
become inadequate in the future because of changamnditions, or because compliance with the pedicor procedures has deteriorate
been circumvented. Management assessed the
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effectiveness of our internal control over finahcgporting as of December 31, 2014. In making #isessment, management used the ¢
established in the Internal Contiottegrated Framework issued by the Committee oinSpong Organizations of the Treadway Commis
(1992 framework) (the “COSO criteria”). Based onnagemens assessment and the COSO criteria, managemeatvézelihat our interr
control over financial reporting was effective december 31, 2014.

Our independent registered public accounting fikPMG LLP, has issued a report on our internal aan@ver financial reportin
KPMG LLP’s report appears following Item 9A and expressesrajualified opinion on the effectiveness of oueinal control over financi
reporting.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

Other than as discussed above with respect todhmpletion of the Compang’remediation plan, there were no changes in derria
control over financial reporting during the quartexdded December 31, 2014 that have materially @ffleor are reasonably likely to materi
affect, our internal control over financial repaodgi
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc.:

We have audited Commercial Vehicle Group, mdriternal control over financial reporting as odd@mber 31, 2014, based on crit
established innternal Control — Integrated Framework (19923sued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatiohthe Treadwe
Commission (COSO). Commercial Vehicle Group, Imearianagement is responsible for maintaining effecinternal control over financ
reporting and for its assessment of the effectiser@ internal control over financial reportingclided in the accompanying Management’
Report on Internal Control over Financial Reportapgpearing under Item 9A. Our responsibility iset@ress an opinion on the Company’
internal control over financial reporting basedoam audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stadedof the Public Company Accounti@yersight Board (United States). Th
standards require that we plan and perform thetdadbbtain reasonable assurance about whethectigffeinternal control over financ
reporting was maintained in all material respe€ar audit included obtaining an understanding ¢érimal control over financial reportir
assessing the risk that a material weakness eagististesting and evaluating the design and operafifectiveness of internal control basec
the assessed risk. Our audit also included perfayrauch other procedures as we considered necdasingy circumstances. We believe
our audit provides a reasonable basis for our opini

A companys internal control over financial reporting is a@ess designed to provide reasonable assuranceliregghe reliability o
financial reporting and the preparation of finahsiatements for external purposes in accordanttegenerally accepted accounting princig
A companys internal control over financial reporting inclgdihose policies and procedures that (1) pertathéanaintenance of records tl
in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflbet transactions and dispositions of the assettseofompany; (2) provide reasonable assui
that transactions are recorded as necessary toitpgraparation of financial statements in accorédamdth generally accepted accoun
principles, and that receipts and expenditureshef dompany are being made only in accordance withoaizations of management :
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanalsksurance regarding prevention or timely deteafounauthorized acquisition, use
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtyver financial reporting may not prevent or d@étmisstatements. Also, projections
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periogssaibject to the risk that controls may becomedénaate because of changes in conditior
that the degree of compliance with the policieprocedures may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. mained, in all material respects, effective intécwntrol over financial reporting as
December 31, 2014, based on criteria establishéaténnal Control — Integrated Framework (19929sued by the Committee of Sponso
Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasdaf the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo&uUnited States), tl
consolidated balance sheets of Commercial Vehictei Inc. and subsidiaries as of December 31, 20142013, and the related consolid
statements of income (loss), comprehensive incdoss)( stockholders’ equity, and cash flows forheat the years in the thrgear perio
ended December 31, 2014, and our report dated MaxcR015 expressed an unqualified opinion on titossolidated financial statements.

/sl KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ohio
March 16, 2015
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ltem 9B.  Other Information
None.

PART IlI

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere
A. Directors of the Registrant
The following table sets forth certain informatiaith respect to our current directors as of Mar6h2015:

Name Age Principal Position(s)

Richard A. Snel 73 Chairman and Directc

Richard P. Lavir 62 President, Chief Executive Officer and Direc
Scott C. Arves 58 Director

Harold Bevis 54  Director

David R. Bovee 65 Director

Roger Fix 61 Director

Robert C. Griffin 67 Director

The following biographies describe the busineseagrpce of our directors:

Scott C. Arvedias served as a Director since July 2005. Sincaadar2007, Mr. Arves has served as President anef E&xecutive
Officer of Transport America, a truckload, intermab@nd logistics provider. Prior to joining Transp@merica, Mr. Arves was President
Transportation for Schneider National, Inc., a julev of transportation, logistics and related sasj from May 2000 to July 2006. Mr. Ar
brings nearly 33 years of transportation experignochis role as Director, including 19 years of FL&xperience and 16 years as a Divi
President or Chief Executive Officer.

Harold Bevishas served as a Director since June 2014. He hgsad of experience including 20 years of expegeas a business lea
with leadership assignments at GE and Emersonriglieahd 14 years of experience as a CEO, Presat@hDirector of global manufacturi
companies. He has worked in public companies foyd&rs and private companies for 15 years. Mr. 8évicurrently President, Ch
Executive Officer and Director of Xerium Technolegj Inc. (NYSE:XRM) since August 2012. He has lacee¢ successful mulyieal
operational turnarounds and has started one compdenhas led 114 manufacturing plants and operdgags in 21 countries includit
Argentina, Australia, Austria, Brazil, Canada, GhirCzech Republic, Finland, France, Germany, Inda&y, Japan, Malaysia, Mexic
Morocco, Russia, South Korea, Spain, UK, and thigddrStates. He has led 10 acquisitions, 3 divesst 8 greenfield plant startups, 28
expansions, 24 plant closures, and multiple joentures. His companies have received over 26 indastards and over 300 new-orid
patented inventions. He has done many capitaltsirei¢ransactions including: capital leases, opegdeases, factoring, secured bank lenc
unsecured bank lending, bond offerings, covenagotiations, asset pledges, equity pledges, restristock offerings, common stock offerir
restricted subsidiaries, unrestricted subsidiaaesl, secured agency ratings. He has led two coeperganizations through bankruptcy cc
He has received many personal leadership awartigling the Illinois Community Service Award for higork with the Special Olympics. N
Bevis also serves on the State of North Carolinaniier of Commerce Manufacturing Council, and thy Gf Raleigh, North Carolir
Chamber of Commerce Board of Advisors. Mr. Bevimed a BS degree in engineering from lowa Statevéfeity and an MBA degree frc
Columbia University.

David R. Bovedas served as a Director since October 2004. MreBaerved as Vice President and Chief Financifit€@fof Dure
Automotive Systems, Inc. (“Durafyom January 2001 to March 2005 and from Novemi&201to May 1997. In October 2006, subseque
Mr. Bovee’s 2005 retirement, Dura filed a voluntary petitfonreorganization under the federal bankruptcyslarom May 1997 until Januz
2001, Mr. Bovee served as Vice President of Busiies/elopment for Dura. Mr. Bovee also served asishant

96



Table of Contents

Secretary for Dura. Prior to joining Dura, Mr. Beveerved as Vice President at Wickes in its AutdreoGroup from 1987 to 19¢
Mr. Bovee’s relevant experience includes more than 10 years @hief Financial Officer and 15 years as an wkex officer of a majc
automotive supplier, and nearly 10 years of expegen a publicly traded company. Mr. Bove€areer spans 32 years in the manufact
and transportation sectors, servicing a footpiimilar to CVG. Mr. Bovee has spent his entire caiiagfinance roles, which suits him well
his position on the Audit Committee.

Roger Fixcurrently serves as the nemecutive chairman of the board of directors o8éx International Corporation. He servei
President and Chief Executive Officer of Standexfr2003 to 2014. He was Stande®resident and Chief Operating Officer from 206
2003. Mr. Fix has served as a director of FlowsePegporation since 2006 and serves as the Chaiwhdhe Corporate Nominating a
Governance Committee and a member of the Audit Citteen Mr. Fix earned a masterdegree in mechanical engineering from the Unitye
of Texas and a bachelor-of-science degree in mémddaangineering from the University of Nebraska.

Robert C. Griffinhas served as a Director since July 2005. His cag@nned over 25 years in the financial secta@luding Head ¢
Investment Banking Americas and Management ComeniMember for Barclag Capital from 2000 to 2002. Prior to that, Mr.f€mi servec
as the Global Head of Financial Sponsor CoverageBémk of America Securities and a member of itsnidomery Securities Subsidi
Management Committee from 1998 to 2000 and as Giexgcutive Vice President of Bank of America andnamber of its Seni
Management Committee from 1997 to 1998. Mr. Griffarved as a Director of Sunair Services Corpardtiom February 2008 until its sale
December 2009 as a member of their Audit Commistee Chairman of their Special Committee. Mr. Gnifferved as a Director of G
Holdings, Inc., from December 2011 to August 201#ere he was Chairman of the Board and a membéreoCompensation Committee i
the Nominating and Corporate Governance Commilire Griffin served as a Director of Builders First8ce, Inc., where he is Chairmar
the Audit Committee, a member of the Nominating @Guttee and was Chairman of their Special Committe2009, and as a Director of 1
J.G. Wentworth Company where he is currently Chairnof the Audit Committee. Mr. Griffin brings stmrfinancial and managem:
expertise to our Board through his experience asffacer and director of a public company, servizeother boards and his senior leadel
tenure within the financial industry.

Richard P. Lavirhas served as director since August 2013 and asdErg and Chief Executive Officer since May 20R8or to joining
us in May 2013, Mr. Lavin was the Group Presidéntonstruction Industries and Growth Markets ate@aitlar Inc. from December 2007
December 2012. Mr. Lavin served as Vice Presidéhtuman Resources for Caterpillar Inc. from 2002804 and served as its Vice Presii
of Operations for Asia Pacific Division from Julp@4 to December 2007. From 1984 to 2001, Mr. Laérved in a number of key leader:
roles at Caterpillar including Product Manager,etor of Corporate Human and Labor Relations, Direof Compensation and Benefits |
Attorney. Mr. Lavin has been a Director for USG @anation since November 2009 and ITT CorporatioreesiMay 2013. Mr. Lavin served
a Director of US-China Business Council, the Urdlia Business Council and the U.S. Korea Busii@mssncil. Mr. Lavin also was a mem|
of The Conference Board and the Chicago CounciGtbal Affairs. Mr. Lavin served on the Internatédrmdvisory Council of Guanghi
School of Management at Peking University and seorethe Board of Trustees at Bradley University.

Richard A. Snelhas served as a Director since August 2004 anchasr@an since March 2010. He has served as ChaiemdrChie
Executive Officer of Qualitor, Inc. since May 208Ad as an Operating Partner at HCI Partners sig@8. Mr. Snell served as Chairman
Chief Executive Officer of Federalogul Corporation, an automotive parts manufactundrere he served from 1996 to 2000, and as
Executive Officer at Tenneco Automotive, also atomotive parts manufacturer, where he was empldyed 1987 to 1996. Mr. Snell ser
as a Director of Schneider National, Inc., a mué#ttional trucking company, and as a member of tR@impensation and Governa
Committees from 1996 to 2011.

B. Executive Officers

Information regarding our executive officers is $etth in Item 1 of Part | of this Annual Report ¢rorm 10K under the headir
“Executive Officers of the Registrant.”

There are no family relationships between any ofdiectors or executive officers.
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C. Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compdince and Corporate Governanct

The information required by Item 10 with respectctmpliance with reporting requirements is incogted herein by reference to
sections labeled “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwngrsReporting Compliance” and “Proposal No. 1 — Htattof Directors —Corporat
Governance,” which appear in CVG’s 2015 Proxy Stetet.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio

The information required by Item 11 is incorporaledein by reference to the sections labeled “EtveeCompensation 2012 Directo
Compensation Table” and “Executive Compensatior’ ‘@roposal No. 1 — Election of Directors — Corper&overnance Which appear i
CVG'’s 2015 Proxy Statement including informatiordanthe heading “Compensation Discussion and Argalys

ltem 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners alanagement and Related Stockholder Mattt

Options to purchase common shares of our commark $tave been granted to certain of our executivieskeey employees under «
fourth amended and restated equity incentive pfehaur management stock option plan. The followaige summarizes the number of st
options granted, net of forfeitures and exercisesl shares of restricted stock awarded and isswdof forfeitures and shares on wt
restrictions have lapsed, the weightagrage exercise price of such stock options amatimber of securities remaining to be issued uall
outstanding equity compensation plans as of Decefihe2014:

Number of
Weighted-average Securities
Number of Securities to b Exercise Price of Remaining Available
Issued upon Exercise of Outstanding for Future Issuance
Outstanding Options, Options, Warrants Under Equity
Warrants and Rights and Rights Compensation Plan:

Equity compensation plans approve

by security holders

2014 Equity Incentive Pla — $ — 1,892,86!
Equity compensation plans not

approved by stockholde — $

Total — $ — —

The information required by Item 12 is incorporatemtein by reference to the section label8dcurity Ownership of Certain Benefic
Owners and Management,” which appears in CVG’s 2ty Statement.

Item 13.  Certain Relationships, Related Transactions and &itor Independenc

The information required by Item 13 is incorporateerein by reference to the sections label€@rtain Relationships and Rela
Transactions” and “Proposal No. 1 — Election ofdBiors — Corporate Governance,” which appear in G\&B15 Proxy Statement.

Item 14.  Principal Accountant Fees and Servict

The information required by Item 14 is incorporateerein by reference to the section labeled “Prabd®. 3 — Ratification o
Appointment of the Independent Registered Publicoioting Firm,” which appears in CVG’s 2015 Proxat8ment.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statements Scheduls
(1) LIST OF FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES
The following financial statement schedule of the @poration and its subsidiaries is included herein:

Schedule Il — Valuation and Qualifying Accounts andReserves.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC. AND SUBSIDIARIES
SCHEDULE II: VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012
Accounts Receivable Allowances:
Transactions for the years ended December 31 vedi@laws (in thousands):

2014 2013 2012
Balance — Beginning of the year $ 2,30z $ 3,39:¢ $ 3,867
Provisions 5,22¢ 2,52( 2,66¢
Utilizations (4,659 (3,607) (3,179
Currency translation adjustme (60) (4) 31
Balance— End of the yea $ 2,80¢ $ 2,302 $ 3,39¢
Income Tax Valuation Allowance:
Transactions for the years ended December 31 vedi@dlaws (in thousands):
2014 2013 2012
Balance — Beginning of the year $17,18¢ $17,49: $ 69,36¢
Provisions 92¢ 2,64( 2,82¢
Utilizations (6,349) (2,949 (54,700
Balance— End of the yea $11,77( $17,18¢ $17,49:

All other schedules for which provision is madette applicable accounting regulations of the SE€rait required under the rela
instructions or are inapplicable and, thereforeghaeen omitted.

(2) LIST OF EXHIBITS
The following exhibits are either included in tiéport or incorporated herein by reference as atdit below:
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Exhibit No. Description

2.1* Asset Purchase Agreement, dated as of January028, By and among CVG Alabama LLC and Bostrom Sgatinc.
(incorporated by reference to the Comy’s annual report on Form -K (File No. 00(-34365), filed on March 15, 2011

3.1 Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatibthe Company (incorporated by reference to the gGamy’s quarterl
report on Form 1-Q (File No. 00-50890), filed on September 17, 20C

3.2 Certificate of Amendment to the Amended and Redt@tertificate of Incorporation of the Company, dass of May 1:
2011 (incorporated by reference to the Companyiseot report on Form 8-K (File No. 0(B4365), filed on May 1.
2011).

3.3 Amended and Restated By-laws of the Company (ireatpd by reference to the Company’s quarterly ntepro Form 10-
Q (File No. 00-50890), filed on September 17, 20C

3.4 Certificate of Designations of Series A Preferrédc® (included as Exhibit A to the Rights Agreemeardorporated b

reference to Exhibit 4.8) (incorporated by refeeetm the Company’s current report on Form 8-K (Rke 00050890)
filed on May 22, 200¢

4.1 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of April 21, 2@lland among the Company, the subsidiary guaraparty therel
and U.S. Bank National Association (incorporatedréference to the Company’s current report on F8#h (File No.
001-34365), filed on April 27, 2011

4.2 Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 6, 2@0Bong the Company, the subsidiary guarantors phereto and tt
purchasers named therein (incorporated herein fieyemece to the Company’s current report on Form @-#¢ No. 000-
50890), filed on July 8, 200&

4.3 Form of senior note (attached as exhibit to ExHblf) (incorporated herein by reference to the Camg{s current repo
on Form i-K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on July 8, 200%
4.4 Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. Rights Agreementiedaas of May 21, 2009, by and between the Compan

Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (incorporateddfgrence to the Company’s current report on Fotkh (&ile No.
00C-50890), filed on May 22, 200¢

4.5 Form of Rights Certificate (included as Exhibit 8the Rights Agreement) (incorporated by refereicthe Companyg
current report on Form-K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on May 22, 200¢

4.6 Form of Summary of Rights to Purchase (includexdsbit C to the Rights Agreement) (incorporatedréference to tt
Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on May 22, 200¢

4.7 Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. Amendment No. 1 igh&s Agreement, dated as of March 9, 2011, byletdieen th

Company and Computershare Trust Company, N.A. (purated by reference to the Compangurrent report on Fol
8-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on March 9, 2011

4.8 Form of Certificate of Common Stock of the Compdimgorporated by reference to the Compamggistration stateme
on Form &1/A (File No. 33-115708), filed August 3, 2004
4.9 Indenture, dated as of April 26, 2011, by and amilwegCompany, the subsidiary guarantors party tbexed U.S. Bar

National Association, as trustee, with respect.87%% senior secured notes due 2019 (incorporataéference to tt
Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on April 28, 2011

4.10 Form of 7.875% Senior Secured Note due 2019 (irmdduals Exhibit 1 to Exhibit 4.1) (incorporated byerence to th
Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on April 28, 2011
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Exhibit No.
4.11

412

4.13

10.1

10.2*

10.3*

10.4*

10.5%

10.6

10.7

10.8

10.9

10.10*

10.11*

10.12

Description

Registration Rights Agreement, dated as of April 2811, by and among the Company, the guarantatyg ffereto an
Credit Suisse Securities (USA) LLC (incorporatedréference to the Company’s current report on Féi(File No. 001-
34365), filed on April 28, 2011

Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security tgmete dated as of November 15, 2013, by and ante@ompan
certain of the Compang’subsidiaries, as borrowers, and Bank of Amemc#,. as agent and lender, (incorporatec
reference to the Compa’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on November 21, 201

Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreematadds of April 26, 2011, by and among the Comgartycertain ¢
its subsidiaries, as borrowers, and Bank of Amefité., as agent and lender (incorporated by refedo the Company
current report on Form-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on April 28, 2011

Intercreditor Agreement, dated as of April 26, 20by and among the Company, certain of its subsétia Bank c
America, N.A., as first lien administrative agentdirst lien collateral agent for the First PrigrSecured Parties, and L
Bank National Association, as trustee and secoiatifyr agent for the Second Priority Secured Parfi@corporated t
reference to the Compa’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on April 28, 2011

Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. Fourth Amended arebstRted Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by resfee to th
Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00--34365), filed on May 13, 2011

Bostrom Holding, Inc. Management Stock Option Hiacorporated by reference to the Companggistration stateme
on Form &1 (File No. 33-115708), filed on May 21, 2004

Form of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Option pursuaotthe Bostrom Holding, Inc. Management Stock QptPlal
(incorporated by reference to the Company’s regfisin statement on Form S-1 (File No. 383708), filed on May 2
2004).

Form of Grant of Nonqualified Stock Option pursutmthe Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. Third Ameddad Restate
Equity Incentive Plan (incorporated by referencéhiy Company’s annual report on Form 10-K (File Big0-50890), filec
on March 15, 2005

Form of Non-Competition Agreement (incorporatedréference to the Company’s registration statemerftarm Si (File
No. 33:-115708), filed on May 21, 2004

Registration Agreement, dated October 5, 2000,rolyaanong Bostrom Holding, Inc. and the investatet on Schedule
attached thereto (incorporated by reference toGbmpany’s registration statement on Form S-1 (Nde 333115708)
filed on May 21, 2004)

Joinder to Registration Agreement, dated as of Ma& 2003, by and among Bostrom Holding, Inc. 32 Partners V
CVS Partners, LP and CVS Executive Investco LLECdiporated by reference to the Compamggistration statement
Form &1 (File No. 33-115708), filed on May 21, 2004

Joinder to the Registration Agreement, dated ddaf 20, 2004, by and among Commercial Vehicle Grdnp. and th
prior stockholders of Trim Systems (incorporatedréference to the Company’s quarterly report omF&0-Q (File No
00C-50890), filed on September 17, 20C

Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. 2013 Bonus Plandiporated by reference to the Company’s currerdrtegn Form 8K
(File No. 00-34365), filed on May 3, 2013

Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. 2014 Bonus Plandiporated by reference to the Companguarterly report on Fol
1C-Q (File No. 00-34365), filed on May 9, 2014

Assignment and Assumption Agreement, dated as ot Jy 2004, between Mayflower Vehicle Systems Pli@
Mayflower Vehicle Systems, Inc. (incorporated bference to the Company'’s registration statemerffam S1 (File No
333-125626), filed on June 8, 200!
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Exhibit No.
10.13*

10.14*

10.15*

10.16*

10.17*

10.18*

10.19*

10.20*

10.21*

10.22*

10.23*

10.24*

10.25*

10.26*

Description

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant toGbexmercial Vehicle Group, Inc. Third Amended andgtaged Equit
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to ameamdmo. 1 to the Company’s registration statemeanfarm S4/A (File
No. 33:-129368), filed on December 1, 200

Form of Cash Performance Award pursuant to the Ceria Vehicle Group, Inc. Fourth Amended and Restd&quity
Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to thenany’s Annual Report on Form 10-K (File No. 084365), filed ol
March 11, 2013)

Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. 2014 Equity InceatRlan (incorporated by reference from the Comganyy stateme!
on Form Schedule 14A (File No. (-34365), filed on April 11, 2014

Form of Restricted Stock Agreement pursuant to @mmmercial Vehicle Group, Inc. 2014 Equity Inceativlal
(incorporated by reference from the Company qulgrtepport on Form 10-Q (File No. 0(B4365), filed on November
2014).

Change in Control & NoiGompetition Agreement dated May 22, 2007 with KeRih. Frailey (incorporated by referel
to the Compar’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on May 25, 2007

First Amendment to Change in Control & N@wompetition Agreement dated November 5, 2008 witlviK R.L. Fraile'
(incorporated by reference to the Comf’s annual report on Form -K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on March 16, 200¢

Separation Agreement dated October 10, 2014, baetéeeCompany and Kevin R.L. Frailey (incorporabgdreference |
the Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00(-34365), filed on October 10, 201-

Employment Agreement, dated as of August 14, 2@E3ween the Company and Richard P. Lavin (incotpdréoy
reference to the compa’s current report on formr-K (File No. 00-34365), filed on August 20, 201!

Offer letter, dated September 27, 2013, to C. Timdirenary (incorporated by reference to the Comfsanurrent repo
on Form -K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on September 30, 201

Change in Control & Nomcompetition Agreement dated January 23, 2014 withTi@othy Trenary (incorporated
reference to the Compéa’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on January 24, 201

Separation Agreement dated July 11, 2014, betwleerCompany and Timo Haatanen (incorporated by eafer to th
Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00(-34365), filed on July 18, 201¢

Amended and Restated Deferred Compensation Plad didvember 5, 2008 (incorporated by referencééodompanye
annual report on Form -K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on March 16, 200¢

Form of indemnification agreement with directorsd aexecutive officers (incorporated by referencette Companyg
annual report on Form -K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on March 14, 200¢

Terms and conditions of employment for executiviicefs (incorporated by reference to the Compamrinual report ¢
Form 1(-K (File No. 00(-50890), filed on March 14, 200¢
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21.1
23.1
311
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32.1

32.2

101.INS

101.SCH
101.CAL
101.LAB
101.PRE
101.DEF

Description

Employment Term Sheet between the Company and fegdffi. Perich dated October 24, 2014 (incorporatedeference 1
the Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on October 28, 201.

Change in Control & NoiGompetition Agreement dated October 24, 2014 wigof@Bey W. Perich (incorporated by refere
to the Compar’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on October 28, 201-

Change in Control & NoriGompetition Agreement dated October 24, 2014 witri€k Miller (incorporated by reference
the Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00-34365), filed on October 28, 201.

Change in Control & NoiGompetition Agreement dated October 24, 2014 widti® Fleming (incorporated by referenc
the Compan’s current report on Forn-K (File No. 00:-34365), filed on October 28, 201.

Computation of ratio of earnings to fixed char

Subsidiaries of Commercial Vehicle Group, |

Consent of KPMG LLP

302 Certification by Richard P. Lavin, Presidend &hief Executive Officel

302 Certification by C. Timothy Trenary, ExecutiViee President and Chief Financial Offic

906 Certification by Richard P. Lavin pursuant ® U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to dneaBexley Act of
2002.

906 Certification by C. Timothy Trenary pursuantt®U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant t8dhszane®xley Act of
2002.

XBRL Instance Documer

XBRL Schema Documet

XBRL Calculation Linkbase Docume
XBRL Label Linkbase Documel
XBRL Presentation Linkbase Documg
XBRL Definition Linkbase Documer

* Management contract or compensatory plan or arraagerequired to be filed as an exhibit to thiswaimeport on Form K.
**  The schedules and exhibits to the Asset PurchaseefAtent have been omitted from this filing pursuantem 601(b)(2) of Regulatis
S—K. The Company will furnish supplementally a cogyaay such omitted schedules or exhibits to the 8p@h reques

All other items included in an Annual Report onfat0-K are omitted because they are not applicabtee answers thereto are none.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 of #mufities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrantchdg caused this report to be sig
on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duth@nzed.

COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC

By: /s/ Richard P. Lavin
Richard P. Lavir
President and Chief Executive Offic

Date: March 16, 2015

Pursuant to the requirements of the SecuritiesoAdt934, this report has been signed below by tleviing persons on behalf of t
Registrant and in the capacities indicated March?085.

Signature Title
/s/ Richard A. Snell Chairman and Director
Richard A. Snel
/s/ Richard P. Lavin President, Chief Executive Officer
Richard P. Lavir (Principal Executive Officer) and Director
/sl Scott C. Arves Director
Scott C. Arves
/s/ Harold Bevis Director
Harold Bevis
/s/ David Bovee Director
David Bovee
/sl Roger Fix Director
Roger Fix
/s/ Robert C. Griffin Director
Robert C. Griffin
/sl Timothy Trenary Chief Financial Officer
C. Timothy Trenar (Principal Financial Officer)
/sl Stacie N. Fleming Chief Accounting Officer
Stacie N. Fleminy (Principal Accounting Officer)
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Exhibit 12.1
COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC
COMPUTATION OF RATIO OF EARNINGS TO FIXED CHARGES
($ in thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012 2011 2010
EARNINGS
Pre-tax income from operatior $12,76: $(14,78f) $23,08: $21,68: $ 4,66
Fixed charge 23,23( 23,72«  23,93¢ 30,21¢ 19,89.
Capitalized interes — — —
Earnings available for fixed charg $35,99: $ 8,93¢ $47,02( $51,90! $24,55¢
FIXED CHARGES:
Interest expense (including debt issuance coststa®d to interest expens $20,71¢ $ 21,087 $20,94¢ $27,01¢ $16,83¢
Capitalized interes — — — — —
Interest component of rent expert 2,51% 2,63 2,99¢ 3,20( 3,05¢
Total fixed charge $23,22¢ $23,72¢ $23,93t $30,21¢ $19,89:
Ratio of earnings to fixed charg 1.5t 0.3¢ 1.9¢ 1.72 1.2
1 For purposes of calculating the ratio ofn@®gs to fixed charges, earnings are defined aenre from continuing operations bet

income taxes and cumulative effect of change iroaeting principles plus fixed charges. Fixed chargelude interest expense (incluc
amortization of deferred financing costs) and atimege of operating rental expense, approximatély2which management believe:
representative of the interest component.
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SUBSIDIARIES OF COMMERCIAL VEHICLE GROUP, INC.

Entity

Jurisdiction

EXHIBIT 21.1

Trim Systems, Inc
Trim Systems Operating Cot
CVG International Holdings, Int

CVG Vehicle Components (Shanghai) Co., |

CVS Holdings Limitec

KAB Seating AB

KAB Seating Pty. Ltd

KAB Seating SA

National Seating Compar
KAB Seating Limitec

CVS Holdings, Inc

Sprague Devices, In

CVG Management Corporatic
CVG Logistics, LLC
Mayflower Vehicle Systems, LL!
T.S. Mexico, S.de R. L.de C!
Monona Corporatiol

Delaware
Delaware
Barbados

China

United Kingdom
Sweder
Australia
Belgium
Delaware
United Kingdom
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Delaware
Mexico
Delaware



18.
19.
20.
21.
22,
23.
24,
25.
26.
27.
28.
29.
30.
31
32.
33.
34.
35.
36.

Monona Wire Corporatio

Monona (Mexico) Holdings LL(

MWC de Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.’

EMD Servicios, S.A. de C.\

Cabarrus Plastics, In

CVG European Holdings, LL!

CVG International GF

C.L.LE.B. Kahovec, spol. s.r.

CVG Global s.a.r.l

CVG Czech I s.r.c

PEKM Kabeltechnik s.r.c

CVG Ukraine LLC

CVG Oregon, LLC

CVG CS LLC

Comercial Vehicle Group Mexico, S. de R.L. de C
CVG AR LLC

CVG Alabama, LLC

CVG Vehicle Components (Beijing) Co., Li
CVG Seating (India) Private Limite

lowa

lllinois

Mexico

Mexico

North Caroline
Delaware
Bermuds
Czech Republi
Luxembourg
Czech Republi
Czech Republi
Ukraine
Delaware
Delaware
Mexico
Delaware
Delaware
China

India



Exhibit 23.1

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accountingirm

The Board of Directors
Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc.:

We consent to the incorporation by reference in rigistration statement (No. 333-124590, 333-1451338B-161219, 333-176020, 333-
198312) on Form S-8 and the registration stater(’éot 333-163276) on Form $-of Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc. of our repautstec
March 16, 2015, with respect to the consolidatddrxz sheets of Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc.faBexember 31, 2014 and 2013, anc
related consolidated statements of income (losshpecehensive income (loss), stockholdersuity, and cash flows for each of the years ii
threeyear period ended December 31, 2014, and the ddiimi@ncial statement schedule, and the effectisemné internal control over financ
reporting as of December 31, 2014, which reporfeapin the December 31, 2014 annual report on Ad+ of Commercial Vehicle Grou
Inc.

/sl KPMG LLP

Columbus, Ohio
March 16, 2015



Exhibit 31.1

SECTION 302 CEO CERTIFICATION
I, Richard P. Lavin, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form -K of Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgrinuntrue statement of a material fact or omitade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€k)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and procedumesawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controéiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@gmifrole in the registrast’
internal control over financial reportin

March 16, 2015

/s/ Richard P. Lavin
Richard P. Lavin

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 31.2

SECTION 302 CFO CERTIFICATION
I, C. Timothy Trenary, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this Form -K of Commercial Vehicle Group, Inc

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not corgrinuntrue statement of a material fact or omitade a material fact necessar
make the statements made, in light of the circuntets under which such statements were made, nigadisg with respect to the per
covered by this repor

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statementd,ather financial information included in this repdairly present in all materi
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amgdtfe periods presented in this rep

4.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | are responsifile establishing and maintaining disclosure cdstand procedures {
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15€k)) and internal control over financial repagtifas defined in Exchange Act Rt
13e&15(f) and 15-15(f)) for the registrant and we hay

(&) Designed such disclosure controls and procedumesawsed such disclosure controls and procedurdse tdesigned under ¢
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidatibsidiaries, is made known tc
by others within those entities, particularly dgrihe period in which this report is being prepa

(b) Designed such internal control over financial réipgr or caused such internal control over finaheporting to be designed uni
our supervision, to provide reasonable assurangardang the reliability of financial reporting aride preparation of financ
statements for external purposes in accordancegeitierally accepted accounting princip

(c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registeadtsclosure controls and procedures and presémtinis report our conclusions ab
the effectiveness of the disclosure controls amutgutures, as of the end of the period covered lsy réport based on sL
evaluation; an

(d) Disclosed in this report any change in thegegnt’s internal control over financial reportititat occurred during the registrant’
most recent fiscal quarter (the registrarfourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annupbrg that has materially affected, o
reasonably likely to materially affect, the regast’s internal control over financial reporting; &

5.  The registrans other certifying officer(s) and | have disclosbdsed on our most recent evaluation of internatrob over financie
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacoimmittee of the registrast’board of directors (or persons performing theiveden!
functions):

(&) All significant deficiencies and material weaknessethe design or operation of internal controéiofinancial reporting which a
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regig’s ability to record, process, summarize and refpmahcial information; an

(b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invedvmanagement or other employees who have a s@gmifrole in the registrast’
internal controover financial reporting

March 16, 2015

/s/ C. Timothy Trenary

C. Timothy Trenary

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




Exhibit 32.1

Certification by the Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, Richard P. Lavin, President and CEO of Comménééhicle Group, Inc. (the “Company”), certify, purant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form X0for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 doimg the financial statements of the Company
“Periodic Report”),which this statement accompanies, fully compliethvthe requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) & 8ecuritie
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d));

(2) the information contained in the Periodic Repoitifgresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operation:
the Company

Dated: March 16, 2015

/s/ Richard P. Lavil
Richard P. Lavir

Chief Executive Officer
(Principal Executive Officer




Exhibit 32.2

Certification by the Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted
Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Acf 2002

I, C. Timothy Trenary, Chief Financial Officer ofo@mercial Vehicle Group, Inc. (the “Company@dertify, pursuant to 18 U.S.
Section 1350, that:

(1) the Annual Report on Form X0for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2014 doimg the financial statements of the Company
“Periodic Report”),which this statement accompanies, fully compliethvihe requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) & Securitie
Exchange Act of 1934 (15 U.S.C. 78m or 780(d));

(2) the information contained in the Periodic Repoitifgresents, in all material respects, the finahcondition and results of operation:
the Company

Dated: March 16, 2015

/s/ C. Timothy Trenar

C. Timothy Trenan

Chief Financial Officer
(Principal Financial Officer




